
MEETING AGENDA
Please silence all electronic devices as a courtesy to those in attendance.  Thank you.

a. CALL TO ORDER
b. INVOCATION
c. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
d. ROLL CALL
e. AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS, AND/OR DELETIONS

STUDY SESSION

SS-1 Potential Zoning Ordinance Changes to Encourage Housing Development (Brandt)  

PUBLIC COMMENT
Public comment will be in accordance with the attached policy. This time is reserved for members of the audience to address 
the City Council on items of interest that are not on the Agenda and are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Council.  It is 
recommended that speakers limit their comments to three (3) minutes each and it is requested that no comments be made during 
this period on items on the Agenda. The Council is prohibited by law from taking any action on matters discussed that are not on the 
Agenda.  Prior to addressing the Council, any handouts for Council will be provided to the City Clerk for distribution to the Council
and appropriate staff. The public will have an opportunity to comment on items on the agenda once the item has been called and the 
Mayor opens the item to the public.

1 – CEREMONIAL / PRESENTATION 

1-1 Westlands Water District Scholarship Recipients (Matthews)
1-2 Lemoore Hardware Recognition (Matthews)

2 – DEPARTMENT AND CITY MANAGER REPORTS 

2-1 Department & City Manager Reports

3 – CONSENT CALENDAR 
Items considered routine in nature are placed on the Consent Calendar.  They will all be considered and voted upon in one vote as 

one item unless a Council member or member of the public requests individual consideration.

3-1 Approval – Minutes – Regular Meeting – May 2, 2023 
3-2 Approval – Budget Amendment – CIP 5013 – Bush Street Overlay
3-3 Approval – Administrative Policy 2023-02 – Donation and Gift Policy
3-4 Approval – Resolution 2023-13 – To Review and Renew the Declaration of a Local 

Emergency and the Related Declarations and Orders Therein
3-5 Approval – Local Road Safety Plan (LRSP)
3-6 Approval – Acceptance of SB 179 - $2 Million Dollar Grant Funding from Senator 

Hurtado’s Office

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

LEMOORE CITY COUNCIL
COUNCIL CHAMBER 

429 C STREET 
May 16, 2023 

5:30 P.M.

1



3-7 Approval – Resolution 2023-14 – Adopting a List of Projects for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
Funded by SB 1: The Road and Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 

3-8 Approval – Notice of Completion – Tract No. 921 – Brisbane East – Woodside 06N, LP A 
California Limited Partnership 

 
4 – PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Report, discussion and/or other Council action will be taken. 
 
4-1 Public Hearing – Resolution 2023-15 – Approving General Plan Amendment No. 2023-

01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01 and 
First Reading of Ordinance 2023-02, Approving Zoning Map Amendment No. 2023-01 
(Brandt) 

 
5 – NEW BUSINESS 

Report, discussion and/or other Council action will be taken. 
 
No New Business. 
 

6 – BRIEF CITY COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS  
 
6-1 City Council Reports / Requests 
 

7 – CLOSED SESSION 
 
No Closed Session. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
Upcoming Council Meetings 
 

 City Council Regular Meeting, Tuesday, June 6, 2023 
 City Council Regular Meeting, Tuesday, June 20, 2023 

 
 

Agendas for all City Council meetings are posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at the Council Chamber, 429 C Street 
and the Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive. Written communications from the public for the agenda must be 
received by the City Clerk’s Office no less than seven (7) days prior to the meeting date.  The City of Lemoore complies with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA of 1990). The Council Chamber is accessible to the physically disabled. Should you need 
special assistance, please call (559) 924-6744, at least 4 business days prior to the meeting. 
 

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION 
 

I, Marisa Avalos, City Clerk for the City of Lemoore, declare under penalty of perjury that I posted the 
above Regular City Council Agenda for the meeting of May 16, 2023 at Council Chamber, 429 C Street 
and Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive, Lemoore, CA on May 12, 2023. 
 
 
 

          //s//     
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk 

2



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
MAY 16, 2023 @ 5:30 p.m.

The City Council will hold its public meetings in person, with a virtual option for public 
participation based on availability. The City of Lemoore utilizes Zoom teleconferencing 
technology for virtual public participation; however, the City makes no representation or warranty 
of any kind, regarding the adequacy, reliability, or availability of the use of this platform in this 
manner. Participation by members of the public through this means is at their own risk.  (Zoom 
teleconferencing/attendance may not be available at all meetings.)  

The meeting may be viewed through the following Zoom Meeting: 
Please click the link below to join the webinar:
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/85096210379?pwd=SEdRN0lvajBZd1lKbFZtU0FZL1VFUT09
Meeting ID: 850 9621 0379
Passcode: 387634
Phone: +1 669 900 6833

If you wish to make a general public comment or public comment on a particular item on the 
agenda, participants may do so via Zoom during the meeting or by submitting public 
comments by e-mail to: cityclerk@lemoore.com.  In the subject line of the e-mail, please state 
your name and the item you are commenting on.  If you wish to submit a public comment on more 
than one agenda item, please send a separate e-email for each item you are commenting on.  Please 
be aware that written public comments, including your name, may become public information. 
Additional requirements for submitting public comments by e-mail are provided below.  

General Public Comments & Comments on City Council Business Items
For general public comments and comments regarding specific City Council Business Items, 
public comments can be made via Zoom during the meeting or all public comments must be 
received by e-mail no later than 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments received by this time 
will be read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such 
comments may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion 
of your comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions. 
If a general public comment or comment on a business item is received after 5:00 p.m., efforts will 
be made to read your comment into the record.  However, staff cannot guarantee that written 
comments received after 5:00 p.m. will be read.  All written comments that are not read into the 
record will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comments are received prior 
to the end of the City Council meeting. 

Public Hearings 
For public comment on a public hearing, all public comments must be received by the close of the 
public hearing period.  All comments received by the close of the public hearing period will be 
read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such comments 
may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion of your 
comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  If a 
comment on a public hearing item is received after the close of the public hearing, such comment 
will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comment is received prior to the end 
of the meeting.
*PLEASE BE AWARE THAT ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS RECEIVED THAT DO NOT SPECIFY A PARTICULAR
AGENDA ITEM WILL BE READ ALOUD DURING THE GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT PORTION OF THE AGENDA.*

3



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report

    Item No: SS-1
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From Steve Brandt, City Planner  
Date: May 2, 2023    Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023
Subject: Potential Zoning Ordinance Changes to Encourage Housing 

Development

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
There is no proposed motion at this time, although the Council may provide direction to 
Staff to modify, delete, or add to the proposed zoning ordinance text changes.

Subject/Discussion:
The City received a grant from the California Department of Housing and Community 
Development (HCD) to update or modify City ordinances and procedures in a way that 
would encourage more housing development in Lemoore. Staff intends to bring these 
updates to the Planning Commission and City Council in the coming months, first as 
review sessions, and then as a public hearing to make a recommendation to the City 
Council. Previous discussions were held at the City Council meeting on February 7, 2023,
and the Planning Commission meetings on March 10, 2023, and April 24, 2023.

Proposed Changes:
The following list describes our main scope of changes Staff is planning to recommend. 
At this time, Staff requests a discussion to see if the Planning Commission has any 
questions, comments, or suggestions for Staff. If there are other topics or items in the 
Zoning Ordinance not listed here that you would like to open for discussion, there is still 
time to add them into these amendments.

4



Residential development standards – Using comments heard at the Council study 
session about lot size that was held on February 7, Staff will propose a smaller by-right 
minimum lot size than the current 7,000 sq.ft. This should streamline the approval process 
because subdivision proposals that meet the new minimum lot size will not be required to 
obtain approval of a Planned Unit Development (PUD). Other cities in the Valley have 
changed their minimum lots sizes to 4,000 4500, 5000, or 6,000 sq.ft.  Staff will also 
review the current building setbacks for residential uses and propose changes if we 
believe them appropriate and if it would encourage more housing growth. 

Roughly half of the city is zoned Low Density Residential, which is where most single-
family residential homes are located. One of the most important design standards for this 
zone is the minimum lot size. The standard minimum lot size is the smallest size, 
measured by square feet, into which land can be subdivided for sale by a developer, with 
each lot usually having one residence. Since 2012, the standard minimum lot size has 
been 7,000 square feet. However, the Zoning Ordinance allows developers to apply for a 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) when they submit a subdivision map, with which they 
can request approval for lots smaller than 7,000 square feet. In the last 10 years, only 
one subdivision map with a minimum lot size of 7,000-square-foot lots has been 
submitted. All others were submitted with smaller lots, so every subdivider has been 
required to also obtain a PUD. Using the PUD, a developer can propose their own 
minimum lot size for approval by the Planning Commission and City Council. Most have 
chosen 5,000 square feet or 6,000 square feet. Other cities in the region have minimum 
lot sizes below 7,000 square feet. The following table summarizes their Zoning 
Ordinances regarding minimum single-family lot size. 

Minimum Lot Sizes in Other Cities 

City 
Minimum Lot 
Size Allowed 

by Right 
Notes 

Visalia 5,000 Lots can be approved as small as 3,600 sf. if 12 identified standards are 
met. Otherwise, a PUD can be requested. 

Hanford 5,000 Lots can be approved as small as 3,600 sf. if 11 identified standards are 
met. Otherwise, a PUD can be requested. 

Tulare* 5,000 
There is a special zone that can be requested that allows lots as small as 
3,200 sf. if 9 identified standards are met. Otherwise, a PUD can be 
requested. There are standard requirements for smaller lots. 

Fresno 4,000 
Lots can be approved as small at 2,500 sf. if at least 5 “enhanced 
streetscape” amenities from a specific list of 15 amenities are incorporated 
into the design of the project. 

Clovis 4,500 A PUD can be requested for lot sizes smaller than 4,500 sf. 

Selma* 7,000 A conditional use permit can be obtained for lots less than 7,000 sf., but 
only for up to 30% of the lots in the subdivision. 

*Tulare and Selma are currently undergoing a comprehensive Zoning Ordinance update. 

 

The proposed actual ordinance text changes are shown in Table 9-5A-4A on Text 
Amendment Page 15. The proposed changes show a minimum single-family lot size of 
5,000 square feet. Developers that desire to have lots less than 5,000 square feet in size 

5



would be required to obtain a PUD. Lot size maximums would be removed as a 
requirement. The minimum front yard setback would be reduced to 15 feetand no longer 
require a 2-foot stagger in the front. Side yards would be a minimum of 5 feet and no 
longer require an additional 5 feet for the second story. There would be no change to the 
rear yard setback. 

Site Plan and Architectural Review – Staff will be working on text changes that would 
make Site Plan Review a ministerial process that is always approved by the City staff. 
This would mean that projects that only need Site Plan Review approval would no longer 
go to the Planning Commission for review. Staff will also be proposing a new preliminary 
site plan process that is consistent with SB330, a 2019 law that limits what Cities can ask 
of developers that want to utilize a preliminary stie plan review process. The process 
would also be completely managed by Staff. 

The proposed actual ordinance text changes would be applied to Section 9-2B-12 as well 
as Table 9-2A-7-1. See Text Amendment Pages 3 and 4 for the text changes and Text 
Amendment Pages 1 and 2 for the table changes. Since there would no longer be two 
types of site plan review (minor and major) Section 9-2B-15 would be removed completely 
(see Text Amendment Pages 5 and 6.) 

Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Ordinance – Staff is updating the ADU Ordinance to 
ensure compliance with State law, which was changed in 2019 and again in 2020. The 
goal will be to make the process more understandable so as to encourage more ADUs. 
The changes are on Text Amendment Pages 10 through 14 and affect Section 9-4D-12. 
As per State law, a site could have both an accessory dwelling unit and a junior accessory 
dwelling unit (JADU). The new code is consistent with the standards allowed to be 
implemented by State law. 

Cottage home ordinance – Staff is looking at adding a cottage home ordinance to the 
Zoning Ordinance. In the new ordinance text, a cottage would be considered a special 
type of accessory dwelling unit where the City provides the homeowner with preapproved 
building plans so that the homeowner does not have the expense of having an architect 
draw up building plans. It would have to meet both the ADU and the cottage home 
standards. The specific text changes can be found on Text Amendment Page 13. 

Tiny house ordinance – Staff is looking at adding a tiny house ordinance to the Zoning 
Ordinance. In the new ordinance text, a tiny house would be considered a special type of 
accessory dwelling unit. It would have to meet both the ADU and the tiny house standards. 
The specific text changes can be found on Text Amendment Pages 13 and 14. 

SB9 Compliance – SB9 was a new 2021 State law that allows existing property owners 
(not developers) to add a second main home on their lot or to split their lot to 
accommodate a second home even if the lot split does not meet the minimum zoning 
requirements. At the time of adoption, this law was described in the press as “the end of 
single-family zoning in California.”  While that may not be exactly true, the law does 
contain certain overrides of local zoning that Cities must allow. No one in Lemoore has 
tried to take advantage of this law yet.  

6



This new law is being acknowledged with new text in the Allowed Uses Table 9-4B-2, 
which is found on Text Amendment Page 8.  It is listed as “Dwelling, additional, meeting 
provisions of Government Code Section 66852.21.” 

Other Definition Changes – On Text Amendment Page 7, there are revised definitions 
for large and small family day care. This is to bring the City’s definition more in line with 
the State’s definition. There is also a new definition for Short-term Rental Unit, more 
commonly known as an Airbnb or Vrbo rental. This use is being added to the zoning 
ordinance to distinguish it from a bed and breakfast or a hotel.  

Subdivision Ordinance Update – the Subdivision Ordinance was last updated in  2012. 
Antonio Westerlund, the City surveyor, and his surveyor team are reviewing the 
Ordinance with the intent on recommending updates to the text of the Ordinance. The 
Subdivision Ordinance describes the specific requirements for subdivision and parcel 
maps. The review team will be looking for ways to streamline the preparation and review 
process. This is the same team of surveyors that have been reviewing maps that have 
been submitted in the last few years and are using that understanding to recommend 
modifications to make processing of maps more streamlined for the land developer’s 
surveyor and the City’s reviewing surveyor. The specific text changes will be brought to 
the Council at a future meeting. 

Other topics not requiring Council approval: 
 

The following topics are part of the grant funded work to encourage more housing. They 
are related to City staff procedures and do not require Council approval. 

Subdivision Improvement Agreement Update – Jeff Cowart, the City Engineer, and 
his team are reviewing the standard wording of Lemoore’s Subdivision Improvement 
Agreement. The intent is to locate ways to improve the agreement as a way of 
streamlining or shortening the approval process. 

Residential plot plans – Staff has prepared an example standard plot plan that can be 
given to developers so that the first submittal of their plot plans are more likely to meet 
the City’s standards for plot plans, which would shorten the time it takes to obtain a 
building permit for a new home. 

Landscape Plan review – Staff is preparing an example landscape plan that can be 
given to developers so that the first submittal of their landscape plans is more likely to 
meet the MWELO and City standards. 

 
Financial Consideration(s): 
None. 
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
No final decisions are being made at this time. The Council may recommend to Staff to 
modify, delete, or add to the proposed zoning ordinance text changes. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 

7



The Planning Commission discussed potential zoning ordinance text changes at their 
March 10, 2023, meeting and again at their April 24, 2023, special meeting. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends that the Council discuss the proposed zoning text changes and then 
provide any direction to Staff regarding modifications to the proposal, additional changes, 
or removal of certain changes from the proposal. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 5/12/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 5/12/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 5/11/2023 
 Other     Finance  
 List:  Proposed Text Changes for Discussion 

8



May 15 City Council Version 
 

PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS 
 

Note: This document is only for discussion at this time.  Final decisions 
will be made at a future Council meeting after holding a public hearing. 

 
New text is underlined.  Text to be removed is in strikeout format. 

 
 

TABLE 9-2A-7-1 
PLANNING PERMIT AND ENTITLEMENTS AND REVIEW AND APPEAL AUTHORITY1 

Planning Permit Or 
Entitlement 

Notice/Hearing 
Requirement 

Authority 
Planning 
Director 

Planning 
Commission 

City 
Council 

Administrative permits: 
 

      
Zoning clearance (e.g., 
building permit, signs, 
business license) 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Temporary use permit None Final Appeal- Appeal 
Tree permit for trees on 
private property 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Reasonable 
accommodation 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Similar use 
determination 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Official zoning 
interpretation 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Minor home occupation 
permit 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Highway oriented sign 
permit 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Administrative use 
permit 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Minor deviation None Final Appeal- Appeal 

9



Minor site plan and 
architectural review 

None Final - Appeal 

Sign program None Final Appeal- Appeal 
Site plan and 
architectural review 

None Final Appeal Appeal 

Quasi-judicial permits 
and entitlements: 

        

Conditional use permit Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 
Major home occupation 
permit 

Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 

Major site plan and 
architectural review 

Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 

Planned unit 
development 

Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 

Variance Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 
Public convenience or 
necessity 

Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 

Legislative approvals:         
Specific plan Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 
Development agreement Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 
Planned Unit 
Development 

Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 

Zoning amendment Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 
Prezoning Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 
General plan amendment Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final      

 

  

10



9-2B-12: MINOR SITE PLAN AND ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW: 

   A.   Purpose: The purpose of minor site plan and architectural review is for the review of the 
design and layout of new development in the City to ensure that it is consistent with the 
regulations of this title, other relevant titles in the Lemoore Municipal Code, and all relevant City 
policies, requirements, and development standards that would apply to the project prior to the 
issuance of subsequent permits, such as discretionary actions required by the City Zoning 
Ordinance or City Subdivision Ordinance, improvement plans, and building permits. It is the 
intent that site plan and architectural review be a ministerial action limited to review of the 
project development project for conformance with City of Lemoore ordinances, policies, 
requirements, and development standards. (Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014) 

   B.   Applicability: Minor siteSite plan and architectural review shall be required prior to the 
issuance of any ministerial building permits or site improvement plans and prior to or in 
conjunction withany discretionary action of corresponding development applications (e.g., 
conditional use permit, variance). Site plan and architectural review may serve as the 
preliminary application for housing development projects seeking vesting rights pursuant to SB 
330, the Housing Crisis Act of 2019. 

      1.   Review Required: Minor siteSite plan and architectural review is required for all of the 
following activities: 

         a.   New nonresidential or mixed-use developments of less than twenty thousand (20,000) 
gross square feet; 

         b.   Additions Nonresidential building additions greater than 1,000 square feet; of less than 
twenty thousand (20,000) square feet to existing commercial, office, and industrial buildings; 

         c.   Conceptual plan for a mixed-use center as required by chapter 7, "Mixed Use 
Development Standards", of this title. 

         d.   New multi-family residential developments of more than two units (e.g., apartments, 
condominiums, townhomes) of less than thirty (30) units on a single site. (Ord. 2018-03, 5-15-
2018) 

         e.   The design and layout of new residential subdivisions as part of the tentative 
subdivision map process as provided in title 8, chapter 7, "Land Division", of the Municipal 
Code; 

         f.   Demolition or exterior alterations and additions to nonresidential buildings that are 
more than seventy five (75) years old. 

      2.   Exemptions: The following activities are specifically exempt from minor site plan and 
architectural review: 

         a.   Single-family residential custom homes and duplexes on an existing lot; 

         b.   Additions to or the exterior remodels of single-family residential homes within normal 
setbacks; 

         c.   Accessory structures consistent with the provisions of section 9-4D-18, "Residential 
Accessory Structures", of this title; 

11



         d.   Changes to the exterior facade of existing buildings; 

         e.   Painting existing buildings in the DMX zoning districts with historic color palettes as 
described in subsection 9-6-4C, "Colors And Painting", of this title; 

         f.   Repairs and maintenance to the site or structure that do not add to, enlarge, or expand 
the area occupied by the land use, or the floor area of the structure and that employ the same 
materials and design as the original construction; 

         g.   Interior alterations that do not increase the gross floor area within the structure, or 
change/expand the permitted use of the structure (including solar collectors); and 

         h.   Construction, alteration, or maintenance by a public utility or public agency of 
underground or overhead utilities intended to service existing or nearby approved 
developments. 

i. Nonresidential building additions of 1,000 square feet of gross floor area or less; 

   C.   Approval Authority: The designated approval authority for minor site plan and architectural 
design review shall be the Planning Community Development Director. 

   D.   Process: The applicant shall provide a completed application on a form preparedovided 
by the City, a site plan and, if new non-residential buildings or multi-family dwellings are 
proposed, an elevation plan. No public hearing or notice is required for a minor site plan and 
architectural review. Site plan and architectural review is a ministerial process conducted by City 
staff to determine compliance with existing City of Lemoore ordinances, policies, requirements, 
and development standards and is therefore exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per State CEQA Guidelines Section 15268.  

   E.   Approval Findings: A minor site plan and architectural review permit, or any modification 
thereto, shall be granted only when the designated approving authority makes a findingfinds that 
the proposed project is consistent with the objectives of the general plan and complies with 
applicable zoning regulations, specific plan provisions, and policies and improvement standards 
adopted by the City, or that a general plan amendment or zoning amendment is going to be 
subsequently applied for by the developer. If the site plan submitted requires major changes 
before this finding can be made, the developer may be required to make changes and submit 
the site plan again. 

   F.   Post approval Implementation: A minor site plan and architectural design review permit is 
ministerial in nature. As such, the Planning Director may not impose discretionary conditions on 
the issuance of the permit. If the proposed development project requires approval of a 
discretionary action after completion of the site and architectural design review process, 
conditions of approval can be placed on the discretionary approval (Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014) 

   G.   Appeals. If the applicant disagrees with the interpretation or application of a City 
ordinance, policy, requirement, or development standard, they may appeal the interpretation per 
procedures in Section 9-2A-7 and 9-2A-8. 

   H.   Expiration. A site plan and architectural design review permit shall expire one (1) year 
after issuance unless an application for a related discretionary approval or a building permit is 
submitted. Upon written request by the applicant prior to expiration, the Community 
Development Director may extend the expiration  for an additional six (6) months. 

12



9-2B-15: MAJOR SITE PLAN AND ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW: 

   A.   Purpose: The purpose of major site plan and architectural review is for the review of the 
design and layout of new development in the City to ensure that it is consistent with the 
regulations of this title and will not result in a detriment to the City or the environment. The City 
desires to maintain and enhance Lemoore's sense of place; design commercial and mixed use 
centers to be of pedestrian scale so people can feel comfortable and congregate in these areas; 
promote visually appealing architecture and high quality developments that promote a small 
town atmosphere; and protect and accentuate Lemoore's environmental assets, its surrounding 
natural landscape, agricultural farmland, open canals, and wetlands. (Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014) 

   B.   Applicability: Major site plan and architectural review shall be required prior to the 
issuance of any ministerial building permits or site improvement plans and prior to or in 
conjunction with discretionary action of corresponding development applications (e.g., 
conditional use permit, variance). 

      1.   Review Required: A major site plan and architectural review is required for the following 
items: 

         a.   New nonresidential or mixed-use developments of twenty thousand (20,000) gross 
square feet or more; 

         b.   Additions of twenty thousand (20,000) square feet or more to existing commercial, 
office, and industrial buildings; 

         c.   New multi-family residential developments (e.g., apartments, condominiums, 
townhomes) except where there are less than thirty (30) units on a single site; 

         d.   The design and layout of new residential subdivisions as part of the tentative 
subdivision map process as provided in title 8, chapter 7, "Land Division", of the Municipal 
Code; 

         e.   Demolition or exterior alterations and additions to nonresidential buildings that are 
more than seventy five (75) years old. (Ord. 2018-03, 5-15-2018) 

      2.   Exemptions: Those activities exempt from minor site plan and architectural design 
review as provided in subsection 9-2B-12 B2 of this article shall also be exempt from major site 
plan and architectural design review. 

   C.   Approval Authority: The designated approval authority for major site plan and architectural 
design review shall be the Planning Commission. 

   D.   Public Hearing And Notice: Public hearing and notice are required for a major site plan 
and architectural review pursuant to section 9-2A-6, "Public Notice, Hearings, And Decisions", 
of this chapter. 

   E.   Approval Findings: A major site plan and architectural review permit, or any modification 
thereto, shall be granted only when the designated approving authority makes all of the 
following findings: 

      1.   The proposed project is consistent with the objectives of the general plan and complies 
with applicable zoning regulations, specific plan provisions, and improvement standards 
adopted by the City; 

      2.   The proposed architecture, site design, and landscape are suitable for the purposes of 
the building and the site and will enhance the character of the neighborhood and community; 

13



      3.   The architecture, character, and scale of the building and the site are compatible with 
the character of buildings on adjoining and nearby properties; 

      4.   The proposed project will not create conflicts with vehicular, bicycle, or pedestrian 
transportation modes of circulation; and 

      5.   In the case of proposed alterations, additions, or demolitions to nonresidential buildings 
that are more than seventy five (75) years old: 

         a.   Alterations And Additions: The alteration or addition is compatible with the downtown 
revitalization plan. 

         b.   Demolitions: The applicant has demonstrated that the existing use cannot generate a 
reasonable rate of return; the existing building constitutes a hazard to public safety and is 
economically infeasible to rehabilitate, the design quality of the replacement building will be 
superior to the existing building and will be compatible with adjacent buildings and the character 
of downtown Lemoore, or the proposed demolition or removal is necessary to allow a project 
that will have public benefits outweighing the public benefits of retaining the existing building. 

   F.   Conditions Of Approval: The designated approving authority may impose conditions 
and/or require guarantees in order to ensure compliance with this title and to prevent adverse or 
detrimental impact to the surrounding neighborhood. (Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014) 

  

14



9-4A-5: DESCRIPTION OF LAND USES: 

CHILD DAYCARE FACILITY: Facility that provides nonmedical care and supervision of minor 
children for periods of less than twenty four (24) hours for an individual child. These facilities 
include the following, all of which are required to be licensed by the State: 

      1.   Child Daycare Center: Commercial or nonprofit child daycare facility operated outside of 
a home, typically able to accommodate fifteen (15) or more children, including infant centers, 
preschools, sick child centers, daycare centers, and school age daycare facilities. These may 
be operated in conjunction with a school or church facility, apartment complex, or as an 
independent land use. Also includes employer sponsored childcare centers. 

      2.   Family Daycare Home, Large: A single-family residencehome that regularly provides 
daycare care, protection, and supervision while the parents or guardians are away for seven (7) 
to fourteen (14) children, inclusive, including children under the age of ten (10) years who reside 
at the home. This description is consistent with section 1596.78 of the Health and Safety Code. 

      3.   Family Daycare Home, Small: A single-family residencehome that regularly provides 
daycare care, protection, and supervision while the parents or guardians are away for six (6) 
eight (8) or fewer children, including children under the age of ten (10) years who reside at the 
home, or up to eight (8) children if the conditions of section 1597.44 of the Health and Safety 
Code are met. Per State law, these small family daycare uses may not be regulated differently 
than single-family dwellings. This description is consistent with section 1596.78 of the Health 
and Safety Code. 

DWELLING, ACCESSORY UNIT: An attached or detached dwelling unit which provides 
complete independent living facilities for one or more persons, with permanent provisions for 
living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation sited on the same parcel as the primary dwelling 
unit. This definition includes granny flats. 

DWELLING, ACCESSORY UNIT (ADU): An attached or a detached residential dwelling unit 
that provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons with permanent 
provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation. An accessory dwelling unit may 
be an efficiency unit, as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 17958.1, and a 
manufactured home, as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 18007. 

DWELLING, JUNIOR ACCESSORY UNIT (JADU): A dwelling unit that is no more than five 
hundred (500) square feet in size and contained entirely within a single-family residence that 
includes a separate entrance from the main entrance to the single-family residence, separate 
sanitation facilities, and an efficiency kitchen consisting of a cooking facility with appliances, a 
food preparation counter, and storage cabinets of reasonable size in relation to the size of the 
unit. 

SHORT-TERM RENTAL UNIT: Residential structure where all or a portion of the structure is 
rented for overnight lodging for a period of less than 30 days.  A short-term rental unit or site 
that provides a meal as part of its service is considered a bed and breakfast inn and is included 
under the definition of “bed and breakfast inn”.  

15



 

TABLE 9-4B-2 
ALLOWED USES AND REQUIRED ENTITLEMENTS FOR BASE ZONING DISTRICTS 

  

P = Permitted by right   N = Not permitted 
A = Administrative use permit required   C = Conditional use permit required 

  

Land Use/Zoning District Residential Zoning Districts Special Purpose Zoning 
Districts 

Mixed Use Zoning Districts Office, Commercial, And Industrial 
Zoning Districts 

AR RVLD RLD RN RLMD RMD RHD W AG PR CF DMX-
1 

DMX-
2 

DMX-
3 

MU NC RC PO ML MH 

Residential uses: 

Caretaker housing C P P P P P P C N C C P P P P C C P P P 

Child daycare facility - family daycare home, 
large 1 

N A A A A A A N N N N A A A A N N N N N 

Child daycare facility - family daycare home, 
small 

N P P P P P P N N N N P P P P N N N N N 

Dwelling, multi-family N N N N P P P N N N N P 2 P P P P 27 N C N N 

Dwelling, second unitaccessory unit 3 A A A A A A A N N N N N A A N N N N N N 

Dwelling, single-family P P P P P P N N N N N N A P N N N N N N 

Dwelling, two-family N N A P P P N N N N N N P P N N N N N N 

Dwelling, additional, meeting provisions of 
Government Code Section 66852.21 

P P P P P N N N N N N N N P N N N N N N 

Emergency shelter N N N N N N N N N N P N N N N N N N C N 

Employee housing, large P C N N N N N N P N N N N N N N N N N N 

Employee housing, small P P P P P P N N P N N N P P N N N N N N 

Gated residential community C C C C C C C N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Group residential N N N N N P P N N N C P P P P N N N N N 

Guesthouse P P P P P P N N N N N N P P N N N N N N 

Live-work facility 5 N N N N N N A N N N N A A A A A N N N N 

16



Marijuana personal cultivation - personal 
recreational and medicinal use 28 

P 28 P 28 P 28 P 28 P 28 P 28 P 28 N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Mobilehome park 6 N C C C C A A N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Recreational vehicle park 24 N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N C N C N 

Residential care facility 25 P P P P P P P N N N N N A P C C N N N N 

Residential care home N P P P P P P N N N N C P P P N N N N N 

Single room occupancy (SRO) facility N N N N N N P N N N N C C C N N N N N N 

Supportive housing P P P P P P P N N N N P P P P N N N N N 

Transitional housing P P P P P P P N N N N P P P P N N N N N 

Retail, service, and office uses:                     

Short-term rental unit P P P P P P P N N N N N P P N N N N N N 

Notes: 
   1

.   See additional regulations for large family daycare homes in section 9-4D-7 of this chapter. 

   2.   Only permitted on the first floor when located along an alley or side street; otherwise must be on an upper floor. 

   3.   See additional regulations for second accessory dwelling units in section 9-4D-12 of this chapter. 

   4.   Reserved. 

   5.   See additional regulations for live-work facilities in section 9-4D-8 of this chapter. 

   6.   See additional regulations for mobilehome parks in section 9-4D-10 of this chapter. 

   7.   Minimum lot size shall be 20,000 square feet. 

   8.   All activities and storage shall be located within an enclosed structure(s). 

   9.   See additional regulations for community gardens in section 9-4D-3 of this chapter. 

   10.   See special permit requirements in title 3, chapter 4, article C of the Municipal Code. 

   11.   Maximum tenant space shall be 10,000 square feet. 

   12.   See additional regulations for wireless telecommunication facilities in section 9-4D-15 of this chapter. 

   13.   Facilities less than 75 feet tall are permitted by right, except that major site plan and architectural review is still required. Otherwise, a 
conditional use permit is required in addition to major site plan and architectural review. 

   14.   See additional regulations for alcoholic beverage sales in section 9-4D-2 of this chapter. 

   15.   Use is permitted by right when located on the ground floor. Otherwise, a conditional use permit is required. 

   16.   See additional regulations for drive-in and drive-through facilities in section 9-4D-4 of this chapter. 

   17.   See additional regulations for massage therapy in section 9-4D-9 of this chapter. Additionally, see additional permit requirements in title 4, 
chapter 7 of the Municipal Code. 

   18.   Maximum tenant space shall be 30,000 square feet; however, store size may be larger upon approval of an administrative use permit. 

   19.   See additional regulations for semipermanent mobile food vendors in section 9-4D-13 of this chapter. 

   20.   See additional regulations for sexually oriented businesses in section 9-4D-14 of this chapter. 

   21.   See additional regulations for thrift stores in section 9-4D-16 of this chapter. 

   22.   See additional regulations for fueling stations in section 9-4D-6 of this chapter. 

   23.   Use is permitted by right when located more than 500 feet from a residential use or district. 

   24.   See additional regulations for recreational vehicle parks in section 9-4D-11 of this chapter. 

   25.   This "sensitive receptor" use shall not be located within: 

      a.   500 feet of a freeway, urban roads carrying 100,000 vehicles per day, or rural roads carrying 50,000 vehicles per day. 

      b.   1,000 feet of a distribution center (that accommodates more than 100 trucks a day, more than 40 trucks with operating transport 
refrigeration units [TRUs] a day, or where TRU operation exceeds 300 hours per week). 

      c.   300 feet of any dry cleaning operation that uses toxic chemicals. For operations with 2 or more machines, a minimum 500 feet shall be 
provided. For operations with 3 or more machines, a larger distance may be required based upon consultation with the Kings County Air District. 

      d.   300 feet of a "large gas station", defined as a facility with a throughput of 3.6 million gallons or more per year. 

   26.   If developed incidental to an existing charitable operation, this use is allowed subject to approval of an administrative use permit. 

   27.   Permitted on second floors above retail and neighborhood serving office when ancillary in size and does not interfere with primary retail use. 

   28.   Use is permitted as allowed by State law and as authorized in title 4, chapter 8 of the Municipal Code.

17



 

9-4D-12: ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS AND JUNIOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS: 

   A.   Purpose And Applicability: This section applies to accessory dwelling units within the City. 
Accessory dwelling units are permitted upon issuance of an administrative use permit in the 
agricultural and residential zoning districts subject to the standards of this section. The purpose 
of this section is to regulate accessory dwelling units in residential zoning districts and on 
residential property consistent with State law. Implementation of this section is intended to 
expand housing opportunities for low income and moderate income or elderly households by 
increasing the number of rental units available within existing neighborhoods while maintaining 
the primarily single-family residential character of the area. 

   B.   Development Standards: Pursuant to Government Code section 65852.2, accessory 
dwelling units shall be permitted on agricultural and residential parcels when the following 
conditions are met: 

      1.   The parcel contains an existing single-family dwelling. 

      2.   No more than one (1) accessory dwelling unit shall be allowed per parcel. 

      3.   The property owner shall occupy either the primary unit or accessory dwelling unit. The 
property owner shall record a declaration acknowledging owner occupancy, recorded with the 
property as a condition of the administrative permit. 

      4.   An accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed: 

         a.   Fifty percent (50%) of the existing living area of the primary dwelling when attached to 
the primary dwelling. For purpose of this standard, "living area" shall mean the interior habitable 
area of a dwelling unit, including basements, attics, bedrooms, kitchens, living room, etc. It does 
not include a garage or any accessory structure; or 

         b.   One thousand two hundred (1,200) square feet when detached from the primary 
dwelling. 

      5.   Building setbacks for attached accessory dwelling units shall comply with all required 
building setbacks for the primary dwelling unit. 

      6.   The maximum height of a detached accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed the height 
of the primary dwelling unit. 

      7.   No accessory dwelling unit may be sold separately from the primary dwelling unit. (Ord. 
2017-06, 5-16-2017) 

A.    Purpose and intent. This section is intended to meet the requirements of State law in 
providing for accessory dwelling units (“ADUs”) and junior accessory dwelling units (“JADUs”) 
as required by and in compliance with Government Code Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22, as 
either may be amended from time to time. The standards established by this section shall be 
interpreted and applied consistent with the standards set forth in Government Code 
Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22. To the extent there is a conflict between the provisions of this 
section and the provisions of either Government Code Section 65852.2 or 65852.22, including 
as either may be amended, the applicable provision(s) of Government Code 
Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22 shall apply. The requirements and exceptions specified in 

18



Government Code Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22 shall apply to the construction of ADUs and 
JADUs pursuant to this section. 

This section is not intended to regulate multigenerational dwelling units, which are dwelling units 
that do not include a kitchen, contained entirely within the walls of a proposed or existing single-
family residence where access is not restricted between areas of the residence. 

B.    Determinations. ADUs and JADUs are residential uses. ADUs and JADUs that comply with 
this section are considered accessory uses and accessory buildings and therefore do not 
exceed the allowable density for the lots upon which ADUs and JADUs are located. ADUs and 
JADUs that comply with this section are considered to be consistent with the general plan and 
zoning designations for the lot. ADUs and JADUs, and the availability to construct ADUs and 
JADUs, will be counted for purposes of identifying adequate sites for housing in the City’s 
housing element, as provided in Government Code Section 65583.1(a), and to reduce the City’s 
share of the regional housing need, as provided in Government Code Section 65583.1(d). 

C.    Designated areas. ADUs and JADUs are allowed in all residential zoning districts, including 
mixed-use zones where residential uses are permitted. ADUs and JADUs are not permitted in 
nonresidential zoning districts where residential uses are not allowed. 

D.    Development standards. ADUs may be constructed on single-family and multifamily lots 
with a proposed or existing dwelling. ADUs may be attached, detached, or located within 
existing primary residences, or accessory structures. JADUs shall only be allowed on lots zoned 
for single-family residential use, and which are contained within a proposed or existing single-
family dwelling. 

E.     ADUs and JADUs are subject to the normal requirements of the zoning district where the 
ADU and/or JADU will be constructed. Unless otherwise stated in this section, the requirements 
and standards of this Title that apply to the lot and the primary dwelling shall apply to any ADU 
and/or JADU, including parking, height, setback, floor area ratio, open space, and landscaping. 
All Fire and Building Code requirements that apply to detached dwellings and accessory 
structures generally shall apply to ADUs and JADUs. 

1.    Number of units. One ADU and one JADU are allowed per single-family residential lot. 
Lots with existing multifamily dwellings may construct up to two (2) detached ADUs, or 
ADUs up to twenty-five (25) percent of the number of existing multifamily dwelling units in 
nonlivable space (e.g., storage rooms, boiler rooms, passageways, attics, basements, or 
garages). 

2.    Unit size. Detached ADUs may have a total floor area of 1,200 square feet or less. 
ADUs attached to an existing primary dwelling may have a total floor area of fifty (50) 
percent or less of the area of the existing primary dwelling or 1,200 square feet, whichever 
is greater. ADUs and JADUs shall be at least 220 square feet. JADUs may not be more 
than 500 square feet in size. 

3.    Setbacks. A setback of four (4) feet from the side and rear lot lines is required for an 
ADU, unless the ADU is constructed within an existing primary dwelling or permitted 
accessory structure, or in the same location and to the same dimensions as an existing 
permitted accessory structure. 

4.    Building standards. 

19



a.    ADUs and JADUs shall not exceed a single story and 16 feet in height, unless 
constructed above an attached or detached garage, in which case the ADU/JADU 
shall not exceed the height limit of the applicable zoning district. 

b.    ADUs and JADUs must be architecturally compatible with the primary dwelling, 
having similar materials, colors, and style of construction. The design and size of 
ADUs and JADUs shall conform to all applicable standards of the building, health, 
and other codes adopted by the City. 

c.    Attached ADUs and JADUs shall be compatible with and made structurally a part 
of the primary dwelling (e.g., share a common wall with the primary dwelling, rely 
partially on the primary dwelling for structural support, or be attached to the primary 
dwelling). 

d.    Adequate provisions shall be made for the water and sewer service and drainage 
generated by the occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit as determined by the City 
Engineer. The ADU/JADU can either have shared or separate services for electric, 
gas, sewer, and water. 

e.    There shall be at least one (1) parking space per ADU, except as allowed by 
Government Code Section 65852.2. Additional parking is not required for JADUs. 

f.    Fire sprinklers are required for ADUs/JADUs if fire sprinklers are required for the 
primary residence. 

5.    Exception. All of the standards provided in this section may be relaxed or waived in 
order to allow construction of an attached or detached ADU that is at least 800 square feet 
and 16 feet in height with four-foot side and rear yard setbacks; provided, that the ADU is 
constructed in compliance with all Fire and Building Code requirements and applicable 
standards of the Development Code necessary to protect the public health and safety. 

F.    Connection, impact, and other fees. 

1.    Except as provided in Government Code Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22, ADUs and 
JADUs are subject to all fees and assessments required by the Lemoore Municipal Code 
for new residential construction, including connection fees, capacity charges, and impact 
fees. 

2.    An inspection fee shall be assessed for any inspection to determine if an ADU or 
JADU complies with applicable building standards. 

G.    Occupancy and ownership. 

1.    A certificate of occupancy shall be issued for the primary dwelling unit before a 
certificate of occupancy is issued for an ADU or JADU on the lot. 

2.    An ADU or JADU may be rented separate from the primary residence but may not be 
sold or otherwise conveyed separate from the primary residence. Rentals of ADUs and/or 
JADUs for less than thirty (30) days must comply with the requirements for short-term 
rentals units. 

3.    Owner-occupancy is not required for ADUs. Owner-occupancy is required for a single-
family residence with a JADU. The owner may reside in either the single-family residence 
or the newly created JADU. Owner-occupancy is not required if the owner is a 
governmental agency, land trust, or housing organization. 

20



4.    A JADU may not be sold separate from the sale of the single-family residence. A deed 
restriction prohibiting the sale and restricting the size and attributes of the JADU, as 
provided by Government Code Section 65852.22, is also required. 

H.    Permit approval. A permit must be obtained for the construction or installation of an ADU or 
JADU. An application, together with the required fee in compliance with the City’s fee schedule, 
shall be filed with the Department and accompanied by detailed and fully dimensioned plans, 
architectural drawings/sketches, elevations, floor plans, landscape plans, and/or any other 
data/materials identified in the Department handout for ADU/JADU applications. Following 
receipt of a completed application, the Director shall make an investigation of the facts bearing 
on the case to determine compliance with this section and ministerially approve a compliant 
application in accordance with (Gov. Code, 35852.2 subd. (a)(3) and (b).. 

If the permit application to create an ADU or a JADU is submitted with a permit application to 
create a new single-family dwelling on the lot, the City may delay acting on the permit 
application for the ADU or the JADU until the City acts on the permit application to create the 
new single-family dwelling. The applicant may request a delay in the time available for the City 
to act on the application, as provided by State law. 

I.    Cottage home program standards. This section provides locational and general standards 
for the cottage home program which is allowed in the applicable residential areas, subject to the 
following criteria and standards. This subsection does not supplant the remainder of this section 
for ADU and JADU construction. 

1.    Cottage home. A cottage home is a type of ADU made available by the City and 
constructed in compliance with this subsection. A cottage home shall count towards the 
limit on the number of ADUs permitted on a single lot. 

2.    Zone districts. A cottage home is allowed in zones that allow an ADU. 

3.    Application procedures. Applications for the cottage home program shall be filed with 
the Community Development Department. 

4.    Developmental standards. A cottage home shall be constructed in compliance with 
the following developmental standards: 

a.    Only one cottage home unit shall be created on a single-family parcel. 

b.    The cottage home shall be built using plans provided by the City. 

c.    Adequate provisions shall be made for the water and sewer service and drainage 
generated by the occupancy of the cottage home unit as determined by the City 
Engineer. The cottage home can have either shared or separate services for electric, 
gas, sewer, and water. 

J. Tiny house standards. A tiny house may be approved for use as an accessory dwelling 
unit if the following requirements are met: 

1. The tiny house meets all the requirements for an accessory dwelling unit. 

2. The tiny house has at least 100 square feet of first floor interior living space and 
includes basic functional areas that support normal daily routines such as cooking, 
sleeping, and toiletry. 

3. The tiny house is designed and built to look like a conventional building structure. 

21



4. The tiny house is licensed and registered with the California Department of Motor 
Vehicles and meets ANSI 119.2 or 119.5 requirements. 

5. The tiny house Is towable by a bumper hitch, frame-towing hitch, or fifth-wheel 
connection and cannot (nor is it designed to) move under its own power. 

6. The tiny house is no larger than allowed by California State Law for movement on 
public highways. 

7. No mechanical equipment is located on the roof of the movable tiny house. 

8. When sited on a lot for more than 72 hours at a location visible from the public 
street, the tiny house shall have skirting that covers the wheels and undercarriage and 
that extends to ground level. 

9. When sited on a lot for more than 72 hours, water and sewer connections shall be 
made permanent prior to occupancy. Shut-off valves, meters, and regulators shall not be 
located beneath the tiny house. 

  

22



 

TABLE 9-5A-4A 
DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 

Measurement/Zoning 
District 

Residential Zoning Districts 
AR RVLD RLD RN RLMD RMD RHD 

Site area per dwelling 
unit, minimum (square 
feet) 

No 
minimum 

15,000 6,000 
5,000 

3,000 3,000 2,500 1,700 

Lot dimensions:               
Lot size, minimum 
(square feet) 

40,000 15,000 
10,000 

7,000 
5,000 

3,000 3,000 2,000 2,000 

Lot size, maximum 
(square feet) 

No 
maximum 

40,000 15,00
0 

7,000 7,000 5,000 1 No 
maximum 

Lot width, minimum 10 150' 150'10
0’ 

60'50’ 50' 60' 60' 60' 

Lot depth, minimum 200' 150' 100' 90' 90' 80' 80' 
Setbacks, minimum:               
Front yard:               

Generally 2,12 60' 40' 25’ 18' 15’ 15' 20'15’ 20'15’ 20'15’ 
To garage, front 
facing 

- - 20' 20' 20' 20' 20' 

To garage, side load - - 15' - - - - 
To porch - - 12' 12' 12' 12' - 

Side yard:               
Interior side 15' 10' 5' 4 5' 4 5' 10' 10' 
Street side 12 25' 15' 15'10’ 15'10’ 15'10’ 15' 15' 
Combined both sides - - 10' 10' 10' - - 

Rear yard:               
Generally 10' 4 10' 4 10' 4 10' 4 10' 10' 10' 
To detached alley 
loaded garage 

5' 5' 5' 0' 0' 0' 0' 

Abutting a street 11 20' 20' 20' 20' 20' - - 
Separation between 
buildings, minimum 7 

10' 10' 10' 10' 10' 10' 10' 

Height, maximum 40' 40' 35' 35' 35' 45' 60'         
Notes: 

   1.   Reserved. Larger lot sizes may be permitted through site plan and architectural review for condominiums, 
townhomes, and similar attached developments. 

   2.   Reserved. For single-family residential subdivisions, the front yard setback of adjacent homes shall have a 
minimum 2 foot stagger between adjacent lots. Reduced setbacks may be approved as part of a planned unit 
development overlay zoning district or master home plan approval as a way to provide varied setbacks. 

23



   3.   For every 1 foot in additional height, an additional 1 foot in setback is required. 

   4.   Additional 5 feet is required for each additional story. 

   5.   Required setback is 10 feet when adjacent to any residential zoning district. 

   6.   Required setback is 15 feet when adjacent to any residential or mixed use zoning district. 

   7.   Separation requirements apply to buildings on the same site as well as separation between buildings on 
adjacent parcels. 

   8.   Also see subsection 9-5D1-2E, "Special Landscape Requirements", of this chapter for corresponding minimum 
landscaping and pervious surface requirements. 

   9.   Additional building height may be allowed through site plan and architectural review when additional height is 
necessary for mechanical equipment as part of an industrial operation. 

   10.   For flag lots, the minimum width for the access corridor shall be 10 feet. The lot width shall be measured from 
the front property line as described in section 9-5A-3, "Setback Determination And Requirements", of this article. 

   11.   See section 9-5B-7, "Urban-Rural Edge", of this chapter. 

   12.   15 foot landscape buffer required along arterial and collector streets in addition to minimum setback. These 2 
standards are not cumulative and may overlap. See subsection 9-5D1-2E2, "Landscape Buffers Required Along 
Arterial And Collector Streets", of this chapter. 

(Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014; amd. Ord. 2015-08, 1-5-2016) 

  

9-5C-3: DESIGN STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL PROJECTS: 
The standards contained in this section shall apply to new residential development, including 
single-family residential subdivisions, master home plans, and multi-family residential 
developments. These standards are intended to implement the design concepts described 
above. 

      2.   Building Placement And Orientation: Create diverse residential streetscapes that 
facilitate interaction between residents and include homes and residential structures that orient 
to the street. 

         a.   For single-family residential subdivisions, the front yard setback of adjacent homes 
shall have a minimum two foot (2') stagger between adjacent lots. 

         ba.   Multi-unit residential buildings (e.g., townhomes, condominiums, apartments) shall be 
designed with different building setbacks and facade variations when multiple buildings are 
provided. 

         cb.   Orient home and building sites to take advantage of solar heating and opportunities 
for solar energy generation. 

         dc.   Residential development adjacent to open space/parks and other public spaces shall 
maintain visual access from residential units and common buildings to provide "eyes on the 
street" surveillance opportunities. 

         ed.   Buildings shall be designed with structural and spatial variety along the front facades 
to avoid monotonous appearance. 

24



Item 3-1 
May 2, 2023 Minutes 

Lemoore City Council Meeting 
 

CALL TO ORDER: 
At 5:30 p.m., the meeting was called to order. 

 
ROLL CALL: Mayor:  MATTHEWS 
 Mayor Pro Tem:  GORNICK  
 Council Members: GARZA, LYONS, ORTH  
  
City Staff and contract employees present: City Manager Olson; City Attorney Lerner; Public 
Works Director Rivera; Police Chief Kendall; Management Analyst Reeder; City Clerk Avalos. 
 

AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS, AND/OR DELETIONS 
 
No Agenda Additions and/or Deletions. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Alex Walker with Lemoore Rotary provided Council Members with a green ribbon and magnet 
representing mental health awareness month. He thanked Kings County Behavioral Health for 
sharing resources. He wants to bring awareness to resources available. Residents can visit 
kcbh.org for resources and to celebrate mental health awareness month.  
 

CEREMONIAL / PRESENTATION – Section 1 
 
No Ceremonies or Presentations. 
 

DEPARTMENT AND CITY MANAGER REPORTS – Section 2 
 
Public Works Director Rivera stated there will be a pre-bod walk for Daphne storm drain this week. 
Lift Station 9A will be posted for bid this week. Getting feedback from PG&E on the street lights 
that will be going on the poles. 
 
Police Chief Kendall stated that Officer Gresham has been selected to received the 2022 MAD 
award. He won the award last year as well. He made 43 DUI arrests in 2022. The award ceremony 
will be held on Thursday, July 13th at the Grand 1401 in Fresno. Wednesday, May 17th the Kings 
County Peace Officers Memorial will be held at the Government Center courtyard. This event is 
open to the public and everyone is invited to attend. 8 individuals who graduated the Citizens 
Academy have applied for the Volunteers in Policing (VIP) Program. The VIP Academy will start 
on May 24th.  
 
City Manager Olson attended the Mosquito Abatement meeting. Due to the excess of water, there 
will be a need to use crop dusters for mosquito applications to increase the coverage area. The 
wells are holding well. The river is flowing at 13,000 cfs. The $2 million dollar grant funds for the 
Fire Department has been received. The Planning Commission approved the Maverik truck stop 
at the meeting last week.  
 
 
 
 

25



CONSENT CALENDAR – Section 3 
 
3-1 Approval – Minutes – Regular Meeting – April 18, 2023 
3-2 Approval – Resolution 2023-10 – Intention to Annex and Include Additional Territories 

(Tract 820) in Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in the City of Lemoore, and Levy 
and Collect Annual Assessments in Such Annexed Territories for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
and Thereafter 

3-3 Approval – Resolution 2023-11 – Intention to Annex and Include Additional Territories in 
Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in the City of Lemoore, and Levy and Collect 
Annual Assessments in Such Annexed Territories for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 and 
Thereafter 

3-4 Approval – Acceptance of Donations from American Legion Post 100 and Lemoore Lions 
Club 

3-5 Approval – Agreement between West Hills Community College District (West Hills 
Lemoore) and the City of Lemoore for Campus Police Officer 

3-6 Approval – Board of State and Community Corrections (BSCC) – Officer Wellness Grant 
3-7 Approval – Resolution 2023-12 – Reviewing Ordinance 2022-02 and Policy 709 of the 

Lemoore Police Department Police Manual Authorizing the Use of Military Equipment in 
Accordance with Government Code Section 7070, et. seq. 

 
Items 3-2, 3-3, 3-4, 3-6 and 3-7 were pulled for separate consideration.  
 
Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Council Member Lyons, to approve the Consent 
Calendar, except items 3-2, 3-3, 3-4, 3-6, and 3-7.  
 
Ayes: Orth, Lyons, Garza, Gornick, Matthews 
 
 
3-2 Approval – Resolution 2023-10 – Intention to Annex and Include Additional Territories 

(Tract 820) in Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in the City of Lemoore, and Levy 
and Collect Annual Assessments in Such Annexed Territories for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
and Thereafter 

3-3 Approval – Resolution 2023-11 – Intention to Annex and Include Additional Territories in 
Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in the City of Lemoore, and Levy and Collect 
Annual Assessments in Such Annexed Territories for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 and 
Thereafter 

 
Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Council Member Lyons, to approve Resolution 
2023-10 and Resolution 2023-11.  
 
Ayes: Orth, Lyons, Garza, Gornick, Matthews 
 
3-4 Approval – Acceptance of Donations from American Legion Post 100 and Lemoore Lions 

Club 
 
Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Council Member Lyons, to accept the donations 
from American Legion Post 100 and Lemoore Lions Club.  
 
Ayes: Orth, Lyons, Garza, Gornick, Matthews 
 
3-6 Approval – Board of State and Community Corrections (BSCC) – Officer Wellness Grant 
 
 

26



Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Gornick, to accept the Board of 
State and Community Corrections (BSCC) – Officer Wellness Grant. 
 
Ayes: Orth, Gornick, Garza, Lyons, Matthews 
 
3-7 Approval – Resolution 2023-12 – Reviewing Ordinance 2022-02 and Policy 709 of the 

Lemoore Police Department Police Manual Authorizing the Use of Military Equipment in 
Accordance with Government Code Section 7070, et. seq. 

 
Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Gornick, seconded by Council Member Garza, to approve Resolution 
2023-12, Reviewing Ordinance 2022-02 and Policy 709 of the Lemoore Police Department 
Manual Authorizing the Use of Military Equipment in Accordance with Government Code Section 
7070, et seq.. 
 
Ayes: Gornick, Garza, Lyons, Orth, Matthews 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS – Section 4 
 
No Public Hearings.  
 

NEW BUSINESS – Section 5 
 
No New Business. 
 

BRIEF CITY COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS – Section 6 
 
6-1 City Council Reports / Requests 
 
Council Member Garza stated that the crosswalk at Cinnamon and 19th near Freedom Elementary 
is not working.  
 
Council Member Lyons thanked Police, Fire, City Manager’s Office, and Parks and Recreation. 
He attended Lemoore Days. Unfortunately, there was no dunk tank at Lemoore Days.  
 
Council Member Orth attended Kings Rural Transit Authority last week. Ground testing was 
approved for new transit center. They are hoping to award a contractor by July. 2 weeks of free 
bus passes will be available for the month of December. It will be the 1st week and 4th week of 
December. Quarterly passes are also offered. There are 550 bus passes available. Lemoore Days 
was nice. Benjamin did a good job. He thanked Police, Fire, and Public Works. The whole city 
works hard. He thanked Nathan for his update regarding the water.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Gornick echoed his colleagues’ comments. He provided an update regarding 
SFKGSA. A meeting was held to approve an interim aquafer. Looking at places to identify 
potential groundwater recharge areas.  
 
Mayor Matthews attended the PG&E briefing regarding the flooding on April 19th. There is 
currently 120 accounts without power. They are working proactively. The number can change. 
San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control meeting was a long meeting. She also attended Lemoore 
Days on April 21st and April 22nd. It was a great event. She thanked the City of Lemoore for 
partnering. She attended the Lemoore Little League fundraiser at the Fresno State baseball 
game. She learned a lot of baseball chants. It was a great game. She attended the Kings/Fresno 
County water meeting held by Verboon and Mendes. There is a lot of information out there. On 
April 28th she attended the SSJVD Golf Tournament in Dinuba. She thanked the team and stated  

27



it was a lot of fun. Rockin’ the Arbor will be on May 5th in Downtown. City County Coordinating 
meeting is being held on Wednesday, May 10th hosted by the City of Hanford. KCAO Food 
Distribution will be held on May 15th at 8:00 a.m. There will be a Red, White, and Blue Lemoore 
Community Dance sponsored by the Chamber and Fleet Reserve.  
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 6:07 p.m., Council adjourned. 
 
Approved the 16th day of May 2023. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
             
       Patricia Matthews, Mayor   
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk    

28



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-9003

Staff Report

    Item No: 3-2
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Randon Reeder, Management Analyst   
Date: April 21, 2023    Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023
Subject: Budget Amendment – CIP 5013 – Bush Street Overlay

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion: 
Approve budget amendment in the amount of $15,025 for CIP 5013 – Bush Street Overlay 
and authorize the City Manager, or designee, to sign the budget amendment.  

Subject/Discussion:
Bush Street Overlay is a current CIP that that was awarded to Terra West Construction 
on May 3, 2022. This project included an overlay on Bush Street from 19th Avenue to 19 
½ Avenue. A change order for additional concrete and drive approaches to be corrected 
during construction was needed. This project did not go over contingency, but a budget 
amendment is needed to close out the project.   

Financial Consideration (s):
$910,000 was budgeted for this project and was included in the FY 2022 budget. This 
budget amendment in the amount of $15,025 from Fund 030 is required to complete the 
project.

Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Not Applicable.

Commission/Board Recommendation:
Not Applicable.

29



 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Approve budget amendment in the amount of $15,025 to CIP 5013 – Bush Street Overlay, 
and authorize the City Manager, or designee, to execute the budget amendment.  
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 5/12/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 5/12/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 5/10/2023 
 Other     Finance  
 List: Budget Amendment  

30



Date: Request By:

Requesting Department: 

TYPE OF BUDGET AMENDMENT REQUEST:

Appropriation Transfer within Budget Unit

All other appropriations (Attach Council approved Staff Report)

FROM:

Fund Budget Unit Account Current Budget Proposed
Increase/Decrease: Proposed New Budget

34 3590 72,968.00$              (15,025.00)$                   57,943.00$                                

- - -$                                            

TO:

Fund Budget Unit Account Current Budget Proposed
Increase/Decrease: Proposed New Budget

403 5013 4310 120,000.00$            11,396.52$                     131,396.52$                              
403 5013 4317 592,985.55$            3,628.48$                       596,614.03$                              

-$                                            

-$                                            
- - -$                                            

-$                                            

APPROVALS: 

Completed By:  Date:

Department Head: Date:

Date:City Manager:

JUSTIFICATION FOR CHANGE/FUNDING SOURCE:
Project extended into FY 23. Adding funds for project expenditures. 

5/9/2023 Randon Reeder

Public Works

CITY OF LEMOORE
BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

31



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report
    Item No: 3-3

         
To: Lemoore City Council
From Nathan Olson, City Manager
Date: April 21, 2023    Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023
Subject: Administrative Policy 2023-02 – Donation and Gift Policy

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve Administrative Gift Policy 2023-02 – Donation and Gift Policy.

Subject/Discussion:
The City of Lemoore receives many donations from individuals, community organizations, 
and businesses throughout the year for various programs, events, and projects. The 
purpose of adopting this policy is to establish a formal process for acceptance and 
documentation of donations made to the City. 

Administrative Policy 2023-02 outlines the different types of donations, acceptance of 
donations, acknowledgement of donations, distribution of donations and acceptance of 
gifts to employees and/or elected officials. Included in the policy are two forms: Donation 
Acceptance form and Donation and Gift Policy Acknowledgement form. When donations 
are received, a Donation Acceptance form will be required to be completed by the 
receiving department. All employees and new hires will be required to complete a
Donation and Gift Policy acknowledgement form to be placed in their personnel file. 

This policy authorizes the City Manager or designee to accept donations under $50,000 
will create an efficient and consistent process. Donations will be accepted when they have 
a purpose consistent with City’s goals and objectives. Donations over $50,000 will be 
taken to City Council for approval.   

32



Financial Consideration(s): 
Donations will be accepted and deposited in the appropriate fund.  
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Pros: 

 Establishment of a formal process. 
Cons: 

 None noted.  
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not Applicable.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the approval of Administrative Policy 2023-02 – Donation and Gift 
Policy. 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 5/12/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 5/12/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 5/10/2023 
 Other     Finance  
 List: Administrative Policy 2023-02 

33



                                                                             City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive -6744 ax -6708

Administrative Policy 2023-02: 

DONATION AND GIFT POLICY

PURPOSE:

The purpose of this policy is to establish a formal process for acceptance and documentation of 
donations made to the City. This policy provides guidance when individuals, community groups, 
and businesses wish to make donations to the City. This policy also establishes the standards for 
City employees and City officials regarding the acceptance of gifts during the performance of City 
business.

TYPES OF DONATIONS:

Donations may be offered in the form of cash, real or personal property. Designated donations 
means those donations that the donor specifies for a particular City department, location, or 
purpose. Undesignated donations means those donations that are given to the City for an 
unspecified use. 

CONSISTENCY WITH CITY INTERESTS:

Designated donations may only be accepted when they have a purpose consistent with the City’s 
goals and objectives and are in the best interest of Lemoore. The City must always consider the 
public trust and comply with all applicable laws when accepting donations.

ACCEPTANCE OF UNDESIGNATED DONATIONS OF CASH OR TANGIBLE ITEMS:

All donations to the City, including offers to employees related to the City, shall immediately be 
submitted for consideration of acceptance. Based on the value of the donation offered as outlined 
below, appropriate City staff shall review every donation and determine if the benefits to be 
derived warrant acceptance of the donation. The following points list the threshold amounts for 
donation acceptance.  

A. Offers of donations of cash or items valued up to $50,000 may be accepted by the City 
Manager, or designee. 

B. Offers of donations of cash items valued more than $50,000 must be accepted by the City 
Council. 

C. Offers of donations for gratuitous purposes (e.g. holiday gift baskets, etc.) to any employee, 
department or the City shall be made available to benefit all employees. 

34



 

ACCEPTANCE OF DESIGNATED DONATIONS OF CASH OR TANGIBLE ITEMS: 
 
Based on the value of the donation offer as outlined in Section 3 above, appropriate City staff will 
review the conditions of any designated donation and determine if the benefits to be derived 
warrant acceptance of the donation. Criteria for the evaluation include but are not limited to: 

 
A. Consideration of an immediate or initial expenditure is required in order to accept the 

donation. 
 

B. The potential and extent of the City’s obligation to maintain, match, or supplement the 
donation.  
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF DONATIONS 
 

A. A Donation Acceptance Form is required to be completed by the City Manager’s Office 
for all donations provided to the City (form attached). 
 

B. Acknowledgement of the donation should be in writing. Undesignated donations shall be 
acknowledged by the City Manager’s Office. A copy of the acknowledgement agreement 
should be forwarded to donors.  

 
C. The Donor Acceptance Form including the donor names and donation amounts are public 

information subject to disclosure pursuant to the California Public Records Act.  
  
DECLINED DONATIONS 

The City of Lemoore reserves the right to decline any donations if, upon review, acceptance of the 
donation offer is determined in the sole discretion of the City to be not in the best interests of the 
City.  
 

DISTRIBUTION OF DONATION 

A. Tangible items will be distributed to appropriate City departments for use or, at the 
discretion of the City Manager or designee, disposed of in an appropriate manner according 
to this policy.  

B. Donations of cash for designated donations will be deposited into the appropriate revenue 
account for the designated City department.  
 

C. Donations of cash for undesignated donations under $10,000 will be deposited into the 
City’s General Fund donation account. Undesignated donations in an amount over $10,000 
will be distributed at the direction of City Council. 

 
DISSEMINATION OF INFORMATION 

 
A. A copy of each Donation Acceptance Form for accepted donations shall be forwarded for 

information to the City to the City Council by the City Manager’s Office. 
 

35



B. A copy of each Donation Acceptance Form for accepted donations shall be forwarded for 
information to the Finance Department and the designated department for which the 
donation was assigned. 

 
C. Each original Donation Acceptance Form shall be maintained by the City Clerk’s Office.  

 
ACCEPTANCE OF GIFTS TO EMPLOYEES AND/OR ELECTED OFFICIALS OF THE 
CITY: 

A. Employees and officials of the City are required to be objective and fair in dealing with the 
public and persons or firms doing business with the City. Employees shall not solicit or 
accept gifts or gratuities for the performance of their City job responsibilities.  

B. No City official or employee shall directly or indirectly solicit, accept, or attempt to accept 
any money, fee, credit, gift, gratuity, object of value, or compensation of any kind which 
the official or employee knows, or has reason to know is being offered:  

1. For the purpose of improperly obtaining or rewarding favorable treatment; 

2. With interest to influence the official or employee in the discharge of official duties 
or; 

3. In consideration of having exercised official powers or performed official duties. 

C. Anonymous gifts shall be delivered to the City Manager for appropriate disposition.  

D. This policy does not prohibit a City official from accepting anything of value by way of a 
gift when such a gift is made to and accepted on behalf of, the City of Lemoore. All such 
gifts to the City shall be forwarded to the City Manager or designee for compliance with 
this policy whenever possible; the City Manager or designee will ensure that all such gifts 
are shared by all City staff. An example of such gifts would be those received during 
holiday periods.  

E. Under the Political Reform Act, public officials and employees are required to disclose 
certain personal financial holdings as outlines in California Government Code sections 
81000-91014. The Fair Political Practices Commission requires all public officials and 
employees to file a ‘conflict-of-interest statement,’ known as Form 700. In Schedule D of 
Form 700, details requirements in reporting gifts of a dollar value and shall be used. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

36



CITY OF LEMOORE 

DONATION ACCEPTANCE FORM 
 

Name of Donor:________________________________________________________________ 

Address:__________________________ City: _____________ State: _______ Zip: _________ 

 

Description of Donation:_________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Donor Estimate of Current Value: ________________________________________________ 

 

Potential Immediate or Initial Acquisition or Installation Cost, Any On-Going Maintenance 
or Replacement Cost: ___________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Intended Use:__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Conditions of Acceptance or Donor Designation:_____________________________________ 

 

Remarks: _____________________________________________________________________ 

 

City Department Receiving Donation: _____________________________________________ 

 

 

 

____________________                        ____________________________ 

Date                                               City Manager Signature 

 

____________________                        ____________________________ 

Date Submitted to Council                      Date Approved by Council 
 

NOTE: The City of Lemoore cannot guarantee future funding for repair, maintenance, use or replacement of donated items. 

 cc: City Council, Finance Department, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED UNAPPROVED 

37



CITY OF LEMOORE 

DONATION AND GIFT POLICY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 

I have received and read the City of Lemoore Donation and Gift Policy and understand its 

provisions. I further understand that when I sign this acknowledgement form it will be placed in 

my personnel file. 

 

____________________________ 

Employee (Print Name) 

 

____________________________ 

Signature 

 

____________________________ 

Date 

38



      
City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744

Staff Report

    Item No: 3-4
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Nathan Olson, City Manager  
Date: May 3, 2023   Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023
Subject: Resolution 2023-13 – To Review and Renew the Declaration of a Local 

Emergency and the Related Declarations and Orders Therein

Strategic Initiative: 

Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion: 
Adopt Resolution 2023-13, to review and renew the declaration of a local emergency, and 
the related declarations and orders therein. 

Subject/Discussion: 
Proclamation 2023-01 was adopted on March 27, 2023, ratifying the declaration of a local 
emergency. 

Conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property arose
within the City of Lemoore on March 24, 2023, caused by recent atmospheric river storms 
bringing significant amounts of runoff and flooding to Kings County, surrounding 
agricultural lands, and throughout California in a short period of time, all of which is further 
described in the Director’s Emergency Proclamation. 

The City Manager acting as the Director proclaimed the existence of a Local Emergency 
within the City on March 24, 2023 and issued Emergency Orders effective immediately in 
accordance with the Local Emergency Proclamation. 

39



The Resolution states that the local emergency shall be reviewed at least once every 
sixty (60) days, as required by law.  
 
Financial Consideration(s): 
Full fiscal impacts are unknown at this time.  
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
City Council could require that each decision be made by City Council, however, that 
option could lead to numerous issues including, but not limited to, untimely delays in 
protecting the safety of the public and property, additional monetary losses, as well as 
infringe upon the Council – Manager form of government, whereby the City Manager is 
responsible for decisions on day-to-day operations. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Approve Resolution 2023-13, to review and renew the declaration of a local emergency, 
and the related declarations and orders therein. 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution: 2023-13   Asst. City Manager  
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 5/12/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 5/12/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 5/10/2023 
 Other     Finance        
 List:  Resolution 2023-06 
  Proclamation 2023-01 
 

 

40



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE LEMOORE CITY COUNCIL TO REVIEW AND 
RENEW THE DECLARATION OF A LOCAL EMERGENCY, AND THE 

RELATED DECLARATIONS AND ORDERS THEREIN. 
 

WHEREAS, California Government Code section 8630 and Lemoore Municipal 
Code section 2-4-4 empowers the Director of Emergency Services (“Director”) to proclaim 
a Local Emergency if the City Council is not in session, and requires that the City Council 
shall take action to ratify the Proclamation within seven (7) days thereafter; and 

 
WHEREAS, conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and 

property arose within the City of Lemoore on March 24, 2023, caused by recent 
atmospheric river storms bringing significant amounts of runoff and flooding to Kings 
County, surrounding agricultural lands, and throughout California in a short period of time, 
all of which is further described in the Director’s Emergency Proclamation (Attached 
hereto as Exhibit A); and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Manager acting as the Director proclaimed the existence of 

a Local Emergency within the City on the 24th day of March, 2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council ratified and confirmed the Director’s proclamation 

of the existence of a Local Emergency within the City on the 27th day of March, 2023; and 
 

WHEREAS, California Government Code section 8630 requires the City Council 
to review the need for continuing the Local Emergency at least once every sixty (60) days; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council does hereby find that the above described conditions 

of disaster or of extreme peril have not abated, that because of the flooding the City is still 
unable to provide full uninterrupted water service to City customers, and that the existence 
of a Local Emergency continues within the City.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Lemoore as follows:  
 

1. The Proclamation of Local Emergency Due to flood releases is hereby 
continued. 

2. The following declarations, orders, and restrictions remain in place: 

a. The Director acting as the City Manager has authority to transfer funds 
as necessary to respond to the Local Emergency in all respects. 

b. The Director may waive all local, State, and federal bidding and requests 
for proposal requirements prior to entering into contracts that the 
Director deems necessary to remedy the conditions relating to the Local 

41



Emergency. The Director shall make reasonably prudent business 
decisions under the circumstances.   

c. A copy of this Resolution continuing the Director’s Emergency 
Proclamation, shall be forwarded to the Kings County Office of 
Emergency Services, as well as appropriate State and Federal agencies 
with the coordination of the Kings County Office of Emergency 
Services, for reimbursement under state and federal disaster assistance 
acts. The Director is hereby designated as the authorized representative 
for public assistance, and the Director shall receive, process, and 
coordinate all inquiries, filings, and requirements necessary to obtain 
available state and/or federal assistance to the City for coping with the 
Local Emergency. 

3. The local emergency shall be reviewed at least once every sixty (60) days  
as required by law, and otherwise be deemed to continue to exist until its 
termination is proclaimed by the City Council of the City of Lemoore. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Lemoore held on the 16th day of May 2023 by the following vote: 
 
 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSTAINING: 

 ABSENT: 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED:    
   
________________________   ________________________ 
Marisa Avalos      Patricia Matthews 
City Clerk      Mayor  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42



43



44



45



46



47



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-9003

Staff Report

    Item No: 3-5
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Randon Reeder, Management Analyst   
Date: May 5, 2023    Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023
Subject: Local Road and Safety Plan (LRSP)

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion: 
Approve the Local Road and Safety Plan (LRSP). 

Subject/Discussion:
In November 2022, the City entered into an agreement with Minagar & Associates for the 
creation of a Local Road and Safety Plan (LRSP). A LRSP is required to be completed 
every five years and must be submitted and on file with CalTrans.  

The Local Road and Safety Plan (LRSP) is a safety plan for the City of Lemoore to 
establish a safe transportation environment that has safer roads, safer people, safer 
speed, and safer vehicles. The project includes collecting collision data from the past five 
years to identify local hot spots and risk factors. This data was reviewed and analyzed to 
identify predominant collision types and identify roadway features that have contributed 
to those collisions. Based on the analysis, countermeasures have been proposed 
including all possible treatments and potential collision reductions. 

This plan was also reviewed with community members such as Greater Kings County 
Chamber of Commerce, local schools, law enforcement agencies, and City staff. 

48



Financial Consideration (s): 
The LRSP is required to be on file with Caltrans in order to receive future grant funds for 
street projects.  
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Not accept the proposed plan and be ineligible for future grant funds for street projects. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not Applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the approval of the Local Road and Safety Plan.  
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 5/12/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 5/12/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 5/11/2023 
 Other     Finance  
 List: Local Road and Safety Plan  

49



FINAL
Local Roadway Safety Plan (LRSP) Project

City of Lemoore

October 17, 2022

City of Lemoore
Department of Public Works

711 W Cinnamon Dr 
Lemoore, CA 93245

PREPARED FOR:

MINAGAR & ASSOCIATES, INC.
Traffic/Civil/Electrical Engineering – ITS – Transportation Planning – CEM

23282 Mill Creek Drive, Suite 120
Laguna Hills, CA 92653

Tel: (949) 707-1199

PREPARED FOR:

March 17, 2023

21st St

20th St

Lemoore Kings County

Le
m

oo
re

Av
e

19
th

Av
e

D St

Cedar Ln

Iona Ave

Bush St

Cinnamon St

Hanford Armona Rd

Lemoore

Arm

Le
m

oo
re

Av
e

nna

19
th

Av
e

D St

Collisions by Crash Severity

City of Lemoore Concentration of Collisions by “Point” (2017-2021)

50



Table of Contents 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ............................................................................................ 6 
Executive Summary ..................................................................................................... 7 
Statement of Protection of Data From Discovery and Admissions ............................... 8 
List of Acronyms .......................................................................................................... 9 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................................... 10 
2. Vision and Goals ................................................................................................. 11 
3. Safety Partners ................................................................................................... 12 
3.1 Safety Leadership ............................................................................................. 12 
3.2 Stakeholders ..................................................................................................... 13 
4. Process ............................................................................................................... 14 
4.1 Systemic Approach ........................................................................................... 14 
4.2 Public Outreach ................................................................................................ 15 
5. Existing Efforts .................................................................................................... 16 
6. Data Analysis and Summary............................................................................... 17 
6.1 Overall Summary .............................................................................................. 17 
6.2 Victim Summary ................................................................................................ 25 
6.3 Pedestrian Crash Summary .............................................................................. 29 
6.4 Active Transportation Program (ATP) Summary Data & Maps ......................... 33 
6.5 Crash Data Comparison and Analysis .............................................................. 40 
6.5 California Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) Ranking ............................................. 44 
7. Emphasis Areas .................................................................................................. 47 
7.1 High Collision Intersections............................................................................... 48 
7.2 High Collision Roadway Segments ................................................................... 49 
7.3 Broadside Collisions Due to Automobile Right-of Way ..................................... 50 
7.4 Rear End Collisions Due to Unsafe Speeds ..................................................... 51 
8. High Collision Locations Identification, Pattern Analysis, and Recommended 
Improvements ......................................................................................................... 52 
8.1 High Collision Intersections............................................................................... 55 
8.1.1 Intersection 1: N Lemoore Ave & Cinnamon Dr ............................................. 56 
8.1.2 Intersection 2: Liberty Dr & Hanford Armona Rd ............................................ 56 
8.1.3 Intersection 3: Lemoore Ave & D St ............................................................... 57 

51



8.1.4 Intersection 4: N Lemoore Ave & C St ........................................................... 57 
8.1.5 Intersection 5: N Lemoore Ave & Hanford Armona Rd .................................. 58 
8.1.6 Intersection 6: Cinnamon Dr & Hanford Armona Rd ...................................... 58 
8.1.7 Intersection 7: Fox St & B St .......................................................................... 58 
8.1.8 Intersection 8: W Cinnamon Dr & Fox St ....................................................... 59 
8.1.9 Intersection 9: Hanford Armona Rd & Beverly Dr .......................................... 59 
8.1.10 Intersection 10: S 19th Ave & Cedar Ln ........................................................ 59 
8.1.11 Intersection 11: N 19th Ave & Cinnamon Dr ................................................. 60 
8.2 High Collision Roadway Segments ................................................................... 61 
8.2.1 Roadway Segment 1: N Lemoore Ave (Devon Dr to Cinnamon Dr) .............. 62 
8.2.2 Roadway Segment 2: Hanford Armona Rd (N Lemoore Ave to Beverly Dr) .. 62 
8.2.3 Roadway Segment 3: N Lemoore Ave (E Magnolia Ave to D St) .................. 62 
8.2.4 Roadway Segment 4: N Lemoore Ave (Cinnamon Dr to G St) ...................... 63 
8.2.5 Roadway Segment 5: N Lemoore Ave (W Burlwood Ln to Hanford Armona 
Rd) .......................................................................................................................... 63 
9. Collision Diagrams, Preliminary Conceptual Plans for Recommended 
Improvements at High Collision Intersections and High Collision Roadway 
Segments, Cost Estimates, and Benefit Cost Ratios .............................................. 64 
9.1 High Collision Intersections............................................................................... 65 
9.1.1 Intersection 1: N Lemoore Ave & Cinnamon Dr ............................................. 65 
9.1.1.1 Intersection 1 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 67 
9.1.2 Intersection 2: Liberty Dr & Hanford Armona Rd ............................................ 68 
9.1.2.1 Intersection 2 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 70 
9.1.3 Intersection 3: Lemoore Ave & D St  .............................................................. 71 
9.1.3.1 Intersection 3 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 73 
9.1.4 Intersection 4: N Lemoore Ave & C St ........................................................... 74 
9.1.4.1 Intersection 4 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 76 
9.1.5 Intersection 5: N Lemoore Ave & Hanford Armona Rd .................................. 77 
9.1.5.1 Intersection 5 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 79 
9.1.6 Intersection 6: Cinnamon Dr & Hanford Armona Rd ...................................... 80 
9.1.6.1 Intersection 6 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 82 
9.1.7 Intersection 7: Fox St & B St .......................................................................... 83 

52



9.1.7.1 Intersection 7 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 85 
9.1.8 Intersection 8: W Cinnamon Dr & Fox St ....................................................... 86 
9.1.8.1 Intersection 8 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 88 
9.1.9 Intersection 9: Hanford Armona Rd & Beverly Dr .......................................... 89 
9.1.9.1 Intersection 9 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 91 
9.1.10 Intersection 10: S 19th Ave & Cedar Ln ........................................................ 92 
9.1.10.1 Intersection 10 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ......................... 94 
9.1.11 Intersection 11: N 19th Ave & Cinnamon Dr ................................................. 95 
9.1.11.1 Intersection 11 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ......................... 97 
9.2 High Collision Roadway Segments ................................................................... 98 
9.2.1 Roadway Segment 1: N Lemoore Ave (Devon Dr to Cinnamon Dr) .............. 98 
9.2.1.1 Roadway Segment 1 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ................ 100 
9.2.2 Roadway Segment 2: Hanford Armona Rd (N Lemoore Ave to Beverly Dr) 101 
9.2.2.1 Roadway Segment 2 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ................ 103 
9.2.3 Roadway Segment 3: N Lemoore Ave (E Magnolia Ave to D St) ................ 104 
9.2.3.1 Roadway Segment 3 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ................ 106 
9.2.4 Roadway Segment 4: N Lemoore Ave (Cinnamon Dr to G St) .................... 107 
9.2.4.1 Roadway Segment 4 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ................ 109 
9.2.5 Roadway Segment 5: N Lemoore Ave (W Burlwood Ln to Hanford Armona 
Rd) ........................................................................................................................ 110 
9.2.5.1 Roadway Segment 5 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis ................ 112 
10.1 City of Lemoore Stakeholders Meeting Minutes ........................................... 114 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

53



List of Tables 
Table 1: Number of Crashes per Day of Week per Time ...........................................................21 
Table 2: Active Transportation Program Number of Crashes per Day of Week per Time ..........38 
Table 3: City of Lemoore OTS Crash Ranking Results 2020 .....................................................44 
Table 4: City of Lemoore Engineering Countermeasures Toolbox ............................................54 
Table 5: List of High Collision Intersections ...............................................................................55 
Table 6: Intersection Number of Collisions and Ranking in the City of Lemoore ........................55 
Table 7: Intersection 1 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ........56 
Table 8: Intersection 2 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ........56 
Table 9: Intersection 3 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ........57 
Table 10: Intersection 4 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ......57 
Table 11: Intersection 5 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ......58 
Table 12: Intersection 6 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ......58 
Table 13: Intersection 7 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ......58 
Table 14: Intersection 8 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ......59 
Table 15: Intersection 9 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ......59 
Table 16: Intersection 10 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ....59 
Table 17: Intersection 11 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor ....60 
Table 18: List of High Collision Roadway Segments .................................................................61 
Table 19: Roadway Segment Number of Collisions and Ranking in the City of Lemoore ..........61 
Table 20: Roadway Segment 1 Number of Collisions and Primary Collision Factor ..................62 
Table 21: Roadway Segment 2 Number of Collisions and Primary Collision Factor ..................62 
Table 22: Roadway Segment 3 Number of Collisions and Primary Collision Factor ..................62 
Table 23: Roadway Segment 4 Number of Collisions and Primary Collision Factor ..................63 
Table 24: Roadway Segment 5 Number of Collisions and Primary Collision Factor ..................63 
Table 25: Intersection 1 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................67 
Table 26: Intersection 2 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................70 
Table 27: Intersection 3 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................73 
Table 28: Intersection 4 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................76 
Table 29: Intersection 5 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................79 
Table 30: Intersection 6 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................82 
Table 31: Intersection 7 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................85 
Table 32: Intersection 8 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................88 
Table 33: Intersection 9 Cost Estimate ......................................................................................91 
Table 34: Intersection 10 Cost Estimate ....................................................................................94 
Table 35: Intersection 11 Cost Estimate ....................................................................................97 
Table 36: Roadway Segment 1 Cost Estimate ........................................................................ 100 
Table 37: Roadway Segment 2 Cost Estimate ........................................................................ 103 
Table 38: Roadway Segment 3 Cost Estimate ........................................................................ 106 
Table 39: Roadway Segment 4 Cost Estimate ........................................................................ 109 
Table 40: Roadway Segment 5 Cost Estimate ........................................................................ 112 
Table 41: Total Construction Cost of Intersections and Roadway Segments ........................... 113 
 

54



List of Figures 
Figure 1: Local Road Safety Plan – Your Map to Safer Roadways ............................................11 
Figure 2: City of Lemoore Display of Collisions by Point ...........................................................17 
Figure 3: City of Lemoore Display of Collisions by Cluster ........................................................18 
Figure 4: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Crash Severity .............................................19 
Figure 5: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Type of Crash ..............................................20 
Figure 6: Number of Crashes by (PCF) Primary Crash Factor Violation ....................................24 
Figure 7: Number of Victims by Victim Degree of Injury ............................................................25 
Figure 8: Number of Victims by Victim Role ..............................................................................26 
Figure 9: Number of Victims by Victim Safety Equipment ..........................................................27 
Figure 10: Number of Victims by Victim Gender and Age ..........................................................28 
Figure 11: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Type of Violation ........................................29 
Figure 12: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Pedestrian Action .......................................30 
Figure 13: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Lighting ......................................................31 
Figure 14: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Weather .....................................................32 
Figure 15: City of Lemoore Active Transportation Program Heat Map .......................................33 
Figure 16: City of Lemoore Transportation Program Hexagonal Grid Map ................................34 
Figure 17: City of Lemoore Active Transportation Program Specific Collision Map ...................35 
Figure 18: Active Transportation Program Number of Crashes by Crash Severity ....................36 
Figure 19: Active Transportation Program Number of Crashes by Type of Crash .....................37 
Figure 20: Number of Crashes by Primary Crash Factor PCF Violation ....................................39 
Figure 21: TIMS Number and Percentage of Crash Severity Types Local, County, and State ...40 
Figure 22: TIMS Number and Percentage of Victims Local, County, and State .........................41 
Figure 23: TIMS Number and Percentage of Crash Locations Local, County, and State ...........42 
Figure 24: TIMS Number and Percentage of Crash Types Local, County, and State ................43 
Figure 25: Intersection 1 Crash Diagram- 11 Collisions .............................................................65 
Figure 26: Intersection 2 Crash Diagram- 6 Collisions ...............................................................68 
Figure 27: Intersection 3 Crash Diagram- 6 Collisions ...............................................................71 
Figure 28: Intersection 4 Crash Diagram- 5 Collisions ...............................................................74 
Figure 29: Intersection 5 Crash Diagram- 4 Collisions ...............................................................77 
Figure 30: Intersection 6 Crash Diagram- 4 Collisions ...............................................................80 
Figure 31: Intersection 7 Crash Diagram- 3 Collisions ...............................................................83 
Figure 32: Intersection 8 Crash Diagram- 3 Collisions ...............................................................86 
Figure 33: Intersection 9 Crash Diagram- 3 Collisions ...............................................................89 
Figure 34: Intersection 10 Crash Diagram- 3 Collisions .............................................................92 
Figure 35: Intersection 11 Crash Diagram- 2 Collisions .............................................................95 
Figure 36: Roadway Segment 1 Crash Diagram - 12 Collisions ................................................98 
Figure 37: Roadway Segment 2 Crash Diagram- 7 Collisions ................................................. 101 
Figure 38: Roadway Segment 3 Crash Diagram- 6 Collisions ................................................. 104 
Figure 39: Roadway Segment 4 Crash Diagram- 5 Collisions ................................................. 107 
Figure 40: Roadway Segment 5 Crash Diagram- 5 Collisions ................................................. 110 
 

 

 

55



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
Mayor: Patricia Matthews 

Mayor Pro Tem: Frank Gornick  
Council Member: Stuart Lyons 
Council Member: David Orth 
Council Member: Jim Chaney 

 
PARTNERS 

City Departments: Administration, Community Development, Fire, Police & Public Works 
Caltrans District 6 

Lemoore Elementary School District 
Lemoore Union High School District 
Kings Area Regional Transit (KART) 

Lemoore Chamber of Commerce  
General Public of the City of Lemoore 

 
 

CITY STAFF 
City Manager: Nathan Olson 

Assistant City Manager: Michelle Speer 
Public Works Director: Frank Rivera 

Assistant Public Works Director: Diego Lopez 
Project Manager/Management Analyst: Randon Reeder 

Police Chief: Michael Kendall 
Fire Chief: Bruce German 

 
 
 
 
 

56



Executive Summary 
 
The objective of the City of Lemoore Local Roadway Safety Plan (LRSP) is to establish a safe 
transportation environment that has safer roads, safer people, safer speeds, and safer vehicles. 
As part of this safety plan for the City of Lemoore, Minagar & Associates, Inc. identified, 
prioritized, and analyzed roadway safety improvements on the City of Lemoore’s intersections 
and roadway segments. This safety plan also provides the proposed countermeasures that 
address collision patterns for both intersections and roadway segments, to ultimately reduce 
collisions in the City’s high collision locations. From January 1, 2017 until December 31, 2021, 
there has been a total of 430 collisions that included 1 fatality and 307 injured victims. The most 
common types of collision were Broadside (143), Rear-End (92), Sideswipe (71), and Hit-Object 
(71) Collisions. Primary Collision Factor (PCF) violations that caused the most collisions were 
Automobile Right of Way (100), Improper Turning (91), and Unsafe Speed (63), and Victims 
were mostly drivers (190) and passengers (92). There have been 11 collisions involved with 
pedestrians. The highest number of victims happened to be in the age range of 20 to 24 years 
old. A Local Road Safety Plan is a major element to ameliorate transportation and traffic safety 
within a city. This LRSP was prepared and developed in compliance with the State and Federal 
guidelines for eligibility to apply for the funding of Highway Safety Improvement Program 
(HSIP). In addition to the provided countermeasures for collision patterns, this Safety Plan also 
provides the corresponding cost estimates and benefit to cost ratios, to support applications for 
the Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP). 
  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

57



Statement of Protection of Data From Discovery and Admissions 
 
Per Section 148 of Title 23, United States Code [23 U.S.C. §148(h) (4)] REPORTS 
DISCOVERY AND ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF CERTAIN REPORTS, SURVEYS, AND 
INFORMATION—Notwithstanding any other provision of law, reports, surveys, schedules, lists, 
or data compiled or collected for any purpose relating to this section, shall not be subject to 
discovery or admitted into evidence in a Federal or State court proceeding or considered for 
other purposes in any action for damages arising from any occurrence at a location identified or 
addressed in the reports, surveys, schedules, lists, or other data. 
 
Per Section 409 of Title 23, United States Code [23 U.S.C. §409] DISCOVERY AND 
ADMISSION AS EVIDENCE OF CERTAIN REPORTS AND SURVEYS—Notwithstanding any 
other provision of law, reports, surveys, schedules, lists, or data compiled or collected for the 
purpose of identifying, evaluating, or planning the safety enhancement of potential accident 
sites, hazardous roadway conditions, or railway-highway crossings, pursuant to sections 130, 
144, and 148 of this title or for the purpose of developing any highway safety construction 
improvement project which may be implemented utilizing Federal-aid highway funds shall not be 
subject to discovery or admitted into evidence in a Federal or State court proceeding or 
considered for other purposes in any action for damages arising from any occurrence at a 
location mentioned or addressed in such reports, surveys, schedules, lists, or data. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



List of Acronyms  
AASHTO American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 
B/C Ratio Benefit-Cost Ratio 
Caltrans California Department of Transportation 
City City of Lemoore  
CMF Crash Modification Factor 
CRF Crash Reduction Factor 
DUI Driving Under the Influence 
FHWA Federal Highway Administration 
HSIP Highway Safety Improvement Program  
HSM 
IRWL 

Highway Safety Manual 
In-Roadway Warning Light  

KSI 
LRSM 

Killed or Severely Injured 
Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022) 

LRSP Local Roadway Safety Plan 
MUTCD Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
PCF Primary Collision Factor 
PDO 
RRFB 
SHSP 

Property Damage Only 
Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon 
Strategic Highway Safety Plan 

SWITRS Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System 
TIMS Transportation Injury Mapping System 
5Es The 5Es of Traffic Safety: Education, Engineering, Enforcement, Emergency 

Medical Services, Emerging Technologies 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59



 

1.   Introduction 
The City of Lemoore is taking the initiative to improve the City’s traffic safety by implementing a 
Local Roadway Safety Plan that aims to reduce traffic collisions by analyzing the factors that 
previously impacted prominent intersections and roadway segments in the City. This report 
documents the City of Lemoore’s work to assess and improve transportation safety conditions.  
 
In this Safety Plan, a systemic approach was utilized to identify and 
analyze collision patterns that had impacted high collision 
intersections and roadway segments. For each high collision 
location, whether it was an intersection or a roadway segment, a 
table of number of collisions with the corresponding primary 
collision factor has been provided to understand the prominent 
collision factors. As part of the collision analysis, collision diagrams 
have been provided for high collision intersections and roadway 
segments in the City of Lemoore. 
 
Following the understanding and acknowledgement of collision patterns, countermeasures for 
each of the identified high collision intersections and roadway segments, were developed to 
potentially reduce traffic collisions in the future and ameliorate active transportation within the 
City. Furthermore, this Local Roadway Safety Plan includes collision data for high collision 
locations between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2021, the analysis of collision data, and 
the proposed countermeasures for collision patterns. Depicted below in Figure 1 is the Local 
Road Safety Plan process provided by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). 
 

60



 
Figure 1: Local Road Safety Plan – Your Map to Safer Roadways 

2. Vision and Goals 
The objective of this plan is to strive towards a safer transportation environment by eliminating 
traffic fatalities and severe injuries while assuring efficient and equitable mobility for all road 
users. The City of Lemoore plans to implement systemic countermeasures to target factors 
affecting citywide prominent intersections and roadways segments.  This safety plan aims to 
reduce the risk of tragedies by taking a proactive, preventative approach that prioritizes traffic 
safety. 

Vision Zero is an initiative approach to eliminate traffic fatalities and 
severe injuries. Road users will sometimes make mistakes however, 
the road system, traffic control devices, and traffic laws should be 
designed to minimize those unavoidable mistakes and reduce their 
probability to result in severe injuries or fatalities. Transportation and 
traffic engineers are expected to improve the general traffic 
environment by ameliorating existing traffic geometries and laws 
based on a good engineering judgement. However, the roadway 
users of the City of Lemoore are still responsible for their mistakes 
and should follow all traffic laws. Source: www.archive.kpcc.org 

61



Vision Zero unifies diverse stakeholders who 
address the factors causing complexity when 
it comes to traffic safety. It recognizes that 
many factors contribute to safe mobility 
including roadway design, speeds, behaviors, 
technology, and enforced laws. As a result 
and as part of this safety plan, it sets goals to 
achieve zero fatalities and severe injuries.

One of the City’s visions is to collaborate 
with local agencies to promote a culture of 
continuous transportation safety 
improvement by coordinating with Lemoore
Police Department, Kings County
Department of Public Health, and Lemoore 
Elementary and Union High School Districts. 

The aforementioned Vision shall eliminate traffic fatalities and severe injuries by achieving the 
following goals:

Obtain accurate collision databases. Systematically identify and prioritize the City’s 
highest collision locations based on a 5-year collision history. 
Engage with the local community, stakeholders, and City management to better 
understand factors that are affecting the traffic safety within the City of Lemoore. 
Utilize countermeasure strategies across all traffic safety disciplines, engineering, 
enforcement, education, emergency medical services, and emerging technologies.
Strive to reduce the City’s primary contributing factors in traffic collisions by ensuring the 
automobile right of way, maintaining a safe speed, and clear traffic signals and signs.

3. Safety Partners
To promote and create a safe transportation environment, collaboration across agencies known 
as safety partners is a necessity. Safety partners are the agencies, departments, and 
organizations whose input and support are foundational to a successful Local Roadway Safety 
Plan. 

The safety leadership team is primarily comprised of City Departments that have key roles in the 
development, implementation, and operation of safety projects, programs, and policies. The 
safety leadership team is ultimately responsible for developing, adopting, and implementing the 
safety plan and program. The stakeholder team is distinguished from the leadership team. It 
comprises partner agencies and organizations who collaborate with the City and contribute to 
and assist with developing and implementing the plan. These agencies and their roles in the 
plan’s development and implementation are provided below:

3.1 Safety Leadership 
I.   City Council
The legislative body which is ultimately responsible for approving and adopting the final plan, 
setting safety policies, and approving budget and funding levels.

Source: www.visionzeronetwrok.org

Source: U.S. Department of Transportation

62



II.   Public Works Department 
Public Works is the lead City Department in developing and producing the Safety Plan and its 
periodic updates. The Public Works Department is responsible for assembling other City 
Departments and collaborating with Stakeholders. Public Works is responsible for capital project 
implementation. The City’s Public Works staff may also lead or collaborate in education 
campaigns. 
 
III.   Lemoore Police Department 
The Police Department maintains collision records and is responsible for carrying out 
enforcement practices and activities. The City’s Police Department may also lead or collaborate 
in education campaigns. 
 
IV.   Lemoore Fire Department 
The City’s Fire Department serves in a support role in developing and producing the plan. 
 

3.2 Stakeholders  
I.   Lemoore Public Works Department 
Lemoore Public Works will lead the City Department in developing and producing the Safety 
Plan and its periodic updates. Both respective city public works departments can benefit from 
each other in this joint effort. 
 
II.   Lemoore Police Department 
Roadways and functional areas of intersections require communication and collaboration. 
Collaboration with the Lemoore Police Department over the course of the safety plan is needed 
to ensure that local safety goals and policies are met.  
 
III. Lemoore Fire Department 
The City’s Fire Department serves in a support role in developing and producing the plan. 
 
IV.  Kings Area Regional Transit (KART) 
KART provides transportation services to the cities of Armona, Avenal, Corcoran, Grangeville, 
Hardwick, Hanford, Kettleman City, Laton, Lemoore, and Stratford. Kings Area Regional Transit 
(KART) is Kings County’s public transportation provider. KART provides public transit service 
Monday through Friday and limited service on Saturdays. 
 
V.  Caltrans District 6 
The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) District 6 is headquartered in Fresno. 
This geographically diverse district is the second largest of the 12 Districts statewide, stretching 
from the southernmost part of Yosemite National Park in the north to the Mojave Desert. It 
includes Madera, Fresno, Tulare, Kings and Kern counties. From mountain peaks to desert 
floor, District 6 consists of 476 miles of freeway and 1,554 miles of rural and urban highway. 
The District has the largest portion of road miles to maintain in the state highway system with 
2,030 miles. Interstate 5 and State Route 99 run the length of District 6, serving as the main 
north-south arteries for not just the Central Valley, but for the entire state as well. These two 
routes carry a significant amount of truck traffic that is vital to the agricultural base of the region. 
 
VI.  Lemoore Chamber of Commerce 

63



The Lemoore Chamber of Commerce coordinates engagement with City businesses. The 
Chamber of Commerce provides feedback on recommended strategies and countermeasures to 
addressing traffic safety issues. Feedback from the Business community can provide valuable 
insight on the benefits and impacts of safety measures. 
 
VII.  General Public of the City of Lemoore 
The general public provides feedback and insight on recommended emphasis areas, high 
incident locations, collision factors, countermeasures, and implementation. Although collision 
records and statistics are foundational to this plan, public feedback is a critical supplement to 
that data. This feedback provides the safety plan with a holistic view of safety issues and a 
recommendation for what types of countermeasures are and are not desired by the community. 
 
VIII. Lemoore Elementary and Union High School Districts 
Collaboration with the Lemoore Elementary and Union High School Districts and to maintain 
and promote safety for all students and staff within the City of Lemoore. 
 
VIIII. The Kings County Association of Governments (KCAG) 
KCAG is a metropolitan planning organization (MPO) for the Kings County region. We are a 
joint powers authority whose member agencies include the county of Kings and the cities of 
Avenal, Corcoran, Hanford, and Lemoore. 
 

4. Process 
This section describes the steps involved in preparing the safety 
plan, including a systemic approach that involves the analysis of 
collision data to identify high crash locations and prioritize 
countermeasures. 

4.1 Systemic Approach  
The systemic approach in preparing the safety plan comprises the 
following steps: 

I.   Develop Plan Goals and Objectives  
Review the City’s existing planning documents to ensure the LRSP visions and goals align with 
planning effort and that the potential 5Es: Engineering, Education, Enforcement, Emergency 
Medical Services, and Emerging Technologies are consistent with local traffic safety and 
policies. 
 
II.   Analyze Collision Data 
Obtain the latest 5-year collision data and analyze the collision factors. Determine high-risk 
intersections and roadway segments and identify significant risk factors. 
 
III.   Determine Focus Areas and Identify Crash Reduction Measures 
Identify emphasis areas and recommend feasible countermeasures at high-risk locations. 
Evaluate Crash Reduction Factor (CRF) and the effectiveness of each countermeasure. 
 
IV.   Prioritize countermeasures/projects  
Conduct Benefit-Cost Ratio (BCR) analysis on all countermeasures and projects. Prioritize 
projects that are most beneficial to the City’s roadway and intersection safety using BCR. 

64



 
V.   Prepare the Local Roadway Safety Plan 
Prepare the LRSP that includes effective and efficient measures and implementation plan. 
Identify priority projects for state or federal programming, grant funding opportunities, and 
implementation. 
 

4.2 Public Outreach 
The purpose of public outreach is to acquire the community’s concerns that are related to the 
safety of traffic. Such concerns may include speeding, jay walking, traffic signs and signals, 
pedestrian and bicycle safety on collector roads, and arterial streets. Public outreach is an 
essential tool to identify and summarize high-risk locations and collision factors based on the 
community’s concerns in addition to the collision analysis. 
 
The target audience for the public outreach of this safety plan is the residents of the City of 
Lemoore which include the following: 
 

 Lemoore City Council 
 Lemoore Public Works 
 Lemoore Police Department  
 Lemoore Fire Department 
 Lemoore Elementary School District 
 Lemoore Union High School District  
 Caltrans District 6 
 Kings County Association of Governments (KCAG) 
 Kings Area Regional Transit (KART) 
 Lemoore Chamber of Commerce 
 General Public of the City of Lemoore 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

65



5. Existing Efforts
This section summarizes the findings from various planning documents for the City of Lemoore. 
The purpose of reviewing existing planning efforts is to ensure the LRSP goals and objectives 
along with recommended improvements are aligned with recent planning efforts for 
transportation safety. 

The City of Lemoore has identified several goals, policies from the following documents:

City of Lemoore 2030 General Plan (2008) 
The 2030 Lemoore General Plan is a planning document 
created based on input from City officials and residents. It 
articulates a vision of what the Lemoore community aspires 
to be in the year 2030. The Plan builds on what people love 
about Lemoore – its relaxed pace of life, safe 
neighborhoods, community, and small town atmosphere – 
and strives to maintain what is good and desirable as it 
grows into the future. The Plan translates these ideas into a 
set of policies and actions that will help decision-makers 
shape how Lemoore looks, provides services, and manages 
resources through 2030. 

City of Lemoore 2030 Draft Environmental Report (EIR) Transportation (2008) 
This section evaluates potential transportation impacts 
resulting from implementation of the proposed General Plan. 
This impact analysis examines the roadway, truck route, 
transit, bicycle/pedestrian, and rail components of the overall 
transportation system. Impacts are evaluated based upon a 
comparison between existing conditions and future 
conditions with buildout of the proposed General Plan. The 
existing physical and regulatory conditions for the 
transportation system are described below. This section 
provides an overview of existing transportation infrastructure 
and services including public transit, non-motorized 
components, as well as current operating conditions within 
the Planning Area.   

City of Lemoore 2030 Draft Environmental Report (EIR) Circulation (2008) 
The Circulation Element is intended to provide guidance 
and specific actions to ensure the continued safe and 
efficient operation of Lemoore’ circulation system. The 
Element is based on a fundamental philosophy that traffic 
conditions in the City can be managed through a 
comprehensive program of transportation planning, land use 
planning, and growth management strategies. This Element 
includes provisions for roadways, truck routes, transit, rail 
use, pedestrian, and bicycle transportation modes, as well 
as parking.

66



6. Data Analysis and Summary
This section summarizes the results of a citywide collision analysis for the time period between 
January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2021. The purpose of studying the collision patterns and 
trends is to identify the factors that caused collisions to occur within the study timeframe. The 
focus is to identify high crash locations in the City in order to target the factors that are affecting 
these prominent locations. 

As part of the City’s Local Roadway Safety Plan, data that displays collisions on State Routes or 
Interstate Freeways will not be part of the overall data analysis as well as collision data that 
does not occur within the City’s boundaries. Therefore, data used and analyzed will be 100% 
within city boundaries and on local roads.

6.1 Overall Summary
According to the University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
during the period of January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2021, there were 430 collisions in total, 
where collisions included fatal, serious injury, visible injury, complaint of pain, and property 
damage only. 33 occurred on State Highways and 397 Occurred on local roadways. 1 victim 
was killed, and 307 victims were injured. There were 11 pedestrian collisions, 11 bike collisions, 
and 7 motorcycle collisions. A map from the University of California, Berkeley Transportation 
Injury Mapping System (TIMS) displays collisions by point as well as a map that displays 
collisions by cluster is shown in Figures 2 and 3.  

Figure 2: City of Lemoore Display of Collisions by Point 
(January 1, 2017 – December 31, 2021)

Lemoore Kings County

Le
m

oo
re

A
ve

19
th

A
ve

D St

Cedar Ln

Iona Ave

Bush St

Cinnamon St

Hanford Armona Rd

Lemoore

rd ArmArm

Le
m

oo
re

A
ve

Cinnamnna

19
th

A
ve

D St

Collisions by Crash Severity

67



Figure 3: City of Lemoore Display of Collisions by Cluster 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

C
lu

st
er

 o
f C

ol
lis

io
ns

 S
ca

le

Lemoore Kings County

Le
m

oo
re

A
ve

19
th

A
ve

D St

Cedar Ln

Iona Ave

Bush St

Cinnamon St

Hanford Armona Rd

Lemoore

Le
m

oo
re

A
ve

innamnnam

19
th

A
ve

D St

S
R

-4
1

68



Figure 4: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Crash Severity 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

Figure 4 displays number of crashes by crash severity, where the data is retrieved from 
California Highway Patrol (CHP) Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System. From 2017 to 
2021, there was 1 fatal collision, which was 0.23% of total collisions; 20 injury (severe) 
collisions, which was 5% of total collisions; 111 injury (other visible) collisions (26% of total 
collisions); 61 injury (complaint of pain) collisions (14%), and 237 property damage only 
collisions (55%), which represented the greatest number of collisions in the 5-year span.

69



Figure 5: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Type of Crash 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

From 2017 to 2021, City of Lemoore’s types of collision were reported by California Highway 
Patrol’s (CHP) Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System SWITRS database. There were 143
Broadside collisions during the selected period of time. This was the most common type of 
collision, which was 33% of total collisions in the City of Lemoore. Rear End was the second 
common type, which was 21% of the total (92 collisions). There were 71 Sideswipe and Hit Object 
collisions, making it the third common type of collision (17% of the total). 

70



Table 1: Number of Crashes per Day of Week per Time 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Total Crashes (430)  
 Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday SCALE 

00:00 - 02:59 1 2 4 1 1 5 4 0 
03:00 - 05:59 2 1 0 4 0 2 2 4 
06:00 - 08:59 10 11 6 11 13 4 4 8 
09:00 - 11:59 6 2 10 4 11 9 4 

12 12:00 - 14:59 14 14 14 16 7 14 11 
15:00 - 17:59 18 13 20 10 18 8 5 

16 18:00 - 20:59 11 9 9 10 12 12 8 
21:00 - 23:59 8 5 3 3 8 11 5 

20 25:00 - Unknown 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
 

KSI Crashes* (21)  
 Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday SCALE 

00:00 - 02:59 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 03:00 - 05:59 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
06:00 - 08:59 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 

1 09:00 - 11:59 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 
12:00 - 14:59 2 1 0 1 0 1 0 
15:00 - 17:59 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 

2 18:00 - 20:59 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 
21:00 - 23:59 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 

25:00 - Unknown 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
*Killed and Severely Injured (KSI) Crashes are included in the Total Number of Crashes (430) 

Collisions in the City of Lemoore were listed for different time periods for each day of the week. 1 
collision occurred on a Monday for the time period from 0:00 to 2:59 and 2 collisions from 3:00 to 
5:59. 10 collisions from 6:00 to 8:59, 6 collisions from 9:00 to 11:59. There were 14 collisions that 
occurred in the time period of 12:00 to 14:59, 18 collisions that occurred from 15:00 to 17:59, 
which was the most on Mondays, 11 collisions from 18:00 to 20:59, and 8 collisions from 21:00 
to 23:59. Monday was tied for having the greatest number of collisions of 70. 

Tuesday from 0:00 to 2:59 had 2 collisions, 1 collision from 3:00 to 5:59, 11 collisions from 6:00 
to 8:59, and 2 collisions from 9:00 to 11:59. In the afternoon, there were 14 collisions that occurred 
from 12:00 to 14:59, which was the highest of Tuesday, 13 collisions from 15:00 to 17:59, 9 
collisions from 18:00 to 20:59, and 5 collisions from 21:00 to 23:59. There were 57 collisions in 
total for Tuesday. 

On Wednesdays, TIMS recorded 4 collisions from 0:00 to 2:59 and 0 collisions from 3:00 to 5:59. 
6 collisions from 6:00 to 8:59, 10 collisions from 9:00 to 11:59. 14 collisions occurred during the 
periods between 12:00 to 14:59 and 20 collisions from 15:00 to 17:59, the highest of any day or 
time of the week. 9 collisions occurred from 18:00 to 20:59, and 3 collisions occurred during the 
time of 21:00 to 23:59. Wednesday had 66 collisions, making the second highest day with 
collisions. 

71



Thursdays had 1 collision from 0:00 to 2:59, 4 collisions from 3:00 to 5:59, 11 collisions occur 
from 6:00 to 8:59, 4 collisions occur at 9:00 to 11:59, and 16 collisions occur during 12:00 to 
14:59, 10 collisions from 15:00 to 17:59, 10 collisions from 18:00 to 20:59. Lastly, there were 3 
collisions from 21:00 to 23:59. 

There was 1 collision from 0:00 to 2:59 and 0 collisions from 3:00 to 5:59 on Fridays, 13 collisions 
from 6:00 to 8:59, and 11 collisions 9:00 to 11:59. 7 collisions from 12:00 to 14:59, 18 collisions 
from 15:00 to 17:59, which was the most of Friday. 12 collisions during the periods 18:00 to 20:59, 
and 8 collisions from 21:00 to 23:59.   

On Saturdays, 5 collisions occurred from 0:00 to 2:59, 2 collisions occurred from 3:00 to 5:59 and 
4 collisions occurred during 6:00 to 8:59. 9 collisions occurred from 9:00 to 11:59. 14 collisions 
occurred from 12:00 to 14:59, the most for Saturday, and 8 collisions occurred from 15:00 to 
17:59. There were 12 collisions happening between 18:00 to 20:59 and 11 collisions from 21:00 
to 23:59.  

There were 4 collisions was recorded from 0:00 to 2:59, 2 collisions from the time periods 3:00 to 
5:59, and 4 collisions from 6:00 to 8:59 on Sunday. 4 collisions occurred from 9:00 to 11:59, 11 
collisions from 12:00 to 14:59, 5 collisions from 15:00 to 17:59, and 8 collisions from 18:00 to 
20:59. Lastly, there were 5 collisions occurred from 21:00 to 23:59.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

72



continued…

73



Figure 6: Number of Crashes by (PCF) Primary Crash Factor Violation 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

According to CHP SWITRS, the Primary Collision Factor (PCF) violation that caused the most 
collisions in the City of Lemoore (430 Crashes Total) were Automobile Right of Way, which 
resulted in 100 collisions (23%). The second most being 91 collisions were reported with PCF 
violation (21%). Unsafe speed made up of 63 collisions (15%), being the third most. 

74



6.2 Victim Summary

Figure 7: Number of Victims by Victim Degree of Injury 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

There were 308 injured victims of traffic collisions in the City of Lemoore from 2017 to 2021. 1 
victim was killed (0.32%), 22 victims reported with suspected serious injury (7%), 160 victims 
reported with suspected minor injury (52%), and 125 victims were reported with possible injury 
(41%).  

75



Figure 8: Number of Victims by Victim Role
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

According to University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS), of 
the collision injured victims, 190 were drivers (62%), 92 were passengers (30%), 11 were 
pedestrians (4%), 11 were bicyclists (4%), and 3 were other (1%). 

76



Figure 9: Number of Victims by Victim Safety Equipment 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

77



Figure 10: Number of Victims by Victim Gender and Age 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

For the total of 308 victims during the 5-year period, 55% of victims were females, 45% were 
males. 30 victims were 14 years old or younger, 43 victims were 15-19 years old, 55 victims 
were 20-24 years old, which was the highest number of victims for this age range. 34 victims 
were 25-29 years old, 30 victims were 30-34 years old, 21 victims were 35-39 years old, 11
victims were 40-44 years old. 15 victims were in the age range of 45-49 years old, 18 victims 
were in the age range of 50-54 years old, 13 victims were in the age range of 55-59 years old, 
and 16 victims were in the age range of 60-64 years old. 10 victims were 65-69 years old, 5 
victims were 70-74 years old, and 2 were 75-79 years old. Lastly, 4 victims were at the age 
between 80-84 years old and 1 victim age 85 or higher.  

78



6.3 Pedestrian Crash Summary

Party 
Violation 

Classification

Type of 
Violation

Description Count %

Driver 21950 Driver failure to yield right-of-way to 
pedestrians at a marked or unmarked 

crosswalk

5 45.45%

Driver 21952 Driver failure to yield right-of-way to 
pedestrians on sidewalks

2 18.81%

Driver 21804 Driver failure to yield right-of-way 
when entering/crossing a highway

1 9.09%

Driver 22350 Speeding on the highway / Driving at a 
dangerously high speed given 

highway conditions like weather, 
visibility, traffic, and highway 

measurements, or driving at a speed 
that endangers people or property

1 9.09%

Driver 22106 Unsafe starting or backing of a vehicle 
on a highway

1 9.09%

Unclear 22107 Unsafe turning or moving right or left 
on a roadway Turning without 

signaling

1 9.09%

Total 11 100%

Figure 11: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Type of Violation 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

79



Pedestrian Action Count %
B - Crossing in Crosswalk at Intersection 5 46%
C - Crossing in Crosswalk Not at Intersection 1 9%
D - Crossing Not in Crosswalk 1 9%
E - In Road, Including Shoulder 2 18%
F - Not in Road 2 18%

Total 11 100%

Figure 12: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Pedestrian Action 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

80



Figure 13: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Lighting 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

Lighting Count %
A - Daylight 8 73%

C - Dark - Street Lights 2 18%

D - Dark - No Street Lights 1 9%

Total 11 100%

81



Figure 14: City of Lemoore Number of Crashes by Weather 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

Weather Count %
A - Clear 10 95%

C - Raining 1 5%
Total 11 100%

82



6.4 Active Transportation Program (ATP) Summary Data & Maps
From 2017 to 2021 there has been 11 pedestrian collisions and 11 bicycle collisions. Out of the 
11 pedestrian collisions, there were 2 severe injuries and 9 were visible injuries. Out of the 11
bicycle collisions, 2 were severe injury and 18 were visible. The following figure displays the 
City’s ATP heat map. 

Figure 15: City of Lemoore Active Transportation Program Heat Map 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

83



Figure 16: City of Lemoore Transportation Program Hexagonal Grid Map
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

84



Figure 17: City of Lemoore Active Transportation Program Specific Collision Map 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

85



Figure 18: Active Transportation Program Number of Crashes by Crash Severity
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

According to University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS), 
from 2017 to 2021, there was 0 fatal collisions (0%), 4 severe injury collisions (18%), 18 visible 
injury collisions (82%), and 0 complaint of pain collisions (0%). 

Crash Severity Count %
1 - Fatal 0 0%
2 - Injury (Severe) 4 18%
3 - Injury (Other Visible) 18 82%
4 - Injury (Complaint of Pain) 0 0%

Total 22 100

86



Figure 19: Active Transportation Program Number of Crashes by Type of Crash 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

There was 1 sideswipe collision (4.5%), 5 broadside collisions (22.7%), 1 Hit Object collisions
(4.5%), 11 Vehicle/Pedestrian (50%) which makes up the majority type of collisions, and 4 other 
collisions (18.2%). 

Type of Crash Count %
Not Stated 0 0.0%
A - Head-On 0 0.0%
B - Sideswipe 1 4.5%
C - Rear End 0 0.0%
D - Broadside 5 22.7%
E - Hit Object 1 4.5%
F - Overturned 0 0.0%
G - Vehicle/Pedestrian 11 50.0%
H - Other 4 18.2%

Total 22 100%

87



Table 2: Active Transportation Program Number of Crashes per Day of Week per Time  
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

 Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Scale 
00:00 - 02:59 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
03:00 - 05:59 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 
06:00 - 08:59 0 1 2 1 2 0 0 

1 09:00 - 11:59 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 
12:00 - 14:59 2 1 0 0 1 0 1 
15:00 - 17:59 2 0 0 1 0 1 1 

2 18:00 - 20:59 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 
21:00 - 23:59 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

25:00 - Unknown 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
*Active Transportation Program (ATP) Crashes are included in the Total Number of Crashes (430) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

88



Figure 20: Number of Crashes by Primary Crash Factor PCF Violation

According to University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS) 
From 2017 to 2021, out of the 22 collisions, 1 collision had (0-Unknown), 3 collisions had (03-
Unsafe Speed), 2 collisions had (05-Wrong Side of Road), 2 collisions had (08-Improper 
Turning), 5 collisions had (09-Automobile Right of Way), 7 collisions had (10-Pedestrian Right of 
Way), 1 collision had (12-Traffic Signals and Signs), finally 1 collision had (21-Unsafe Starting or 
Backing) as PCF Violation.  

PCF Violation Count %
0 - Unknown 1 4.5%
3 - Unsafe Speed 3 13.6%
5 - Wrong Side of Road 2 9.1%
8 - Improper Turning 2 9.1%
9 - Automobile Right of Way 5 22.7%
10 - Pedestrian Right of Way 7 31.8%
12 - Traffic Signals and Signs 1 4.5%
21- Unsafe Starting or Backing 1 4.5%

Total 22 100%

89



6.5 Crash Data Comparison and Analysis

Crash Severity
Count (%)

Lemoore, CA Kings County California
1 Fatal 1 (1%) 97 (3%) 17,815 (2%)
2 Injury (Severe) 20 (10%) 318 (11%) 68,669 (8%)
3 Injury (Other Visible) 111 (58%) 1,196 (41%) 283,632 (32%)
4 Injury (Complaint of Pain) 61 (32%) 1,304 (45%) 520,717 (58%)

Total 193 (100%) 2,915 (100%) 890,833 (100%)
Figure 21: TIMS Number and Percentage of Crash Severity Types in Terms of Local, 

County, and State
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

From the Transportation Injury Mapping System, the Statewide Integrated Traffic Records 
System contains crash data reported to California Highway Patrol (CHP) from the local and 
governmental agencies. From Figure 21, crash severity data is compared in the local, county, 
and state level. From the period between January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2021, City of 
Lemoore percentage proportions for 1) Fatal (1%), and 4) Injury-Complaint of Pain (32%) crash 
severity is lower than the county (3%, 45%) and state (2%, 58%) categories. The percentage of 
3) Injury-Other Visible (58%) is higher than the county (41%) and state (32%) categories. The 
percentage of 2) Injury-Severe (10%) is lower than the county (11%) and higher than state (8%)
categories. The data displayed shows a higher percentage of visible injuries and lower 
percentage of fatal and complaint of pain injury for the City of Lemoore, when compared to 
Kings County and State of California. This data was not inclusive of property damage only 
(PDO) related crashes.

90



Victims
Count (%)

Lemoore, CA Kings County California
Killed 1 (0.3%) 117 (2.7%) 19,330 (1.5%)
Injured 307 (99.7%) 4,255 (97.3%) 1,248,201 (98.5%)

Total 308 (100%) 4,372 (100%) 1,267,531 (100%)
Figure 22: TIMS Number and Percentage of Victims in Terms of Local, County, and State

(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

From the Transportation Injury Mapping System, the Statewide Integrated Traffic Records 
System contains crash data reported to California Highway Patrol (CHP) from the local and 
governmental agencies. From Figure 22, number of victims killed and injured is compared in the 
local, county, and state level. From the period between January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2021, 
the data displayed shows that the City of Lemoore has a low victims killed percentage (0.3%) 
compared to 2.7% of Kings County and 1.5% of California. Looking at the injury percentage, the 
City of Lemoore has the higher percentage of injured victims (99.7%) compared to Kings County 
(97.3%) and California (98.5%). This data was not inclusive of property damage only (PDO) 
related crashes.

91



Crash Location
Count (%)

Lemoore, CA Kings County California
State Highway 18 (9%) 892 (31%) 304,365 (34%)
Non-State Highway 175 (91%) 2,023 (69%) 586,468 (66%)

Total 193 (100%) 2,915 (100%) 890,833 (100%)
Figure 23: TIMS Number and Percentage of Crash Locations in Terms of Local, County, 

and State
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

From the Transportation Injury Mapping System, the Statewide Integrated Traffic Records 
System contains crash data reported to California Highway Patrol (CHP) from the local and 
governmental agencies. From Figure 23, crash location data is compared in the local, county, 
and state level. From the period between January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2021, City of 
Lemoore percentage proportion for State highway crashes (9%) is significantly lower than the 
county (31%) and state (34%) categories. The percentage Non-State Highway (91%) is much 
higher than the county (69%) and state (66%) categories. The data displayed shows a higher 
number of crashes that happened on local roadway than State Highway in terms of percentage 
proportion for the City of Lemoore, compared to Kings County and California. This data was not 
inclusive of property damage only (PDO) related crashes.

92



Crash Type
Count (%)

Lemoore, CA Kings County California
Pedestrian Crashes 11 (5.7%) 137 (4.7%) 65,666 (7.4%)
Bike Crashes 11 (5.7%) 94 (3.2%) 48,250 (5.4%)
Motorcycles Crashes 7 (3.6%) 133 (4.6%) 64,633 (7.3%)
Vehicle/Other Crashes 164 (85%) 2,551 (87.5%) 712,284 (80%)

Total 193 (100%) 2,915 (100%) 890,833 (100%)
Figure 24: TIMS Number and Percentage of Crash Types in Terms of Local, County, and 

State
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

From the Transportation Injury Mapping System, the Statewide Integrated Traffic Records 
System contains crash data reported to California Highway Patrol (CHP) from the local and 
governmental agencies. From Figure 24, crash type data is compared in the local, county, and 
state level. From the period between January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2021, City of Lemoore
percentage proportion bike crashes (6%) is higher than the county (3%) and state (5%). 
Meanwhile, the percentage for motorcycle crashes for the city (7%) was lower than the county 
(5%) and state (7%) categories. In terms of pedestrian crashes, Lemoore (6%) was in between 
Kings County (5%) and California (7%); and for vehicle/other crashes, Lemoore (85%) was in 
between Kings County (88%) and California (80%). This data was not inclusive of property 
damage only (PDO) related crashes.

93



6.5 California Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) Ranking 
Table 3: City of Lemoore OTS Crash Ranking Results 2020  

94



The OTS Rankings were developed so that individual cities could compare their city’s traffic 
safety statistics to those of other cities with similar-sized populations. Cities could use these 
comparisons to see what areas they may have problems in and which they were doing well in. 
The results helped both cities and OTS identify emerging or on-going traffic safety problem 
areas in order to help plan how to combat the problems and help with the possibility of 
facilitating grants It should be noted that OTS rankings are only indicators of potential problems; 
there are many factors that may either understate or overstate a city/county ranking that must 
be evaluated based on local circumstances. City rankings are for incorporated cities only, for 
local streets in those cities, and state highways that run through cities with shared jurisdiction 
with the CHP and the city. 

Crash rankings are based on the Empirical Bayesian Ranking Method, which adds weights to 
different statistical categories including observed crash counts, population and vehicle miles 
traveled.  The crash counts reflect the aggregated impacts of all influential factors containing 
even the unrecognized or unmeasurable ones (e.g., level of enforcement), and the population 
and vehicle miles traveled represent the important traffic exposure factors that affect crash 
occurrence. Counties are assigned statewide rankings, while cities are assigned population 
group rankings. The first table: Population – estimates matched to “Year”. DVMT – Daily Vehicle 
Miles Traveled. Caltrans estimate of the total number of miles all vehicles traveled on that city’s 
streets on an average day during that year. The number of cities in each group varies by year. 

Cities are grouped by 2019 population: Group A – 15 cities, populations over 250,000, Group B 
– 59 cities, population 100,001-250,000, Group C – 105 cities, population 50,001-100,000, 
Group D – 94cities, population 25,001-50,000, Group E – 103 cities, population 10,001-25,000, 
Group F – 74 cities, population 2,501-10,000, Group G – 32 cities, population 1-2,500. City of 
Lemoore is in Group D with an average population of 27,225. Number 1 in the rankings is the 
highest, or “worst.” For example, a ranking of 1/74 is the highest or worst, 45/74 is average, and 
74/74 is the lowest or best. 

 Center Table: Type of Crash – This column delineates the different types of crashes 
OTS has chosen to show in the rankings. These represent the types with larger 
percentages of total killed and injured and areas of focus for the OTS grant program. 
Victims Killed and Injured – This column shows the number of fatalities and injuries 
aggregated. Damage-only or fender-bender crashes are not included. Ranking – This 
column shows what ranking that city has as compared to other comparably sized 
incorporated cities in California for that particular type of crash. The first number is that 
city’s ranking for that type of crash. The second number is the total number of 
cities/counties within that population grouping. Types of Crashes: Total Fatal and Injury 
– The total number of victims involved in all crashes where there were fatalities and/or 
injuries in that city/county. Alcohol Involved – Crashes in which there were victims killed 
or injured where a party (driver, pedestrian, bicyclist) was classified as “Had Been 
Drinking.” Had Been Drinking Driver <21 – Crashes in which there were victims killed or 
injured where a driver who was under the age of 21 had been drinking. Had Been 
Drinking Driver 21-34 – Crashes in which there were victims killed or injured where a 
driver who was between the ages of 21 and 34 had been drinking. Motorcycles – 
Crashes in which there were victims killed or injured and a motorcycle was involved. 
Pedestrians – Crashes in which there were victims killed or injured and a pedestrian was 

95



involved. Pedestrians <15 – Crashes in which there were victims killed or injured and a 
pedestrian under the age of 15 was involved. Pedestrians 65+ – Crashes in which there 
were victims killed or injured and a pedestrian age 65 and older was involved. Bicycles – 
Crashes in which there were victims killed or injured and a bicyclist was involved. 
Bicycles <15 – Crashes in which there were victims killed or injured and a bicyclist under 
age 15 was involved. Composite – Figures which show rankings only, an aggregate of 
several of the other rankings (Had Been Drinking 21-34, Had Been Drinking Under21, 
Alcohol Involved, Hit & Run, Nighttime and Speed crashes). These figures are a means 
to give an indication of over-all traffic safety. Bottom table: Speed Related – Crashes in 
which there were victims killed or injured where speed was the primary factor. Bottom 
table: Nighttime (9:00pm – 2:59am) – Crashes in which there were victims killed or 
injured that occurred between those hours, which are prime hours for DUI, speeding and 
drowsy driving crashes. Hit and Run – Crashes in which there were victims killed or 
injured and a driver left the scene. *DUI Arrests – DUI arrest figures are shown for cities 
only, not counties. The number of cities ranked against may be different than from the 
number of cities in the other categories. Not all cities report DUI arrests to the 
Department of Justice.  

The City of Lemoore with a composite score of 19/94 (Below 25%) is below average in 
comparison to other incorporated cities with similar population in the most recent OTS 
ranking as of 2019. Based on “Types of Crashes”, total fatal and injury resulted to be 59 
victims killed or injured, which ranked 45/94, which places the city below 50%. The City of 
Lemoore performed very well in the speed related fatal and injury crashes with 3, ranking 
the city at 88/94. The city also performed well in terms of DUI arrests made, with 68 and 
placed the city at 67/94.  

The City of Lemoore with a composite score of 65/91 (Above 30%) is above average in 
comparison to other incorporated cities with similar population in the most recent OTS 
ranking as of 2020. Based on “Types of Crashes”, total fatal and injury resulted to be 33 
victims killed or injured, which ranked 53/91, which places the city in the top 50%. The City 
of Lemoore performed very well in the speed related fatal and injury crashes with 1, ranking 
the city at 84/91. The city also performed well in terms of DUI arrests made, with 76 and 
placed the city at 79/91.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

96



7. Emphasis Areas 
The project team identified four major emphasis areas for the city by utilizing the 
aforementioned analysis that included primary collision factors. The Strategic Highway Safety 
Plan (SHSP) addresses the “5 Es” of traffic safety: Engineering, Enforcement, Education, 
Emergency Response, and Emerging Technologies. Each emphasis area utilizes the 5 Es 
addressed by SHSP, the following emphasis areas are discussed and analyzed in this section. 

1. High Collision Intersections  
2. High Collision Roadway Segments  
3. Broadside Collisions Due to Automobile Right-of-Way 
4. Rear End Collisions Due to Unsafe Speeds  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

97



7.1 High Collision Intersections 
The most prominent emphasis area is high collision intersections 
since most of the collisions in the City of Lemoore occurred on 
intersections. Each intersection has its own unique geometry 
therefore, an analysis of each of the prominent eleven (11) 
intersections in the City of Lemoore was concluded to understand 
the factors leading to collisions.  

Education 
 Conduct public information and education 

campaign for safety laws regarding a safe 
approach to an intersection. 

 Raise awareness of the necessity of abiding 
by the traffic safety laws.  

 
Engineering 

 Identify and rank high collision intersections within the City every two to three 
years. Consider information obtained from public input and feedback regarding 
unreported collisions to supplement crash data. 

 Evaluate the primary factors leading to collisions at high collision roadway 
segments. 

 Develop and implement countermeasures to tackle those factors. 
 Assess and report collision patterns before and after implementation of 

countermeasures and adjust as necessary. 
 Maintain roadway signing and striping. 
 Consider improving night time lighting. 

Enforcement 
 Prioritize patrol patterns at high-risk intersections to monitor traffic law violations 

which include right of way violations, traffic signals and signs, unsafe speed, and 
DUI. 

  When laws are enforced and awareness of abiding by traffic safety laws is 
raised, intersection collisions will reduce abundantly. 

 
Emergency Medical Services 

 Consider targeted training for responding to specific high collision intersections 
and immediate treatment of predominant injuries at those locations. 

 
 

Emerging Technologies 
 Develop new methods to integrate multisource transportation data for developing 

different measurements of traffic safety for road users and identify safety issues 
associated with emerging electrical and automated vehicles. 

 

98



7.2 High Collision Roadway Segments 
Applying safety improvements to high collision roadway segments is 
also a necessity. Each roadway segment has its own unique geometry 
therefore, an analysis of each of the prominent five (5) roadway 
segments in the City of Lemoore was concluded to understand the 
factors leading to collisions that occurred. 

 
Education 

 Conduct public information and education campaign 
for safety laws regarding safe speed, improper turning, 
unsafe lane change, and driving on the wrong side of 
the road  

 Raise awareness of the necessity of abiding by the 
traffic safety laws. 

 
Engineering 

 Identify and rank high collision roadway segments within the City every two to 
three years. Consider information obtained from public input and feedback 
regarding unreported collisions to supplement crash data. 

 Evaluate the primary factors leading to collisions at high collision roadway 
segments. 

 Develop and implement countermeasures to tackle those factors. 
 Assess and report collision patterns before and after implementation of 

countermeasures and adjust as necessary. 
 Maintain roadway signing and striping. 
 Consider improving night time lighting. 

Enforcement 
 Prioritize patrol patterns at high collision roadway segments to monitor traffic law 

violations which include unsafe speed and improper turning.  
 When laws are enforced and awareness of abiding by traffic safety laws is 

raised, roadway segment collisions will reduce abundantly. 
 
Emergency Medical Services 

 Consider targeted training for responding to specific high collision roadway 
segments and immediate treatment of predominant injuries at those locations. 

 

 

Emerging Technologies 
 Develop new methods to integrate multisource transportation data for developing 

different measurements of traffic safety for road users and identify safety issues 
associated with emerging electrical and automated vehicles. 

Source: Beverly Samperio, The Arrow 

99



7.3 Broadside Collisions Due to Automobile Right-of 
Way 

Broadside collisions ranked the highest type of collisions with a total 
count of one hundred and forty-three (143) collisions out of 430 total 
crashes (33%). Broadside collisions occurred due to the primary collision 
factor (PCF) of automobile right-of-way (84) Analysis was performed on 
these intersections that contained these specific traffic collisions. 

Education 

 Conduct public information and education 
campaign for safety laws regarding the undesired 
risks of drinking and driving and as well as 
maintaining a safe speed.  

 Raise awareness of the necessity of not drinking while driving and maintaining a 
safe speed to avoid many undesired tragic events such as rear end collisions.  

Engineering 
 Identify locations where overturned collisions due to 

unsafe speed, improper turning, and unsafe lane 
changes are occurring within the City every two to 
three years.  

 Consider information obtained from public input and 
feedback regarding unreported collisions to 
supplement crash data.  

 Develop and implement countermeasures to tackle overturned collisions due to 
unsafe speed.  

 Assess and report collision patterns before and after implementation of 
countermeasures and adjust as necessary. 

Enforcement 
 Prioritize patrol patterns at DUI and high-speed locations to monitor traffic law 

violations which include DUI not maintaining a safe speed while operating a 
vehicle.  

  When laws are enforced and awareness of abiding by traffic safety laws and 
signs is raised, overturned collisions due to unsafe speeds will reduce. 

 

Emergency Medical Services 
 Consider targeted training for responding to high-speed locations and immediate 

treatment of predominant injuries at those locations. 
 

 

Emerging Technologies 
 Develop new methods to integrate multisource transportation data for developing 

different measurements of traffic safety for road users and identify safety issues 
associated with emerging electrical and automated vehicles. 

100



7.4 Rear End Collisions Due to Unsafe Speeds 
Rear End Collisions ranked the highest type of collision with a total count of ninety-two (92) 
collisions out of 430 total crashes (21%). Rear end collisions are due 
to primary collision factor (PCF) of unsafe speeds (41). Analysis was 
performed on high-collision intersections that have collisions. 
 

Education 

 Conduct public information and education campaign for 
safety laws regarding a proper turning. 

 Raise awareness of the necessity of abiding by the 
traffic safety laws to avoid broadside collisions that 
occur mostly due to improper turning by not give an 
automobile the right of way.  

 

Engineering 
 Identify locations where hit object collisions due to improper turning are occurring 

within the city every two to three years. 
 Consider information obtained from public input and feedback regarding 

unreported collisions to supplement crash data. 
 Develop and implement countermeasures to tackle hit object collisions due to 

improper turning. 
 Assess and report collision patterns before and after implementation of 

countermeasures and adjust as necessary. 
 Maintain roadway signing and striping. 

Enforcement 
 Prioritize patrol patterns at high collision intersections where hit object collisions 

due to improper turning are occurring mostly to monitor traffic law violations 
which include the failure of stopping and waiting for a safe gap to approach the 
road.   

  When laws are enforced and awareness of abiding by traffic safety laws and 
signs is raised, broadside collisions due to improper turning will reduce 
abundantly. 

 

Emergency Medical Services 
 Consider targeted training for responding to high collision intersections where hit 

object collisions due to improper turning are occurring mostly and immediate 
treatment of predominant injuries at those locations. 

 
Emerging Technologies 

 Develop new methods to integrate multisource transportation data for developing 
different measurements of traffic safety for road users and identify safety issues 
associated with emerging electrical and automated vehicles. 

 

101



8. High Collision Locations Identification, Pattern Analysis, and 
Recommended Improvements 

As part of the quantitative analysis, high collision intersections and roadway segments were 
identified and prioritized using the Crash Frequency methodology as described in the Local 
Roadway Safety Manual. Crash Frequency is defined as the number of crashes occurring within 
a determined study area. Minagar & Associates, Inc. took a further step and included the 
number of victims and their corresponding degree of injury for each intersection and roadway 
segment. As part of the qualitative analysis, Minagar & Associates, Inc. conducted a field 
assessment in the City of Lemoore on January 30, 2023. The purpose of the field visit is to 
verify the characteristics and geometry of the existing intersection and roadway segment 
infrastructure and the viability of the recommended countermeasures. Conceptual plans were 
developed and updated with these safety countermeasures. For each of the identified high 
collision locations (intersections and roadway segments), prominent locations in the City were 
identified and ranked based on the following criteria: 

1. Number of Collisions  
2. Victim Degree of Injury  

2.1. Killed 
2.2. Suspected Serious Injury 
2.3. Suspected Minor Injury 
2.4. Possible Injury 
2.5. Property Damage Only 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Upon identifying and ranking prominent intersections and roadway segments, collisions were 
analyzed by identifying the Primary Collision Factor (PCF) that lead to the occurrence of each 
collision and the pattern. Upon completion of the analysis, recommendations were developed as 
safety mitigation measures to potentially mitigate similar collisions in the future. 
Countermeasures have been proposed in complaince with the California Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices. It is important to utilize Crash Modification Factor (CMF) when 
identifying potential systemic safety improvements. The CMF method is found in Part D of the 
American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) Highway Safety 
Manual (HSM). CMFs are defined as the ratio of effectiveness of expected crashes with 

Possible 
Injury 

Suspected 
Minor 
Injury 

Suspected 
Serious 
Injury 

Killed 

Victim 
Degree 

of Injury 

Number of Collisions 

Property  
Damage 

Only 

102



treatment in comparison to expected crashes without treatment. Furthermore, A CMF is a 
multiplicative factor used to determine the expected number of crashes after implementing the 
proposed countermeasures to ensure efficiency of utilizing and implementing the proposed 
countermeasures. Countermeasures with CMFs less than one are expected to reduce crashes. 
On the other hand, countermeasures with CMFs greater than one are expected to increase 
crashes. CMFs are calculated as follows:

A Crash Reduction Factor (CRF) is similar and related to a CMF but stated in different terms. A 
CRF is defined as a percentage of crash reduction that might be expected after the 
implementation of a given countermeasure at a specific site. CRFs are calculated as follows: 

Appropriate CMFs shall be used with caution. CMFs should be selected from the HSM Part D, 
the LRSM, or from the FHWA CMF Clearinghouse website (http://www.cmfclearinghouse.org).

103



Table 4: City of Lemoore Engineering Countermeasures Toolbox 

LRSM 
No. [1] 

 
Countermeasure Name 

Crash Type  
CMF [2] 

 
CRF [3] 

HSIP 
Funding 
Eligibility All  Night Ped 

and 
Bike 

NS06 Install/upgrade larger or 
additional stop signs or other 

intersection warning/regulatory 
signs 

X 
  0.85 15% 90% 

NS07 Upgrade intersection 
pavement marking (NS.I.) 

X   0.75 25% 90% 

NS20PB Install pedestrian crossing at 
uncontrolled locations (new 
signs and markings only) 

   
X 

0.75 25% 90% 

NS21PB Install/upgrade pedestrian 
crossing at uncontrolled 
locations (with enhanced 

safety features) 

   
X 

 
0.65 

 
35% 

 
90% 

R22 Install/upgrade signs with new 
fluorescent sheeting 

(regulatory or warning) 

X   0.85 15% 90% 

R28 Install edge-lines and 
centerlines 

X   0.75 25% 90% 

S02 Improve signal hardware: 
lenses, back-plates with 
retroreflective borders, 

mounting, size, and number 

 
X 

  0.85    15% 90% 

S09 Install raised pavement 
markers and striping (Through 

Intersection) 

 

X 
  0.90 10% 90% 

S18PB Install pedestrian crossing 
(S.I.) 

   
 

X 
0.75 25% 90% 

[1] Local Roadway Safety Manual Countermeasure Identification Number 
 NS: Non-Signalized Intersection 
 R: Roadway Segment 
 S: Signalized Intersection 

[2] Crash Modification Factor 
[3] Crash Reduction Factor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

104



8.1 High Collision Intersections 
High collision intersections are critical intersections that require the most analytical focus since it 
is anticipated that many collisions will occur within a high collision intersection based on its 
crash history. Table 5 displays the eleven (11) most prominent intersections in terms of number 
of collisions in the City of Lemoore. Table 6 displays the eleven (11) prominent intersections 
with their ranking methodology. 

Table 5: List of High Collision Intersections  
Intersection 
Identification 

Number* 

Intersection 
Ranking 

Number** 

 
Intersection 

 
Control 

 
Number of 

Collisions*** 
1 1 N Lemoore Ave & Cinnamon Dr Signalized 11 
2 2 Liberty Dr & Hanford Armona Rd Unsignalized 6 
3 3 Lemoore Ave & D St Signalized 6 
4 4 N Lemoore Ave & C St Unsignalized 5 
5 5 N Lemoore Ave & Hanford Armona Rd Signalized 4 
6 6 Cinnamon Dr & Hanford Armona Rd Unsignalized 4 
7 7 Fox St & B St Unsignalized 3 
8 8 W Cinnamon Dr & Fox St Unsignalized 3 
9 9 Hanford Armona Rd & Beverly Dr Unsignalized 3 

10 10  S 19th Ave & Cedar Ln Unsignalized 3 
11 11 N 19th Ave & Cinnamon Dr Unsignalized 2 

* Intersection Identification Number is merely an identification method utilized to avoid confusion with the Intersection Ranking 
Number. 
** Intersection Ranking Number is based on the number of contiguous collisions within each intersection. 
*** Total Number of Collisions during the 5-year period between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2021. 

 

 

Table 6: Intersection Number of Collisions and Ranking in the City of Lemoore 
 

Intersection 
Ranking 
Number* 

 
 

Intersection 

 
Number of 
Collisions** 

Collision Severity 

Killed Severe 
Injury 

Visible 
Injury 

Complaint 
of Pain 

Property 
Damage 

Only 
1 N Lemoore Ave & Cinnamon Dr 11 0 1 6 0 4 
2 Liberty Dr & Hanford Armona Rd 6 0 2 3 1 0 
3 Lemoore Ave & D St 6 0 0 2 1 3 
4 N Lemoore Ave & C St 5 0 0 0 2 3 
5 N Lemoore Ave & Hanford Armona Rd 4 0 0 3 0 1 
6 Cinnamon Dr & Hanford Armona Rd 4 0 0 2 2 0 
7 Fox St & B St 3 0 1 2 1 0 
8 W Cinnamon Dr & Fox St 3 0 0 2 1 0 
9 Hanford Armona Rd & Beverly Dr 3 0 0 2 0 1 
10 S 19th Ave & Cedar Ln 3 0 0 0 1 2 
11 N 19th Ave & Cinnamon Dr 2 0 0 0 1 1 

  * Intersection Ranking Number is based on the number of contiguous collisions within each intersection. 
  ** Total Number of Collisions during the 5-year period between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2021.   
 

 

105



8.1.1 Intersection 1: N Lemoore Ave & Cinnamon Dr 
 

Table 7: Intersection 1 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

4 Traffic Signals & Signs 
2 Unsafe Starting or Backing 
2 Automobile Right of Way 
1 Improper Turning 
1 Following Too Closely 
1 Driving or Bicycling Under the Influence of Alcohol or Drug 

Total         11 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping 
3. Upgrade Signal Hardware with Lenses, Back-Plates with Retroreflective Borders 
4. Install [R3-8b] Sign 
5. Install [R2-1] (35) Sign 
6. Repaint Pedestrian Crossing 

8.1.2 Intersection 2: Liberty Dr & Hanford Armona Rd  
 

Table 8: Intersection 2 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

3 Automobile Right of Way 
1 Traffic Signals & Signs 
1 Pedestrian Right of Way 
1 Other Improper Driving 

Total          6 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing (East to West) 
3. *Install Pedestrian (Ladder) Crossing 
4. *Install In-Roadway Warning Light (IRWL) System/Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon 

(RRFB) 
5. Install [R2-1] (35) Sign 
6. Install [W2-1] Sign 

 
***Subject to Warrant Assessment of Traffic Signal and/or All-way Stop Sign In Accordance to 
CA MUTCD Standards (2014) and In-Roadway Warning Light/RRFB Traffic Engineering 
Assessment     
     
 
 
 
 
 
 

106



8.1.3 Intersection 3: Lemoore Ave & D St 
 

Table 9: Intersection 3 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

2 Traffic Signals & Signs 
1 Improper Turning 
1 Unsafe Lane Change 
1 Pedestrian Right of Way 
1 Driving or Bicycling Under the Influence of Alcohol or Drug 

Total             6 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping 
3. Upgrade Signal Hardware with Lenses, Back-plates with Retroreflective Borders 
4. Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing 
5. Install [R2-1] (25) Sign 
6. Install [R3-8b] Sign 
7. Install [R61-5 (CA)] Sign 

8.1.4 Intersection 4: N Lemoore Ave & C St 
 
Table 10: Intersection 4 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 

Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 
4 Automobile Right of Way 

                         1 Unsafe Speed 
Total        5 

 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing 
3. Install [R2-1] (25) Sign 
4. Install [W4-4P] Sign 
5. Install [W2-2R] Sign 
6. Install [W2-2L] Sign 
7. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

107



8.1.5 Intersection 5: N Lemoore Ave & Hanford Armona Rd 
 

Table 11: Intersection 5 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

2 Traffic Signals & Signs 
1 Unsafe Speed 
1 Unknown 

Total 4 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping 
3. Upgrade Signal Hardware with Lenses, Back-plates with Retroreflective Borders 
4. Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing 
5. Install [R2-1] (35) Sign 
6. Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting 
7. Install [W3-3] Sign 

8.1.6 Intersection 6: Cinnamon Dr & Hanford Armona Rd 
 

Table 12: Intersection 6 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

4 Automobile Right of Way 
Total 4 

 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping 
3. Remove Existing Pavement and Traffic Striping 
4. Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting 
5. Install [W4-4P] Sign 
6. Install [W2-1] Sign 
7. Install [R2-1] (35) Sign 
8. Install [R4-7] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign 

8.1.7 Intersection 7: Fox St & B St 
 

Table 13: Intersection 7 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

3 Automobile Right of Way 
Total       3 

 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping 
3. Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing 
4. Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting 
5. Install [W4-4P] Sign 

 

108



8.1.8 Intersection 8: W Cinnamon Dr & Fox St 
 

Table 14: Intersection 8 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

2 Automobile Right of Way 
1 Unsafe Speed 

Total          3 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping 
3. Install/Replace Pedestrian Crossing 
4. Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting 
5. Install [R4-7] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign 

8.1.9 Intersection 9: Hanford Armona Rd & Beverly Dr 
 

Table 15: Intersection 9 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

2 Automobile Right of Way 
1 Improper Turning 

Total   3 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping 
3. Install [W4-4P] Sign 
4. Install [W2-1] Sign 
5. Install [R2-1] (35) Sign 

8.1.10 Intersection 10: S 19th Ave & Cedar Ln 
 

Table 16: Intersection 10 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

2 Automobile Right of Way 
1 Pedestrian Right of Way 

Total          3 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking 
2. Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping 
3. Install Pedestrian (Ladder) Crosswalk 
4. Install [R81 (CA)] Sign 

 
 

 

 

109



8.1.11 Intersection 11: N 19th Ave & Cinnamon Dr 
 

Table 17: Intersection 11 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

2 Automobile Right of Way 
Total          2 

 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install Pedestrian (Ladder) Crosswalk 
2. Install Solar Flashing LED Stop Sign 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

110



8.2   High Collision Roadway Segments 
High collision roadway segments are critical segments that require focus since it is anticipated 
that collisions will occur within a high collision roadway segment based on its crash history. 
Table 18 displays the five (5) most prominent roadway segments in the City of Lemoore. Table 
19 displays the five (5) prominent roadway segments with their ranking methodology. 

Table 18: List of High Collision Roadway Segments 
Roadway 
Segment 

Identification 
Number* 

Roadway 
Segment 
Ranking 

Number** 

 
Roadway Segment 

 
Number of 

Collisions*** 

1 1 N Lemoore Ave (Devon Dr to Cinnamon Dr) 12 
2 2 Hanford Armona Rd (N Lemoore Ave to Beverly Dr) 7 
3 3 N Lemoore Ave (E Magnolia Ave to D St) 6 
4 4 N Lemoore Ave (Cinnamon Dr to G St) 5 
5 5 N Lemoore Ave (W Burlwood Ln to Hanford Armona Rd) 5 

* Roadway Segment Identification Number is merely an identification method utilized to avoid confusion with the Roadway Segment 
Ranking Number. 
** Roadway Segment Ranking Number is based on the number of collisions that occurred on a roadway segment.  
*** Total Number of Collisions during the 5-year period between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2021. 

 
Table 19: Roadway Segment Number of Collisions and Ranking in the City of Lemoore 

 
Roadway 
Segment 
Ranking 
Number* 

 
 

Roadway Segment 

 
 

Number of 
Collisions** 

Collision Severity 

Killed Severe 
Injury 

Visible 
Injury 

Complaint 
of Pain 

Property 
Damage 

Only 
1 N Lemoore Ave (Devon Dr to Cinnamon Dr) 12 0 0 4 3 5 
2 Hanford Armona Rd (N Lemoore Ave to Beverly Dr) 7 0 0 2 1 4 
3 N Lemoore Ave (E Magnolia Ave to D St) 6 0 0 3 0 3 
4 N Lemoore Ave (Cinnamon Dr to G St) 5 0 0 2 1 2 
5 N Lemoore Ave (W Burlwood Ln to Hanford Armona Rd) 5 0 0 1 1 3 

* Roadway Segment Ranking Number is based on the number of collisions that occurred on a roadway segment.  
** Total Number of Collisions during the 5-year period between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2021. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

111



8.2.1 Roadway Segment 1: N Lemoore Ave (Devon Dr to Cinnamon Dr) 
 

Table 20: Roadway Segment 1 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 
Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 

4 Improper Turning 
4 Automobile Right of Way 
4 Unsafe Speed 

Total        12 
  

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install/Repaint Traffic Pavement Marking 
2. Repaint Traffic Striping 
3. Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting 
4. Install [W2-1] Sign 
5. Install [W1-6R] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign 
6. Install [R1-1] & [W4-4P] Sign 
7. Install [R1-1] Sign 

8.2.2 Roadway Segment 2: Hanford Armona Rd (N Lemoore Ave to Beverly Dr) 
Table 21: Roadway Segment 2 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 

Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 
2 Unsafe Speed 
2 Improper Turning 
1 Automobile Right of Way 
1 Wrong Side of Road 
1 Pedestrian Violation 

Total         7 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install [R1-1] & [“Right Turn Only”] Sign 
2. Install [W3-3] Sign 
3. Remove & Salvage Existing Sign 

8.2.3 Roadway Segment 3: N Lemoore Ave (E Magnolia Ave to D St) 
Table 22: Roadway Segment 3 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 

Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 
3 Unsafe Speed  
1 Unsafe Lane Change 
1 Other Than Driver (or Pedestrian)  
1 Driving or Bicycling Under the Influence of Alcohol or Drug 

Total     6 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install [R1-1] Sign 
2. Install [W1-7] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign 
3. Install [W3-3] & [R26 (CA)] Sign 

 
 

112



8.2.4 Roadway Segment 4: N Lemoore Ave (Cinnamon Dr to G St) 
Table 23: Roadway Segment 4 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 

Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 
2 Automobile Right of Way 
1 Unsafe Lane Change  
1 Unsafe Speed 
1 Following Closely 

Total     5 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install [R1-1] Sign 
2. Install [W3-3] & [R26 (CA)] Sign 
3. Install Raised Concrete Median 
4. Install [R81 (CA)] Sign 
5. Repaint Traffic Striping 
6. Remove Conflicting Traffic Striping 

8.2.5 Roadway Segment 5: N Lemoore Ave (W Burlwood Ln to Hanford Armona Rd) 
Table 24: Roadway Segment 5 Number of Collisions and Corresponding Primary Collision Factor 

Number of Collisions Primary Collision Factor 
3 Unsafe Speed 
1 Improper Passing 
1 Unsafe Lane Change 

Total     5 
 

High Collision Recommendations:  
1. Install [W9-1] Sign 
2. Install [W1-7] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign 
3. Repaint Traffic Striping 
4. Repaint Traffic Pavement Marking 
5. Remove Conflicting Traffic Pavement Marking 
6. Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

113



9. Collision Diagrams, Preliminary Conceptual Plans for 
Recommended Improvements at High Collision Intersections and 
High Collision Roadway Segments, Cost Estimates, and Benefit Cost 
Ratios 
 

At each of the aforementioned high collision intersections and roadway segments, the collision 
patterns have been evaluated and countermeasures to those patterns have been developed 
through a preliminary conceptual plan and the preliminary cost of those measures has been 
estimated. This section of this report summarizes those results.  
 
This Local Safety Plan is funded through a Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) grant 
from the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). HSIP grant funding is prioritized 
and awarded based on the grant funding's economic effectiveness, which is established by a 
benefit to cost ratio. Under the current HSIP Cycle 11 call for projects, the minimum Benefit to 
Cost Ratio is 3.5. A summary of the benefit to cost ratios is provided in this section. Project cost 
estimates are calculated on a line-item basis using the Caltrans Contract Cost Database. In 
some cases, recent construction bids and benefit values are calculated based on Caltrans 
established countermeasure values. A summation of the total construction cost of all 
intersections and road segments are displayed at the end of the report.  
 
Depending on the City’s priorities, it is highly recommended that multiple projects as provided 
below are grouped into one HSIP application to maximize potential funding allocations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

114



9.1   High Collision Intersections

9.1.1   Intersection 1: N Lemoore Ave & Cinnamon Dr

Figure 25: Intersection 1 Crash Diagram- 11 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

N
 L

em
oo

re
 A

ve

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash 11

Unmapped             0 

Total  11

Cinnamon Dr

115



 

 

116



9.1.1.1 Intersection 1 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  

Table 25: Intersection 1 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $19,832 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $1,148,298 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
57.90. 

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 57.90, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $1,145,733 
Travel Time $2,331 
Vehicle Operating Cost $234 
Emissions $0 
Total Benefits $1,148,298 

 

 

1 Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 205 14.00$            2,870.00$           0%
2 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 2030 3.50$              7,105.00$           90%

3
Replace or Upgrade Signal Hardware with Lenses, 
Back-plates with Retroreflective Borders EA 20 110.00$          2,200.00$           90%

4 Install [R3-8b] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           0%
5 Install [R2-1] (35) Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              0%
6 Repaint Pedestrian Crossing LF 522 3.50$              1,827.00$           90%

7
Upgrade with New Traffic Signal with 12" Signal 
Lenses EA 1 800.00$          800.00$              90%

16,527.00$         
100% 43.0% 18.2% 11.1% 27.8%

* Signalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 3,305.40$ 

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

HSIP Funding Eligibility

OS**LRSM CM  
No. (S09)*

Total
Weighted Percentage (%)

Total

Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:
Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 19,832.40$                              

LRSM CM  
No. (S02)*

LRSM CM    
No. (S18PB)*

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 16,527.00$                              

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $19,832 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $1,148,298 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $1,128,466 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 57.90 

117



9.1.2   Intersection 2: Liberty Dr & Hanford Armona Rd

Figure 26: Intersection 2 Crash Diagram- 6 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

Hanford Armona Rd

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash 6 

Unmapped             0 

Total  6 

Li
be

rt
y 

D
r

118



 
 

 

119



9.1.2.1 Intersection 2 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  

Table 26: Intersection 2 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $107,882 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $1,732,492 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
16.06. 

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 16.06, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $1,730,236 
Travel Time $2,033 
Vehicle Operating Cost $211 
Emissions $11 
Total Benefits $1,732,492 

 

1 Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 188.5 14.00$            2,639.00$           90%
2 Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing (East to West) LF 318 3.50$              1,113.00$           90%
3 ***Install Pedestrian (Ladder) Crossing
4 ***Install In-Roadway Warning Light System with Push Buttons
5 ***Install ADA Ramps
6 ***Install Solar Flashing LED [W11-2] Sign & [W16-7P] Sign
7 ***Install [W11-2] & [W16-9P] Sign
8 ***Install Pavement Word Marking
9 Install [W2-1] (35) Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%

89,902.00$         
100% 2.9% 95.8% 1.3%

*Unsignalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 17,980.40$   

90%LS 1 85,000.00$     85,000.00$         

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 107,882.40$                                

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM    
No. (NS07)*

LRSM CM     
No. (NS20PB) 
& (NS21PB)*

LRSM CM   
No. (NS06)*

Total

Total

Weighted Percentage (%)

Total Construction Cost: 89,902.00$                                  
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements
***Subject to Warrant Assessment of Traffic Signal and/or All-Way Stop Sign In Accordance to CA MUTCD 
Standards (2014) and In-Roadway Warning Light/RRFB Traffic Engineering Assessment

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $107,882 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $1,732,492 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $1,624,609 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 16.06 

120



9.1.3 Intersection 3: Lemoore Ave & D St

Figure 27: Intersection 3 Crash Diagram- 6 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

Le
m

oo
re

 A
ve

D St

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash   6 

Unmapped   0

Total    6 

121



 

 

122



9.1.3.1 Intersection 3 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis  
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Table 27: Intersection 3 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $5,368 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $338,770 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
22.04.  

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 22.04, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $337,436 
Travel Time $1,207 
Vehicle Operating Cost $119 
Emissions $8 
Total Benefits $338,770 

  

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $15,368 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $338,770 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $323,402 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 22.04 

 

1 Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 164.5 14.00$            2,303.00$          0%
2 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 1086 3.50$              3,801.00$          90%

3
Replace or Upgrade Signal Hardware Back-plates 
with Retroreflective Borders EA 20 110.00$          2,200.00$          90%

4 Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing LF 465 3.50$              1,627.50$          90%
5 Install [R2-1] (25) Sign EA 3 575.00$          1,725.00$          0%
6 Install [R3-8b] Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$             0%
7 Install [R61-5 (CA)] Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$             0%

12,806.50$        
100% 29.7% 17.2% 53.1%

* Signalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 2,561.30$  

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 15,367.80$                              

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (S09)*

LRSM CM     
No. (S02)* OS**

Total

Total

Weighted Percentage (%)

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 12,806.50$                              
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

123



9.1.4 Intersection 4: N Lemoore Ave & C St

Figure 28: Intersection 4 Crash Diagram- 5 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

C
al

if
or

ni
a 

A
ve

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash 5 

Unmapped 0

Total 5 

124



 

125



9.1.4.1 Intersection 4 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Table 28: Intersection 4 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $4,861 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $245,160 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
50.43.  

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 50.43, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $243,646 
Travel Time $1,359 
Vehicle Operating Cost $132 
Emissions $22 
Total Benefits $245,160 

  

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $4,861 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $245,160 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $240,298 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 50.43 

 

1 Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 22 14.00$            308.00$              90%
2 Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing LF 126 3.50$              441.00$              90%
3 Install [R2-1] (25) Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              90%
4 Install [W4-4P] Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              90%
5 Install [W2-2R] Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              90%
6 Install [W2-2L] Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              90%
7 Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              90%
8 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 122 3.50$              427.00$              0%

4,051.00$           
100% 7.6% 10.9% 71.0% 10.5%

* Unsignalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 810.20$     
Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 4,861.20$                                 

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (NS07)*

LRSM CM     
No. (NS20PB)* OS**

Total

Total

Weighted Percentage (%)

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 4,051.00$                                 
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

LRSM CM     
No. (NS06)*

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

126



9.1.5 Intersection 5: N Lemoore Ave & Hanford Armona Rd

Figure 29: Intersection 5 Crash Diagram- 4 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

Hanford Armona Rd

N
 L

em
oo

re
A

ve

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash   4 

Unmapped   0

Total    4 

127



 

 

 

 

128



9.1.5.1 Intersection 5 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Table 29: Intersection 5 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $25,400 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $368,368 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
14.50. 

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 14.50, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $367,394 
Travel Time $884 
Vehicle Operating Cost $90 
Emissions $0 
Total Benefits $368,368 

  

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $25,400 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $368,368 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $342,968 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 14.50 

 

1 Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 706.5 14.00$            9,891.00$           0%
2 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 911 3.50$              3,188.50$           90%

3
Replace or Upgrade Signal Hardware Back-plates 
with Retroreflective Borders EA 20 110.00$          2,200.00$           90%

4 Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing LF 532 3.50$              1,862.00$           90%
5 Install [R2-1] (35) Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              0%
6 Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting EA 5 575.00$          2,875.00$           0%
7 Install [W3-3] Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              0%

21,166.50$         
100% 15.1% 10.4% 8.8% 65.7%

* Signalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 4,233.30$  

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 21,166.50$                               
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 25,399.80$                               

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (S09)*

LRSM CM   
No. (S02)* OS**

Total

Total LRSM CM     
No. (S18PB)*

Weighted Percentage (%)

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

129



9.1.6   Intersection 6: Cinnamon Dr & Hanford Armona Rd

Figure 30: Intersection 6 Crash Diagram- 4 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

C
in

na
m

on
 D

r
Hanford Armona Rd

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash   4 

Unmapped    0

Total    4 

130



 

131



9.1.6.1 Intersection 6 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Table 30: Intersection 6 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $13,220 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $553,078 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
41.84.  

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 41.84, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $551,560 
Travel Time $1,355 
Vehicle Operating Cost $141 
Emissions $22 
Total Benefits $553,078 

  
Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 

Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $13,220 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $553,078 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $539,858 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 41.84 

1 Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 345 14.00$            4,830.00$           90%
2 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 289 3.50$              1,011.50$           0%
3 Remove Existing Pavement and Traffic Striping N/A N/A N/A N/A 0%
4 Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              90%
5 Install [W4-4P] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%
6 Install [W2-1] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%
7 Install [R2-1] (35) Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%
8 Install [R4-7] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%

11,016.50$         
100% 43.8% 47.0% 9.2%

* Unsignalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 2,203.30$       

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 11,016.50$                                    
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 13,219.80$                                    

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM     
No. (NS07)*

LRSM CM   
No. (NS06)* OS**

Total

Total

Weighted Percentage (%)

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

132



9.1.7 Intersection 7: Fox St & B St

Figure 31: Intersection 7 Crash Diagram- 3 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash 3 

Unmapped 0

Total                     3 

133



 

134



9.1.7.1 Intersection 7 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Table 31: Intersection 7 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $4,713 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $1,004,515 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
213.14.  

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 213.14, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $1,003,008 
Travel Time $1,355 
Vehicle Operating Cost $141 
Emissions $11 
Total Benefits $1,004,515 

  

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $4,713 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $1,004,515 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $998,802 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 213.14 

1 Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 29 14.00$            406.00$              90%
2 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 116 3.50$              406.00$              0%
3 Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing LF 233 3.50$              815.50$              90%
4 Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%
5 Install [W4-4P] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%

3,927.50$           
100% 10.3% 20.8% 58.6% 10.3%

* Unsignalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 785.50$     

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 3,927.50$                                 
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 4,713.00$                                 

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (NS07)*

LRSM CM      
No. (NS20PB)* OS**

Total

Total LRSM CM   
No. (NS06)*

Weighted Percentage (%)

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

135



9.1.8 Intersection 8: W Cinnamon Dr & Fox St

Figure 32: Intersection 8 Crash Diagram- 3 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash 3 

Unmapped 0

Total                     3 

136



 

137



9.1.8.1 Intersection 8 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Table 32: Intersection 8 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $24,096 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $445,905 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
18.51.  

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 18.51, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $444,772 
Travel Time $1,017 
Vehicle Operating Cost $106 
Emissions $11 
Total Benefits $445,905 

  

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $24,096 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $445,905 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $421,809 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 18.51 

  

1 Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 481 14.00$            6,734.00$           90%
2 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 1416 3.50$              4,956.00$           0%
3 Install/Repaint Pedestrian Crossing LF 590 3.50$              2,065.00$           90%
4 Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting EA 9 575.00$          5,175.00$           90%
5 Install [R4-7] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%

20,080.00$         
100% 33.5% 10.3% 31.5% 24.7%

* Unsignalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 4,016.00$  

Weighted Percentage (%)

LRSM CM    
No. (NS06)*

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost Total

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (NS07)*

LRSM CM      
No. (NS20PB)* OS**

Total

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 20,080.00$                               
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 24,096.00$                               

138



9.1.9 Intersection 9: Hanford Armona Rd & Beverly Dr

Figure 33: Intersection 9 Crash Diagram- 3 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

B
ev

er
ly

 D
r

Hanford Armona Rd

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash     3 

Unmapped 0

Total                3 

139



                                      

140



9.1.9.1 Intersection 9 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
Construction Cost Estimate: 

The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Table 33: Intersection 9 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $8,348 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $349,002 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
41.81.  

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 41.81, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $348,007 
Travel Time $905 
Vehicle Operating Cost $91 
Emissions $0 
Total Benefits $349,002 

  

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $8,348 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $349,002 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $340,654 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 41.81 

  

1 Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 125 14.00$            1,750.00$           90%
2 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 502 3.50$              1,757.00$           0%
3 Install [W4-4P] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%
4 Install [W2-1] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%
5 Install [R2-1] (35) Sign EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              90%
6 Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting EA 1 575.00$          575.00$              90%

6,957.00$           
100% 25.2% 49.6% 25.3%

* Unsignalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 1,391.40$  
Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 8,348.40$                                 

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (NS07)*

LRSM CM   
No. (NS06)* OS**

Total

Total

Weighted Percentage (%)

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 6,957.00$                                 
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

141



9.1.10 Intersection 10: S 19th Ave & Cedar Ln

Figure 34: Intersection 10 Crash Diagram- 3 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

S
 1

9th
A

ve

Cedar Ln

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash  3 

Unmapped  0

Total                3

142



 

143



9.1.10.1 Intersection 10 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Construction Cost Estimate: 

Table 34: Intersection 10 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $12,800 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $127,715 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
9.98.  

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 9.98, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $126,835 
Travel Time $793 
Vehicle Operating Cost $77 
Emissions $11 
Total Benefits $127,715 

  

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $12,800 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $127,715 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $114,915 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 9.98 

1 Install/Repaint Intersection Pavement Marking SQFT 181 14.00$            2,534.00$           90%
2 Restripe Intersection Traffic Striping LF 1165 3.50$              4,077.50$           0%
3 Install Pedestrian (Ladder) Crosswalk LF 830 3.50$              2,905.00$           90%
4 Install [R81 (CA)] Sign EA 2 575.00$          1,150.00$           90%

10,666.50$         
100% 23.8% 27.2% 10.8% 38.2%

* Unsignalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 2,133.30$  
Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 12,799.80$                               

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (NS07)*

LRSM CM   
No. 

(NS20PB)*

LRSM CM    
No. (NS06)* OS**

Total

Total

Weighted Percentage (%)

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 10,666.50$                               
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

144



9.1.11 Intersection 11: N 19th Ave & Cinnamon Dr

Figure 35: Intersection 11 Crash Diagram- 2 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021) 

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

N
 1

9th
A

ve

Cinnamon Dr

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash  2 

Unmapped  0

Total                2

145



 

146



9.1.11.1 Intersection 11 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Construction Cost Estimate: 

Table 35: Intersection 11 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $11,357 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $102,462 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
9.02.  

The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 9.02, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $101,910 
Travel Time $494 
Vehicle Operating Cost $49 
Emissions $10 
Total Benefits $102,462 

  

Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 
Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $11,357 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $102,462 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $91,105 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 9.02 

HSIP Funding Eligibility

1 Install Pedestrian (Ladder) Crosswalk LF 704 3.50$              2,464.00$           90%
2 Install Solar Flashing LED Stop Sign EA 4 1,750.00$       7,000.00$           90%

9,464.00$           
100% 100.0%

* Unsignalized Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 1,892.80$                   

Weighted Percentage (%)

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 9,464.00$                                                  
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:

Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 11,356.80$                                                

LRSM CM           
No. (NS20PB)*

Total

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost Total

147



9.2   High Collision Roadway Segments

9.2.1   Roadway Segment 1: N Lemoore Ave (Devon Dr to Cinnamon Dr)

Figure 36: Roadway Segment 1 Crash Diagram - 12 Collisions 
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

N
 L

em
oo

re
 A

ve

Cinnamon Dr

Devon Dr

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash    12

Unmapped  0

Total              12

148



 

149



9.2.1.1 Roadway Segment 1 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis  
The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Construction Cost Estimate: 

Table 36: Roadway Segment 1 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $14,047 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $1,050,338 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
74.78. 
 
The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 74.78, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 
 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $1,046,448 
Travel Time $3,507 
Vehicle Operating Cost $350 
Emissions $33 
Total Benefits $1,050,338 

  
Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 

Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $14,047 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $1,050,338 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $1,036,291 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 74.78 

 

1 Install/Repaint Traffic Pavement Marking SQFT 165 14.00$        2,310.00$         0%
2 Repaint Traffic Striping LF 311 3.50$          1,088.50$         0%
3 Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting EA 1 575.00$      575.00$            90%
4 Install [W2-1] Sign EA 1 575.00$      575.00$            90%
5 Install [W1-6R] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign EA 2 1,150.00$   2,300.00$         90%
6 Install [R1-1] & [W4-4P] Sign EA 2 1,150.00$   2,300.00$         90%
7 Install [R1-1] Sign EA 2 575.00$      1,150.00$         90%
8 Repaint Traffic Centerline Striping LF 402 3.50$          1,407.00$         90%

11,705.50$       
100% 71.0% 29.0%

* Roadway Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20%

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 14,046.60$                                                                          

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (R22)* OS**

Total
Weighted Average (%)

Total

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 11,705.50$                                                                          
Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost: 2,341.10$                                                

LRSM CM   
No. (R28)*

150



9.2.2 Roadway Segment 2: Hanford Armona Rd (N Lemoore Ave to Beverly Dr) 

Figure 37: Roadway Segment 2 Crash Diagram- 7 Collisions  
(January 1, 2017 – December 31, 2021)

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)  
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

Hanford Armona Rd

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash      7 

Unmapped  0

Total                7 

N
 L

em
oo

re
 A

ve

B
ev

er
ly

 D
r

151



 

152



9.2.2.1 Roadway Segment 2 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis  
The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Construction Cost Estimate: 

Table 37: Roadway Segment 2 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $10,350 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $254,918 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
24.63. 
 
The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 24.63, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 
 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $253,806 
Travel Time $1,008 
Vehicle Operating Cost $99 
Emissions $6 
Total Benefits $254,918 

  
Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 

Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $10,350 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $254,918 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $244,568 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 24.63 

 

 

 

1 Install [R1-1] & ["Right Turn Only"] Sign EA 7 1,150.00$  8,050.00$         90%
2 Install [W3-3] Sign EA 1 575.00$     575.00$            90%
3 Remove and Salvage Existing Sign N/A N/A N/A 0%

8,625.00$         
100% 100.0% 0.0%

* Roadway Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20%
Total Construction Cost: 8,625.00$                                                     

Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost: 1,725.00$                         
Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 10,350.00$                                                   

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM   
No. (R22)* OS**

Total
Weighted Average (%)

Total

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

153



9.2.3 Roadway Segment 3: N Lemoore Ave (E Magnolia Ave to D St) 

                         

Figure 38: Roadway Segment 3 Crash Diagram- 6 Collisions  
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)  
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

N
 L

em
oo

re
 A

ve

D St

E Magnolia Ave

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash      6 

Unmapped  0

Total                6

154



 

155



9.2.3.1 Roadway Segment 3 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis  
The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Construction Cost Estimate: 

Table 38: Roadway Segment 3 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $4,021 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $538,910 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
134.02. 
 
The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 134.02, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 
 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $538,044 
Travel Time $1,698 
Vehicle Operating Cost $168 
Emissions $0 
Total Benefits $538,910 

  
Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 

Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $4,021 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $538,910 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $534,889 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 134.02 

 

1 Install [R1-1] Sign EA 1 575.00$     575.00$            90%
2 Install [W1-7] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign EA 1 1,150.00$  1,150.00$         90%
3 Install [W3-3] & [R26 (CA)] Sign EA 1 1,150.00$  1,150.00$         90%
4 Repaint Traffic Centerline Striping LF 136 3.50$         476.00$            90%

3,351.00$         
100% 85.8% 14.2%

* Roadway Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20%

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:
Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 4,021.20$                                                         

LRSM CM  
No. (R28)*

Total
Weighted Average (%)

Total

Total Construction Cost: 3,351.00$                                                         

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM      
No. (R22)*

670.20$                                

156



9.2.4   Roadway Segment 4: N Lemoore Ave (Cinnamon Dr to G St) 

Figure 39: Roadway Segment 4 Crash Diagram- 5 Collisions  
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)  
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

Cinnamon Dr

N
 L

em
oo

re
 A

ve

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash      5 

Unmapped  0

Total                5

157



 

158



9.2.4.1 Roadway Segment 4 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis 
The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Construction Cost Estimate: 

Table 39: Roadway Segment 4 Cost Estimate 

 
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $8,499 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $466,447 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
54.88. 
 
The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 54.88, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 
 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $464,818 
Travel Time $1,471 
Vehicle Operating Cost $147 
Emissions $11 
Total Benefits $466,447 

  
Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 

Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $8,499 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $466,447 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $457,948 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 54.88 

 

 

1 Install [R1-1] Sign EA 6 575.00$     3,450.00$         90%
2 Install [W3-3] & (R26 (CA)] Sign EA 1 1,150.00$  1,150.00$         90%
3 Repaint Traffic Centerline Striping LF 440 3.50$         1,540.00$         90%
4 Install [R81 (CA)] Sign EA 1 575.00$     575.00$            90%
5 Repaint Traffic Striping LF 105 3.50$         367.50$            0%
6 Remove Conflicting Traffic Striping N/A N/A N/A 0%

7,082.50$         
100% 73.1% 21.7% 5.2%

* Roadway Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20%
Total Construction Cost: 7,082.50$                                                                            

Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:
Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 8,499.00$                                                                            

1,416.50$                                                

OS**

Total
Weighted Average (%)

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost Total LRSM CM    
No. (R22)*

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM    
No. (R28)*

159



9.2.5   Roadway Segment 5: N Lemoore Ave (W Burlwood Ln to Hanford Armona Rd)

Figure 40: Roadway Segment 5 Crash Diagram- 5 Collisions  
(January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2021)

Source: University of California, Berkeley Transportation Injury Mapping System (TIMS)  
*Collision Locations are approximate due to the size and overlapping of collisions

W Burlwood Ln 

Hanford Armona Rd

Mapping Summary:

Mapped Crash      5 

Unmapped  0 

Total                5

N
 L

em
oo

re
 A

ve

160



 

161



9.2.5.1 Roadway Segment 5 Cost Estimate and Cost/Benefit Analysis  
The following table represents the preliminary line-item cost for the proposed countermeasures. 
Line-item costs are derived from the Caltrans contract cost database for District 6.  
 

Construction Cost Estimate: 

Table 40: Roadway Segment 5 Cost Estimate 

  
 

Total Cost and Benefit: 

The project’s total cost is estimated at $8,330 which does not include the design and 
engineering costs. The estimated benefit of these improvements is $307,352 based on the 
Highway Safety Benefit-Cost Analysis Model (Version 2.0). The resulting Benefit-Cost ratio is 
36.90. 
 
The current HSIP Cycle 11 program has a required minimum B/C ratio (BCR) of 3.5 for a BCR 
Application. With a B/C ratio of 36.90, the proposed intersection improvement project is eligible 
for HSIP funding and is considered a competitive HSIP project. 
 

Itemized Benefits 
Safety $305,849 
Travel Time $1,359 
Vehicle Operating Cost $132 
Emissions $11 
Total Benefits $307,352 

  
Summary of Total Cost & Benefit 

Present Value Costs ($ Dollars) $8,330 
Present Value Benefits ($ Dollars) $307,352 
Net Present Value ($ Dollars) $299,021 
Benefit / Cost Ratio 36.90 

 

 

1 Install [W9-1] Sign EA 1 575.00$     575.00$            90%
2 Install [W1-7] & [N-1 (CA)] Sign EA 1 1,150.00$  1,150.00$         90%
3 Repaint Traffic Centerline Striping LF 1162 3.50$         4,067.00$         90%
4 Remove Traffic Striping/Pavement Marking N/A N/A N/A 0%
5 Replace Sign with New Fluorescent Sheeting EA 2 575.00$     1,150.00$         90%

6,942.00$         
100% 41.4% 58.6% 0.0%

* Roadway Countermeasure Identification of Local Roadway Safety Manual (Version 1.6, April 2022)

20% 1,388.40$    

No. Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost

Contingencies percentage of the aforementioned Total Construction Cost:
Total Construction Cost (Including Contingencies): 8,330.40$                                

OS**

HSIP Funding Eligibility

LRSM CM    
No. (R22)*

Total
Weighted Average (%)

**OS: Other Safety-Related Improvements

Total Construction Cost: 6,942.00$                                

Total LRSM CM   
No. (R28)*

162



Table 41: Total Construction Cost of Intersections and Roadway Segments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 HSIP Amount   Local Amount 

Intersection 1 N Lemoore Ave & Cinnamon Dr 57.90 19,832.40$             18,400.56$    1,431.84$    
Intersection 2 Liberty Dr & Hanford Armona Rd 16.06 107,882.40$           97,094.16$    10,788.24$  
Intersection 3 Lemoore Ave & D St 22.04 15,367.80$             14,452.38$    915.42$       
Intersection 4 N Lemoore Ave & C St 50.43 4,861.20$               4,426.32$      434.88$       
Intersection 5 N Lemoore Ave & Hanford Armona Rd 14.50 25,399.80$             24,529.74$    870.06$       
Intersection 6 Cinnamon Dr & Hanford Armona Rd 41.84 13,219.80$             12,019.20$    1,200.60$    
Intersection 7 Fox St & B St 213.14 4,713.00$               4,290.42$      422.58$       
Intersection 8 W Cinnamon Dr & Fox St 18.51 24,096.00$             22,281.12$    1,814.88$    
Intersection 9 Hanford Armona Rd & Beverly Dr 41.81 8,348.40$               7,724.40$      624.00$       
Intersection 10 S 19th Ave & Cedar Ln 9.98 12,799.80$             12,009.12$    790.68$       
Intersection 11 N 19th Ave & Cinnamon Dr 9.02 11,356.80$             10,221.12$    1,135.68$    
Roadway Segment 1 N Lemoore Ave (Devon Dr to Cinnamon Dr) 74.78 14,046.60$             13,049.76$    996.84$       
Roadway Segment 2 Hanford Armona Rd (N Lemoore Ave to Beverly Dr) 24.63 10,350.00$             9,315.00$      1,035.00$    
Roadway Segment 3  N Lemoore Ave (E Magnolia Ave to D St) 134.02 4,021.20$               3,619.08$      402.12$       
Roadway Segment 4 N Lemoore Ave (Cinnamon Dr to G St) 54.88 8,499.00$               7,693.20$      805.80$       
Roadway Segment 5 N Lemoore Ave (W Burlwood Ln to Hanford Armona Rd) 36.90 8,330.40$               7,497.36$      833.04$       

293,124.60$           268,622.94$ 24,501.66$  

 (Including Contingencies) 

Total

Intersection/        
Roadway Segment Street Name(s)

 Benefit/Cost 
Ratio           

(3.5 minimum) 

 Total 
Construction Cost 

(Including 
Contingencies) 

163



10.1 City of Lemoore Stakeholders Meeting Minutes 
Date: Thursday, March 2nd, 2023 
 
Time: 11 AM to 12 PM 
 
Facilitator: Randon Reeder- Project Manager, City of Lemoore 
 
Attendees: 

 Patricia Matthews- Mayor, City of Lemoore 
 Randon Reeder- Project Manager, City of Lemoore 
 Christal Schisler- City of Lemoore 
 Cheryl Hunt- Superintendent, Lemoore Union Elementary School District (LUESD) 
 Kayley Clay- Kings County Association Commerce (KCAG) 
 Benjamin Kahikina- Greater Kings County Chamber of Commerce 
 Fred Minagar- Minagar & Associates, Inc. 
 Phillip Nguyen- Minagar & Associates, Inc. 

Meeting Agenda: 

Project Manager Fred Minagar of Minagar & Associates Inc. presented the City of Lemoore 
Local Roadway Plan “LRSP” Presentation to Stakeholders and attendees of the meeting held 
online via Zoom. Fred gave an introduction of the LRSP where he discusses the mission, vision, 
and goals of the LRSP. Along with that, contents of the LRSP data and statistics were displayed 
in the presentation with top collision intersections and roadway segments. Lastly, sources of 
funding and the next steps are discussed in order to finalize the LRSP. 

After the conclusion of the presentation, Minagar and Associates, Inc. opened up for questions. 
Cheryl Hunt, Superintendent of LUESD mentioned about a recommendation to add a crosswalk 
with a push button light in the North/South direction on Liberty Dr and Hanford Armona Rd. She 
added that students who walk or ride their bikes from the housing developments from the north 
side of Hanford Armona Rd walking to Liberty Middle School and Freedom Elementary School. 
She emphasized that it is a high safety priority for the students, families, and the district. 
Another location is a new elementary school on 19th St and Cinnamon Dr, which is a current 4-
way stop. Recommendations to maintain the safety of the intersection is also an area of 
importance. Patricia Matthews, Mayor of City of Lemoore agreed with Cheryl Hunt and 
mentioned the concerns of residents that children are crossing the Liberty Dr and Hanford 
Armona Rd intersection that currently does not have a crosswalk and adding a crosswalk would 
be beneficial for the safety of the children and the people who cross the street. Fred Minagar 
responded that the company will investigate those two intersections and take those suggestions 
into account as part of the countermeasures to be used and added to the LRSP. 

The meeting was concluded and a Final report of the LRSP will be completed within a week and 
a presentation for the City Council Meeting of the LRSP Project will follow.  

164



                                                                                                                                          

MINAGAR & ASSOCIATES, INC.
23282 Mill Creek Drive, Suite 120 
Laguna Hills, CA 92653

Tel: (949)707-1199
Web: www.minagarinc.com 

2019 Winner of the Orange County Engineering Council’s Outstanding Service Award

2016 Winner of the ASCE’s Outstanding Civil Engineer in the Private Sector Award in the State of California

2016 Winner of the ASCE Los Angeles Section’s Outstanding Civil Engineer in the Private Sector Award

2016 Winner of the ASCE Orange County Chapter’s Outstanding Civil Engineer in the Private Sector Award

2016 Certificate of Recognition for Dedication to Support the ELTP Program by Los Angeles County MTA/Metro

2016 Winner of the Orange County Engineering Council’s Outstanding Engineering Service Award

2015 Orange County Business Journal’s 2015 Excellence in Entrepreneurship Award Nominee

2014 Orange County Business Journal’s 2014 Excellence in Entrepreneurship Award Nominee

2012 Winner of Cal-EPA/California Air Resources Board’s
Cool California Climate Leader

2011 Award of Excellence in Service by Los Angeles County MTA/Metro
in the County of Los Angeles

2011 Award of Excellence in Service by Los Angeles County MTA/Metro
in the County of Los Angeles

2010 Award of Excellence in Service by Los Angeles County MTA/Metro
in the County of Los Angeles

2009 Winner of the ASCE’s Outstanding Private Sector Civil Engineering Project
in Metropolitan Los Angeles

2009 Winner of the Caltrans’ 2009 Excellence in Transportation Award
in the State of California 

2007 Winner of the ASCE’s Outstanding Public/Private Sector
Civil Engineering Project in Metropolitan Los Angeles

2005 Winner of the APWA’s Best Traffic Congestion Mitigation Project of the Year
in Southern California 

2004 Top Nominee of Transportation Foundation’s Highway Management Program
in the State of California 

2003 Winner of the PTI’s Best Transportation Technology Solutions Award
in the United States 

2002 Winner of the ITS-CA’s Best Return on Investment Project Award 
in the State of California 

2000 Award of Excellence in Service by Los Angeles County MTA/Metro
in the County of Los Angeles

C
el

eb
ra

ti
ng

30
Y

ea
rs

 o
f

P
la

nn
in

g 
&

 E
ng

in
ee

ri
ng

E
xc

el
le

nc
e

Traffic Engineering
Transportation Planning
ITS (Intelligent Transportation Systems)
Civil/Electrical Engineering
Homeland Security
Construction Engineering Management

165



      
City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-9003

Staff Report

Item No: 3-6
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: David Jones, Fire Chief    
Date: May 1, 2023   Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023
Subject: Acceptance of SB 179 - $2 Million Dollar Grant Funding from Senator 

Hurtado’s Office   
Strategic Initiative: 

Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approval and acceptance of SB 179 – $2 Million Dollar Grant Funding to the fiscal year 
2023-2024 budget. 

Subject/Discussion: 
In April 2022, Lemoore Volunteer Fire Department submitted a request for funding for SB 
179 from Senator Hurtado’s office. In September 2022, the department received 
notification of grant award in the amount of $2 million dollars. The funds have been 
received as of March 2023. It is a one-time allocation of $2 million dollars and is required 
to be used for new fire equipment and training. 

Staff has reviewed the needs of the department and are intending to use the funds for 
equipment such as jaws of life, forceable entry training tool, ventilation fans, and new 
vehicles.  

Financial Consideration(s): 
Funds must be used for new fire equipment and training. It is a one-time award and must 
be utilized by June 30, 2024. The funds will be included in the fiscal year 2023-2024 
budget.  

166



 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Pros: 

 Funding for the Lemoore Volunteer Fire Department 
 Replace aging equipment and fleet. 

Cons: 
 None noted. 

 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not Applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve the budget amendment and agreement 
with the City of Lemoore for the $2 Million Dollar Funding for Lemoore Volunteer Fire 
Department. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review:   Date: 

 Resolution:    Assistant City Manager   
 Ordinance:    City Attorney  5/12/2023 
 Map     City Manager  5/11/2023 
 Contract    City Clerk  5/12/2023 
 Other      Finance   
  

167



168



169



170



171



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6700 Fax (559) 924-9003

Staff Report

    Item No: 3-7
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Frank Rivera, Public Works Director   
Date: April 25, 2023   Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023 
Subject: Resolution 2023-14 – Adopting a List of Projects for Fiscal Year 2023-

2024 Funded by SB 1: The Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion: 
Approve Resolution 2023-14, listing all projects proposed to receive funding from the 
Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account (RMRA), created by SB 1.

Subject/Discussion:
On April 28, 2017, the Governor signed Senate Bill 1, the Road Repair and Accountability
Act of 2017. SB 1 increases per gallon fuel excise taxes, diesel fuel sales taxes and 
vehicle registration fees with inflationary adjustments to tax rates in future years for the 
purpose of addressing basic road maintenance, rehabilitation and roadway safety needs.  

Effective November 2017, the State Controller deposited various portions of this new 
funding into the newly created Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account (RMRA).  
A percentage of this new RMRA funding is apportioned by formula to eligible cities and 
counties.

SB 1 emphasizes the importance of accountability and transparency in the delivery of 
California’s transportation programs.  Therefore, in order to be eligible for RMRA funding, 
statute requires cities and counties to provide basic annual RMRA project reporting to the 
California Transportation Commission (CTC). Per the program’s requirements, 
jurisdictions are required to submit to the CTC by July 1, a resolution documenting the 

172



City Council’s approval of a project list with locations, schedule, and estimated useful life 
of the project before they can receive RMRA funds.  
 
City of Lemoore staff utilized the pavement management program to identify the Cities 
roads in greatest need of rehabilitation and compared them to budget restrictions.  The 
following chart is the proposed project for FY 23-24 SB 1 funding.  
 
Project Title Project Description Project Location Estimated 

Useful 
Life 

Anticipated 
Construction 
Dates  

D St 
Reconstruction 

Project Includes:  
Rehab/repair of 
existing bicycles 
lanes, complete demo 
and reconstruction of 
existing pavement, 
striping rehab and 
repair, and 
updating/repairing 
signals and/or 
signage.  

D Street from Lemoore 
Ave to Smith Street.  

15 to 10 
years  

July 2023 to 
October 2024 

 
Financial Consideration(s): 
The City of Lemoore is estimated to receive $668,800 in FY 23-24 for Road Rehabilitation 
Projects.  
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
City Council could choose to modify the proposed project list. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the adoption of Resolution 2023-14, approving the Fiscal Year 2023-
24 SB 1 Project List. 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution: 2023-14   Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 5/12/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 5/12/2023 
 Contract    City Manger 5/11/2023 
 Other     Finance  
 List:  

173



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-14 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
ADOPTING A LIST OF PROJECTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023-24 FUNDED BY  

SB 1: THE ROAD REPAIR AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT OF 2017 
 

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 1 (SB 1), the Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 
(Chapter 5, Statutes of 2017) was passed by the Legislature and Signed into law by the Governor 
in April 2017 in order to address the significant multi-modal transportation funding shortfalls 
statewide; and  

 
WHEREAS, SB 1 includes accountability and transparency provisions that will ensure the 

residents of our City are aware of the projects proposed for funding in our community and which 
projects have been completed each fiscal year; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Lemoore must adopt by resolution a list of projects proposed to 

receive fiscal year funding from the Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account (RMRA), 
created by SB 1, which must include a description and the location of each proposed project, a 
proposed schedule for the project’s completion, and the estimated useful life of the improvement; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Lemoore, will receive an estimated $668,800 in RMRA funding 

in Fiscal Year 2023-2024 from SB 1; and 
 
WHEREAS, this is the seventh year in which the City is receiving SB 1 funding and will 

enable the City of Lemoore to continue essential road maintenance and rehabilitation projects, 
safety improvements, repairing and replacing aging bridges, and increasing access and mobility 
options for the traveling public that would not have otherwise been possible without SB 1; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Lemoore used a Pavement Management System to develop the 

SB 1 project list to ensure revenues are being used on the most high-priority and cost-effective 
projects that also meet the communities priorities for transportation investment; and  

 
WHEREAS, the funding from SB 1 will help the City of Lemoore maintain and 

rehabilitate various streets/roads throughout the City this year and similar projects into the future; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the 2020 California Statewide Local Streets and Roads Needs Assessment 

found that the City streets and roads are in an “At Risk” condition and this revenue will help us 
increase the overall quality of our road system and over the next decade will bring our streets and 
roads into a “Good” condition; and 

174



 
WHEREAS, this revenue will help us increase the overall quality of our road system; and  
  
WHEREAS, the SB 1 project list and overall investment in our local streets and roads 

infrastructure with a focus on basic maintenance and safety, investing in complete streets 
infrastructure, and using cutting-edge technology, materials and practices, will have significant 
positive co-benefits statewide. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, ORDERED AND FOUND by the City 
Council of the City of Lemoore, State of California, as follows: 
 
1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct. 
2. The following previously proposed and adopted projects may also utilize Fiscal Year 
2023-24 Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account revenues in their delivery. With the 
relisting of these projects in the adopted fiscal year resolution, the City of Lemoore is reaffirming 
to the public and the State our intent to fund these projects with Road Maintenance and 
Rehabilitation Account revenues: 
 
Project Title: D Street Reconstruction 
Project Description: Complete Demolition and Reconstruction of D Street including bike 
lanes, striping, and signage. 
Project Location: D Street from Lemoore Avenue to Smith Avenue 
Estimated Project Schedule: Start 07/23- Completion 10/24 being funded with RMRA 
funds 
Estimated Project Useful Life: 15+ years 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lemoore at a regular meeting held 
on the 16th day of May 2023 by the following vote: 
 
 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 ABSTAINING: 

 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
             
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk    Patricia Mathews, Mayor 

175



                                                                           

        
   City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744

Staff Report
    Item No: 3-8

         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Frank Rivera, Public Works Director
Date: May 5, 2023    Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023
Subject: Notice of Completion – Tract No. 921 – Brisbane East – Woodside 06N, LP A 

California Limited Partnership
Strategic Initiative: 

Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion: 
Approve the filing of the Notice of Completion for Tract No. 921, Woodside Homes and 
authorize the City Manager, or designee to execute the Notice of Completion. 

Subject/Discussion: 
Subdivision Tract 921 was approved by City Council in February of 2018. Woodside has 
completed the development for Tract No. 921 and is requesting that a Notice of Completion be 
filed. This subdivision, consists of 64 single family lots and is located North of E. Bush St. on 
Daphne, West of the Lemoore Canal and along the South side of the Union Pacific Railroad.   

Financial Consideration(s): 
There is no financial impact to the City.

Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Not Applicable

Commission/Board Recommendation:
Not Applicable

Staff Recommendation:

176



That City Council approve the filing of the Notice of Completion and authorize the City Manager 
or designee to execute. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:     Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 5/12/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 5/12/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 5/11/2023 
 Other     Finance  
 List: Notice of Completion 
      

 

177



Recording Requested By: 
For the benefit of the  
CITY OF LEMOORE 
 

 

When Recorded Mail to: 
 
City of Lemoore 
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk 
711 W. Cinnamon Drive  
Lemoore, CA  93245 
 

 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT: 
1. The undersigned is OWNER or Agent of the OWNER of the interest or estate stated below in the property hereinafter described. 
2. The FULL NAME of the OWNER is City of Lemoore  

3. The FULL ADDRESS of the OWNER is 711 W. Cinnamon Drive, Lemoore, CA  93245  
4. The NATURE OF THE INTEREST or ESTATE of the undersigned is:    In Fee.  
   
 (if other than fee, Strike "In Fee" and insert, for example, "Purchaser under contract of purchase," or "Lessee.")  
5. The FULL NAMES and FULL ADDRESSES of ALL PERSONS, if any, WHO HOLD SUCH INTEREST or ESTATE with the undersigned as 
JOINT TENANTS IN COMMON are:  

 
Names 

 
 

 
Addresses 

 
 

 

 

6. The full names and full addresses of the predecessors in interest of the undersigned if the property was transferred subsequent to the 
commencement of the work of improvement herein referred to:  

 

 
Names 

  
Addresses 

 
 

7. A work of improvement on the property hereinafter described was COMPLETED May 16, 2023  
8. The work of improvement completed is described as follows: Subdivision Tract 921 – Brisbane East  
 64 single-family lots.   

9. The NAME OF THE ORIGINAL CONTRACTOR, if any, for such work of improvement is: Woodside 06N, LP, A California 
Limited Partnership 

 

         
 

 

10. The street address of said property is: 64 lots located north of E. Bush St. on Daphne, west of the Lemoore 
Canal and along the south side of the Union Pacific Railroad tracks. 

 

11. The property on which said work of improvement was completed is in the  City of Lemoore County of Kings, State of California,   
       and is described as follows:         
 New subdivision of 64 single-family lots with new roads, curbs and gutters.   

  
       

  Date    Nathan Olson, City Manager  
 
Verification for NON-INDIVIDUAL owner:  I, the undersigned, declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that I am the 
City Manager of the aforesaid interest or estate in the property described in the above notice; that I have read the said notice, that I know and 
understand the contents thereof, and that the facts stated therein are true and correct. 

 

       
  Date and Place    Nathan Olson, City Manager  
 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me on    

  
        

 [Notary Public], [Title] 
      Revised 9/22/2003  

 

178



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report

    Item No: 4-1
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: May 2, 2023    Meeting Date:    May 16, 2023
Subject: Resolution 2023-15 – Approving General Plan Amendment No. 2023-01, 

Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01 
and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-02, Approving Zoning Map Amendment 
No. 2023-01

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-15, approving General Plan Amendment No. 2023-01,
Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01 in 
accordance with the findings and conditions in the resolution, and to waive the first 
reading of Ordinance No. 2023-02, approving Zoning Map Amendment No. 2023-01 and 
set the second reading of the Ordinance to June 6, 2023.

Subject/Discussion:
The project site is a 20.5-acre property located on the northeast corner of 19th Avenue 
and Iona Avenue The project requests a Zone Change/General Plan Amendment from 
Mixed Use to Regional Commercial for an approximately 4.13-acre portion of the site and 
approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for the construction and development of a 
gas station/mini-mart. The first phase of the project would include an 8,952-square-foot 
building with fuel canopies for gas and diesel pumps, as well as service for RV disposal. 
Phase two would add a fast-food restaurant with a drive-through lane and an additional 
set of pumps on the western island.

The 4.13-acre parcel for the development of the Maverik fueling station will be acquired 
from Kevin King, the current property owner. The remaining 16.37-acre eastern portion 
of the site will continue to be held by the property owner and is proposed to change from 
Mixed Use to Light Industrial, allowing for the future development of an industrial park 

179



that would accommodate future light industrial uses. The industrial parcel could be divided 
into as many as 23 separate lots with the approval of a commercial parcel map. The 
parcel map is not being proposed at this time. The size of the buildings on the sites are 
also undetermined, but based on size of the site, it can be assumed up to 100,000 square 
feet of building space could be developed. Additional improvements include a retention 
basin on the north end of the property for on-site stormwater collection and retention. 

Zoning/General Plan: 
The site is currently planned and zoned Mixed-Use (MU). The proposal is to change the 
designation and zoning to Regional Commercial (RC). This would be an appropriate 
change for the site, owing to the proximity and ease of access to major arterials 19th 
Avenue and State Route 198. Per the Lemoore Municipal Code, convenience stores and 
restaurants are allowed uses in the RC zone. The fuel pumps and on-site sale of alcohol 
at the convenience store are uses that the Planning Commission can approve through 
the Conditional Use Permit (CUP). City staff supports the general plan amendment and 
change of zone. The MU zone, while well intended when it was added to the Zoning 
Ordinance as a new zone in 2012 has not resulted in any new development. Later this 
year, Staff will be proposing that all other MU zoned sites be rezoned to other zones. 
 
State law requires that the City not amend its General Plan or Zoning in a way that would 
have the effect of reducing the amount of housing that can be constructed. The MU zone 
is assumed in the Housing Element to be able to provide an average of 9 units per acre. 
Changing land use designation and zoning from Mixed Use to Regional Commercial and 
Light Industrial would result in the loss of 173 potential housing units. However, this can 
be offset by the last General Plan Amendment for Lacey Ranch that added 751 housing 
units that were not previously in the General Plan a little less than one year ago. So, there 
would still be a net increase in the number of potential housing units from the changes 
approved in the past year. The tables below show this change, including the breakdown 
of the income type, whether low, moderate, or above moderate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Zone Zone Name 
Vacant 
Acres 

Housing 
Element 
Realistic 
Density 

HE 
Lower 

HE 
Mod 

HE 
Above 
Mod 

Total 
Housing 

 
 
Maverik and King       

MU Mixed Use -19.26 9.00 -86 -87 0 -173 
ML Light Industrial 15.13 0.00 0 0 0 0 

180



RC Regional Commercial 4.13 0.00 0 0 0 0 

 TOTALS 0.00  -86 -87 0 -173 
        
 Lacey Ranch       

 No land use designation -77.64 0.00 0 0 0 0 
RLD Low Density Residential -30.00 4.50 0 -67 -68 -135 
AG Agriculture -40.00 0.10 0 -4 0 -4 
PR Park 9.10 0.00 0 0 0 0 
MU Low Density Residential 126.40 4.50 84 390 73 547 
ML Medium Density Residential 4.88 12.00 29 30 0 59 
RC High Density Residential 7.26 20.00 162 0 0 145 

 TOTALS  0.00   275  349  5  612  
 COMBINED TOTALS   189 262 5 439 
 
 
Access and Right of Way: 
Access to the convenience store site would be through three separate entry points, all 
from Iona Avenue. The westernmost entry drive is intended for cars and light duty vehicles 
with access to the gasoline pump island and convenience store. The two entries to the 
east are intended and designed for larger semi-truck and RV use. There would be no 
direct access onto the site from 19th Avenue. Access to adjacent Light Industrial lots to 
the east would also be from separate entrances farther along Iona Avenue. No direct 
vehicular connection would exist between the industrial parcels and the convenience 
store parcel.  
 
Circulation Element: 
The project is designed to be developed in phases. The expected volume of traffic 
generated by Phase I is expected to be accommodated by existing road design. 
According to the traffic analysis prepared for the project, upon final ‘build-out’ and 
development of the Phase II additional gas pumps, drive-through restaurant, and the 
adjacent Light Industrial parcels, the volumes of traffic will require that a traffic signal be 
installed at the intersection of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue.  
 
The developer will pay development impact fees in anticipation of the time when the City 
decides it is time to install a traffic signal at the intersection. The City will provide for the 
installation of the signal unless the developer chooses to install the signal ahead of the 
City, in which case the City will reimburse the developer for costs that are above the 
developer’s fair share costs. 
 
Parking / On-site Circulation: 
The site is developed in a way that attempts to create separation between the automobile 
fueling islands and the Truck / RV parking, fueling and circulation areas. A total of 50 
parking spaces are proposed for the site, only 35 are required by the Zoning Ordinance. 
Two spaces will be ADA compliant and are located at the front entry of the convenience 
store. Bicycle parking near the convenience store will be required by the Green Building 
Code. 
 
Architectural and Site Design Standards: 

181



The proposed building elevations (attached) meet the Zoning Ordinance’s architectural 
and design standards for commercial buildings. These standards are found in Section 9-
5C-4 and cover building design and placement. 
 
Alcohol Sales Compatibility: 
The applicant’s CUP request includes a request to sell alcohol on-site at the convenience 
store. They will be requesting an ABC Type 21 license that would allow the sale of beer 
and wine for later consumption off the premises. Zoning Ordinance Section 9-4D-2 states 
that establishments selling alcoholic beverages shall not be located within 500 feet of a 
park facility, school facility, or existing religious land uses. None of these uses are within 
500 feet of the site. City staff believes that the on-site sale of alcoholic beverages at the 
convenience store is considered an acceptable use as long as all activities and operations 
are in accordance with Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) conditions and ABC 
requirements for use. Compliance with the requirements of ABC is recommended as a 
condition of the approval of this CUP. Staff has included conditions of approval to improve 
safety and security related to alcohol sales. 
 
Fueling Station Development Standards: 
Section 9-4D-6 contains design standards for fueling stations. The entry drive is to be no 
closer than 150 feet from the nearest street intersection. The site plan meets this 
standard. 
 
Administrative Use Permit: 
An application for Administrative Use Permit (ADU) was also submitted for Staff level 
review of a future drive through alignment and capacity for a proposed coffee shop 
attached to the north side of the convenience store. Section 9-4D-4 contains design 
standards for drive-through lanes. These standards specify certain design minimums, 
vehicle stacking lengths, distance from street intersections, location, and entrance and 
exit design. The proposed drive-through meets all the standards listed in Section 9-4D-4. 
The design of the drive-through meets City standards and will be approved by Staff if the 
GPA, ZMA, and CUP are all approved. 
 
Landscaping: 
After the application was submitted, it was determined that most of the adjacent 19th 
Avenue right of way was relinquished back to the City by Caltrans. Therefore, the Major 
Site Plan Review comments require that the space between the 19th Avenue sidewalk 
and the property line be landscaped as part of the project. The applicant has agreed to 
this requirement.  
 
Future Industrial Park: 
The only approval requested at this time for the future industrial park is for the change of 
zone from the existing Mixed-Use to Light Industrial. A parcel map and site plan review 
will be required in the future before development occurs. However, the CEQA document 
analyzed the future industrial uses and included mitigation measures for potential land 
use conflicts between industrial uses and adjacent residential areas to the east. The 
mitigation measures state that “No materials related to an industrial operation shall be 
stored within the yard setback to a height of more than six feet within 25 feet of property 
lines adjacent to the residential zone district.”  This mitigation measure will be applied to 
any requested approvals for industrial development in the future. 
 
Environmental Assessment: 

182



As Lead Agency under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the City staff 
reviewed the project to determine whether it could have a significant effect on the 
environment because of its development. In accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 
15382, “[s]ignificant effect on the environment” means a substantial, or potentially 
substantial, adverse change in any of the physical conditions within the area affected by 
the project, including land, air, water, minerals, flora, fauna, ambient noise, and objects 
of historic or aesthetic significance. An Initial Study was prepared and found that although 
the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, there will not be 
a significant effect in this case because of revisions in the project in the form of mitigations 
have been made by or agreed to by the project proponent. A Mitigated Negative 
Declaration (MND) for the entire 20.5-acre site and all its stated uses was prepared and 
is attached. The 30-day public review period began on April 7 and ended on May 8.  
 
Financial Consideration(s): 
The intersection of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue will require signalization prior to the full 
buildout of the site. The installation of the 4.13 acre Maverik development will not create 
enough traffic volume to trigger signalization at this point; however, both the developers 
of the Maverik location and the future developers of the Light industrial sites will all be 
required would pay their calculated portion of traffic impact fees until the point that the 
City determines a signal is needed, at which point, the monies paid into the traffic impact 
fee fund will be used to pay for the cost of signalization. 
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
The alternative to approval is to reject the proposal as submitted. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on April 24, 2023, and voted 5-0 to 
recommend approval of the project. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
City staff recommends adoption of Resolution No. 2023-15, approving General Plan 
Amendment No. 2023-01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan 
Review No. 2023-01 in accordance with the findings and conditions in the resolution, and 
waive the first reading of Ordinance No. 2023-02, approving Zoning Map Amendment No. 
2023-01, and set the second reading of the Ordinance to June 6, 2023. 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution: 2023-15   Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance: 2023-02   City Attorney 5/12/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 5/12/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 5/11/2023 
 Other     Finance 

  
  List:  Project Location Map 

Zoning Map Amendment – existing and proposed 
General Plan Amendment – existing and proposed 
Site Plan 
Conceptual Landscape Plan 
Building Elevations 
Major Site Plan Review Comments 
CEQA Mitigated Negative Declaration 

  

183



PROJECT LOCATION MAP
MSPR No. 2023-01

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT
No.2023-01

184



 

 
GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT 

No. 2023-01 
 

Existing: MU 
 
Proposed: RC and ML 

185



 

186



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-15 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 

APPROVING GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT NO. 2023-01, CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT NO. 2023-01, AND MAJOR SITE PLAN REVIEW NO. 2023-01 TO ALLOW A 

FUELING STATION/CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUTURE DRIVE-THROUGH 
RESTAURANT LOCATED ON THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 

19TH AVENUE AND IONA AVENUE IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
 

 
WHEREAS, Maverik (AWA Engineering) has requested to change the General Plan land 

use designation and zoning from Mixed Use (MU) to Regional Commercial (RC) and Light 
Industrial (ML) and to approve a conditional use permit and major site plan for the construction 
of a fueling station/convenience store with RV disposal and drive through restaurant on a site 
located on the northeast corner of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue in the City of Lemoore (APNs 
023-310-012 and 023-310-011); and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed undeveloped site is 20.5 acres in size, and is currently 
designated and zoned Mixed Use (MU); and 
 

WHEREAS, the project proposes a General Plan Amendment and Zoning Map 
Amendment for the proposed site to change the existing land use designation from Mixed-Use 
(MU) to 4.13 acres of Regional Commercial and 16.37 acres of Light Industrial (ML); and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit includes approval to sell beer and wine 

at the convenience store for off-site consumption; and 
 
WHEREAS, as Lead Agency under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), 

the City staff reviewed the project to determine whether it could have a significant effect on the 
environment because of its development. The Initial Study found that although the proposed 
project could have a significant effect on the environment, there will not be a significant effect in 
this case because revisions in the project in the form of mitigations have been made by or agreed 
to by the project proponent. A Mitigated Negative Declaration was prepared and is included as an 
attachment; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Lemoore Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing at its 
April 24, 2023, meeting and recommended approval of the project to the City Council; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Lemoore City Council held a duly noticed public hearing at its May 16, 
2023, meeting. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lemoore 
hereby makes the following findings regarding the proposed General Plan Amendment No. 2023-
01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01, based on the 
information in the staff report, which are hereby incorporated by reference, as well as the evidence 
and comments presented during the Public Hearing: 

187



1. The General Plan Amendment is in the public interest and that the general plan as amended 
will remain internally consistent. 

 

 
2. The proposed uses are consistent with the general plan, any applicable specific plans, and all 

applicable provisions of this title. The proposed uses are either allowed or conditional uses in 
the Regional Commercial (RC) zone. 

 
3. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will not, under the 

circumstances of the particular case (location, size, design, and operating characteristics), be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare of persons residing 
or working in the neighborhood of such use or to the general welfare of the City.  

 
4. The site of the proposed use is physically suitable for the type, density, and intensity of the use 

and related structures being proposed. The site is physically able to support the use. ABC may 
require the applicant to make physical changes to conform to their standards if needed. 

 
5. It will not be contrary to the specific intent clauses, development regulations, or performance 

standards established for the zoning district in which it is located. The proposed use and related 
structures are compatible with other land uses, transportation patterns, and service facilities in 
the vicinity. 

 
6.  The proposed project is consistent with the objectives of the general plan and complies with 

applicable zoning regulations, specific plan provisions, and improvement standards adopted 
by the City. 

 
7. The proposed architecture, site design, and landscape are suitable for the purposes of the 

building and the site and will enhance the character of the neighborhood and community. 
 
8. The architecture, character, and scale of the building and the site are compatible with the 

character of buildings on adjoining and nearby properties. 
 
9. The proposed project will not create conflicts with vehicular, bicycle, or pedestrian 

transportation modes of circulation. 
 
10. 19th Street and Iona Avenue are both designated arterials and are capable of conveying existing 

traffic as well as some of the additional traffic generated by the proposed site uses. At some 
point when Phase II and the Light Industrial areas are built out it will become necessary to 
install a traffic signal at South 19th and Iona Avenues. Existing streets, shared parking, and a 
complete network of City sidewalks are generally effective in accommodating most of the 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic around the site. 

 
11. There are no residential uses, park facilities, school facilities, or existing religious land uses 

within 500 feet of the site that would immediately conflict with the sale of alcohol on the 
premises. The location of the use will not result in any adverse impacts on the listed facilities 
or nearby residential land uses. 

 

188



12. The traffic increases associated with the use will not result in potential hazards to existing 
pedestrian and/or vehicular traffic. The development conforms to all provisions of the Zoning 
Ordinance. 

  
13. An CEQA Initial Study was prepared and found that although the proposed project could have 

a significant effect on the environment, there will not be a significant effect in this case because 
of revisions in the project in the form of mitigations have been made by or agreed to by the 
project proponent. A Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) for the entire 20.5-acre site was 
prepared. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lemoore 

recommends approval to the Lemoore City Council of General Plan Amendment No. 2023-01, 
Zone Change No. 2023-01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 
2023-01, based on the evidence presented, with the Conditional Use Permit subject to the 
following conditions: 

 
1. The site shall be developed consistent with the site plan, conceptual landscape plan, elevation 

exhibits, the City staff comments in Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01, and applicable City 
of Lemoore development standards, and as modified by the following conditions. 

 
2. The project applicant shall dedicate additional right of way or easement along Iona Avenue, in 

accordance with the Major Site Plan Review comments, and shall coordinate with the City 
regarding the location of any utilities or proposed traffic signals. 

 
3. The operation shall be conducted consistent with the Conditional Use Permit. Major deviations 

from the approvals shall first require approval of an amendment to the Conditional Use Permit. 
 
4. Drive-through lanes shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the site plan and 

with Zoning Ordinance Section 9-4D-4. 
 
5. The convenience store shall obtain and maintain a valid license from Alcoholic Beverage 

Control (ABC). A change to a license type that is deemed more intensive than a Type 21 license 
shall require an amendment to the Conditional Use Permit. 

 
6. The establishment shall comply with all federal and state laws regarding the sale of alcohol. 
 
7. Business hours and the sale of alcohol shall comply with State ABC regulations. 
 
8. All uses shall meet the requirements found in Section 9-5B-2 and 9-5B-4 of the City of 

Lemoore Zoning Ordinance related to noise, odor, vibration, lighting, and maintenance. 
 
9. The time limits and potential extensions and expiration of this Conditional Use Permit are 

established per Section 9-2A-9 of the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance. 
 
 
 
 

189



 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Lemoore held 
on the 16th day of May 2023 by the following vote: 
 
 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSTAINING: 

 ABSENT: 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED:     
  
________________________   ________________________ 
Marisa Avalos      Patricia Matthews 
City Clerk      Mayor  
 

190



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
ADOPTING ZONING MAP AMENDMENT NO. 2023-01, CHANGING A PORTION OF 
THE ZONING MAP FROM MIXED-USE (MU) TO REGIONAL COMMERCIAL (RC) 

AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL (ML) LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
19TH AVENUE AND IONA AVENUE IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE. 

 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE HEREBY DOES ORDAIN: 

SECTION 1. FINDINGS. 

(a) Kevin King, owner of the parcel located at the northeast corner of 19th  
Avenue and Iona Avenue (APNs 023-310-012 and 023-310-011), has requested Zoning 
Map Amendment No. 2023-01. 

(b) On April 24, 2023, the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore held a public hearing, 
reviewed the proposal, and recommended approval of the zoning map amendment to the 
City Council. 

(c) This zoning map amendment is consistent with the City of Lemoore General Plan, Lemoore 
Municipal Code, and the Zoning Ordinance and would not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience, and welfare of the City. 

(d) A Mitigated Negative Declaration has been prepared and adopted in accordance with the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

SECTION 2.  

The property located at the northeast corner of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue (APNs 023-310-
012 and 023-310-011) is hereby zoned with the eastern 4.13 acres as Regional Commercial 
(RC) and the remaining 16.37 acres as Light Industrial as depicted in the attached map. 

SECTION 3.  

The official Zoning Map shall be amended to reflect this change. 

 

 

 

 

 

191



 

The foregoing Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Lemoore held on the 16th day of May 2023 and was passed and adopted at a regular meeting 
of the City Council held on the 6th day of June 2023 by the following vote: 

 AYES:  

 NOES:   

 ABSENT:   

 ABSTAIN:  
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
             
Marisa Avalos      Patricia Matthews  
City Clerk      Mayor  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

192



 
 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 
No.2023-01 

 

193



 

Existing: MU 
 
Proposed: RC and ML 

194



Maverikk Area

Remainderr Parcell Area

Roadd Dedicationn Area

195



NO
 P

AR
KI

NG

NO
 P

AR
KI

NG

196



NO
 P

AR
KI

NG

NO
 P

AR
KI

NG

Know what's

R

W
:\
2
2
-
1
9
9
 
M
a
ve
ri
k 
-
 
Le
m
o
o
re
\
d
w
g
s\
2
2
-
1
9
9
 
LS
.d
w
g
, 
3
/
3
1
/
2
0
2
3
 
8
:1
7
:3
1
 
A
M
, 
1
:1

197



Prototype Version: 
Building Square Footage: 
Construction Type/Occupancy Classification: 

MAVERIK C-STORE 60_L_RR_2201

A-3 PERSPECTIVE VIEWS

5,982 SF
V-B / M

198



Prototype Version: 
Building Square Footage: 
Construction Type/Occupancy Classification: 

MAVERIK C-STORE 60_L_RR_2201

A-4 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

5,982 SF
V-B / M

199



Prototype Version: 
Building Square Footage: 
Construction Type/Occupancy Classification: 

MAVERIK C-STORE 60_L_RR_2201

A-5 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

5,982 SF
V-B / M

200



Prototype Version: 
Building Square Footage: 
Construction Type/Occupancy Classification: 

MAVERIK C-STORE 60_L_RR_2201

A-6 CANOPY ELEVATIONS

5,982 SF
V-B / M

201



Prototype Version: 
Building Square Footage: 
Construction Type/Occupancy Classification: 

MAVERIK C-STORE 60_L_RR_2201

A-7 EXTERIOR MATERIALS BOARD

5,982 SF
V-B / M

202



City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 W. Cinnamon Drive -6744 
Community Development Department

Site Plan Review

To: Grayson Smith c/o AWA Engineering
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: April 12, 2023 
Subject: Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01: 

- -

:

-
an : Planning Commission and City Council

Zoning/General Plan:

Environmental Review:

Attached Comments:

203



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 1 of 5 

PLANNING SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS 

The following comments are applicable to your site plan when checked. Comments in italics are specific to 
the project. 

Project Information 

 General Plan Land Use Element land use designation(s): Mixed-Use 

 General Plan Circulation Element adjacent street(s): 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue are Arterial streets 

 Zoning designation: Mixed-Use 

 Proposed land use: Truck stop/convenience store with GPA and rezone to Regional Commercial (RC). Future 
site for rezone to Light Industrial not reviewed at site plan level at this time. 

    Allowed use       Not allowed use    Requires a conditional use permit 

 

Site Plan Comments 

Standards are for the proposed Regional Commercial zone 

Site Area Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Site area per dwelling 
units (minimum)     

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (minimum)  None- 4.2 ac 182,882 sf 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (maximum)  None 4.2 ac 182,882 sf 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot width (minimum)  0’ 473.3’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot width (maximum) 0’ 473.3’  

 

Building Setback, Height, and 
Coverage Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Front Building Setback 
(minimum) 0’ 102.5’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Interior Side Building 
Setback (minimum) 

0’ 200.8’  

204



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 2 of 5 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Street Side Building 
Setback (minimum) 

10’ 71’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Rear Building Setback 
(minimum) 0’ Approx. 

120’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Separation Between 
Buildings (minimum)  10’ 18’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Height (maximum) None 29’ – 0” To peak of entry gable. Avg. 20’ 
for rest of structure. 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(minimum)  .10 .10 18,088 / 182882 = .099 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(maximum) .60 .10 18,088 / 182882 = .099 

 

Architectural and Site Design 
Standards (Chapter 9-5C) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Concepts   Meet Standards from 
Section 9-5C-2 

 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards for 
Residential Projects 

  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards for 
Commercial and 
Industrial Projects 

Meet Standards from Section 
9-5C-4  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards for 
Big Box Stores    

 

Parking and Loading Standards 
(Chapter 9-5E) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Number of off-street 
Parking Spaces  

35 total 
spaces (see 
notes for 
calc) 

50 spaces 

3.5 spaces per 1000sf of 
structure.  

Phase 1 (5982/1000 = 5.9*3.5 = 
21) 

205



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 3 of 5 

Phase 2 (2870/1000 = 2.8*5.0 = 
14) 

Total build out (21+14 =35) 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

 
 

Parking Design 
Standards 

Meet 
requirements 
of 9-5E-5 

 
See additional comments at 
bottom of page for parking 
design additions. 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Loading Design 
Standards  

   

 

  Downtown Standards (Chapter 9-6) 

  Mixed Use Standards (Chapter 9-7) 

  Overlay Zones (Chapter 9-9) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

  
 

 

Entitlements Required 

 Major Site Plan Review is required for this project. 

 Conditional Use Permit is required for this project.   

 Zone Variance is required for this project.   

 Tentative Subdivision Map is required for this project.   

 Tentative Parcel Map is required for this project.   

 Lot Line Adjustment is required for this project. 

 Zone Change is required for this project.   

 General Plan Amendment is required for this project.   

 Other discretionary action required for this project:   

 

CEQA Document Required (This is a preliminary determination that will be finalized when the project 
application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Exempt from CEQA - Ministerial Exemption: Section 21080(b)(1); 15268. 

 Exempt from CEQA - Categorical Exemption Section 15332 (Infill Development Exemption). 

 Exempt from CEQA - Statutory Exemption Section _____________________________________. 

 Negative Declaration or Mitigated Negative Declaration. 

206



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 4 of 5 

 Environmental Impact Report. 

 

Environmental Technical Documents required to back up CEQA document (This is a preliminary 
determination that will be finalized when the project application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Air Impact Analysis. 

 Acoustical Analysis. 

 Biological Report.   

 Cultural Records Search. 

 Traffic Impact Assessment. 

 Vehicle Trip Generation Estimates. 

 Covenant.  

 Other:   

 

General Requirements from Zoning Ordinance that apply to the project when checked. 

 Meet all Noise, Odor, and Vibration Performance Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-2. 

 Make all required Property and Utility Improvements described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-3. 

 Meet all Outdoor Lighting Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-4. 

 Meet all applicable Fence and Wall Standards described in Zoning Ordinance 9-5B-5. 

 Meet all MWELO requirements for landscape and irrigation plans. 

 Street Trees shall be selected from the approved Street Tree list in Table 9-5D-5-A1. 

  Landscape and Irrigation Plans required at Building Permit submittal. Landscape Plans will be checked for 
compliance with MWELO, including but not limited to the following conditions: 

 Plan shall include square footages of landscaped area shown, water use calculations, and the material to be utilized. 
 Water use classifications shall be based on WUCOLS IV. 
 All required landscape areas shall be included in the Plan. 
 Landscaping shall meet all other applicable requirements of Title 9, Article D1 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Other Requirements 

 Additional comments:   

 All Landscape and Irrigation Plans shall be approved, stamped and signed by a California licensed 
Landscape Architect or State of California, qualified contractor. 

 
 Signature of licensed Landscape Architect or a State of California, qualified contractor shall be affixed 

to seal and within the Landscape / Certification Statement boxes located on Planting and Irrigation 
plans.  

 

207



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 5 of 5 

 Irrigation Plans must provide the appropriate system pressure calculations, identification of hydrozones, 
and MAWA calculations. 

 
 Address attached comments from Building Department regarding backflow installation and location per 

City Standards. 
 

  Address attached comments from Building Department regarding relocation of light pole in future drive 
through route. 

 
 Address attached comments from Building Department regarding trash dumpster area design 

recommendations. 
 

 All plant material selections and final Landscape and Irrigation plans to be approved when submitted 
for building permit.  

 
 The area sloping down from 19th Avenue to the west boundary of the proposed site is land, previously 

claimed by Cal-Trans, that has been ceded back to the City and is subject to inclusion in any Landscape 
and Irrigation plans for the site. Please revise Landscape and Irrigation plans to reflect and incorporate 
modified City owned R.O.W. (See notes on attached Landscape plan markup for clarification) 

 
Suggested Recommendations for plant substitutions: 
 

 Replace Ceanothus cuneatus with acceptable alternate for commercial application. (maintain 5’ minimum height) 
 Replace Baccharis x ‘Centennial’ with acceptable alternate for commercial application. 
 Replace Russelia equisetiformis with acceptable alternate for commercial application. 
 Replace Rosa x ‘Noare’ with acceptable alternate for commercial application. (Carefree bush form is more 

hardy). 
 Replace Xylosma congestum with acceptable alternate groundcover from existing plan selections. 

 
 
 

Steve Brandt     April 12, 2023 
                            
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Steve Brandt, AICP, City Planner              
Printed name 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

208



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

10
" C

UR
B 

AR
O

UN
D 

EN
TI

RE
 IN

SI
DE

 O
F 

PE
RI

M
ET

ER
 O

F 
BL

O
CK

 W
AL

L.
 T

O
O

 M
AN

Y 
DO

O
RS

, T
HR

EE
 D

O
O

RS
 T

O
TA

L.
. N

O
 

BO
LL

AR
DS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D.

EN
TE

R 
O

NL
Y 

SI
GN

EX
IT

 O
NL

Y 
SI

GN
. B

O
TH

 S
ID

ES

W
HA

TS
 G

O
IN

G 
O

N 
IN

 T
HI

S 
AR

EA
? 

IS
 T

HI
S 

AR
EA

 T
W

O
 W

AY
 T

RA
FF

FI
C?

LI
GH

T 
IN

 T
HE

  W
AY

 O
F 

FU
TU

RE
 D

RI
VE

 
TH

RU

NO
 P

AR
KI

NG
 S

IG
NS

 
AL

O
NG

 E
NT

IR
E 

PR
O

JE
CT

 F
RO

NT
AG

E

NO
 P

AR
KI

NG
 S

IG
NS

 

209



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's

R

W:\22-199 Maverik - Lemoore\dwgs\22-199 LS.dwg, 3/31/2023 8:17:31 AM, 1:1

DO
M

ES
TI

C 
AN

D 
LA

ND
SC

AP
IN

G 
W

AT
ER

 
SU

PP
LI

ES
 R

EQ
UI

RE
 M

ET
ER

S 
AN

D 
BA

CK
FL

O
W

 D
EV

IC
ES

 P
ER

 LE
M

O
O

RE
 

ST
AN

DA
RD

S.

210



211



12'-8 1/4"

BO
LL

AR
DS

 N
O

T 
RE

Q
UI

RE
D.

 IN
CL

UD
E 

10
" 

W
ID

E 
X 

10
' H

IG
H 

CU
RB

 P
ER

 M
-7

PL
AC

E 
PO

ST
 O

N 
BO

TH
 E

ND
S 

SO
 T

HA
TS

 
TH

EY
 A

RE
 F

LU
SH

 W
IT

H 
EN

D 
O

F 
BL

O
CK

 
W

AL
L.

 

RA
DI

US
 O

UT
SI

DE
 E

ND
S 

O
F 

CU
RB

S.

212



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01  
 DESCRIPTION:   New Construction 5,950 sq. ft. Convenience Store, 

Fuel Station / RV Waste Disposal, Alcohol Sales and 
Drive Through Services (LLA, CUP, AUP, ZMA, GPA)  

 LOCATION:   4.130-acres: NEC Iona and 19th Avenues (Vacant Lot) 
 APN(S):   023-310-001 
 APPLICANT: TKC Projects, LLC 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Kevin King 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 1 of 3 

ENGINEERING – Multi-Family/Commercial/Industrial (2nd Submittal) 
Recommended action: 

 Acceptable as submitted. See applicable comments below for permit application. 

 Revise per comments below. Resubmittal not required. See applicable comments below for permit application. 

 Resubmit with additional information. See comments below. 

 Redesign required. See comments below. 
===================================================================================== 

The following items are required to be shown on the Site Plan or provided with the Site Plan: 

 Show entire property boundary with dimensions.  

 Show all adjacent streets including existing and proposed improvements, such as curb, gutter, drive approaches, 
sidewalk, transit/bus stops, etc.:  Show sidewalk: 5 ft. wide, with 5 ft. wide parkway on  Iona Ave.;  Show 
locations of all drive approaches per City Standards;  __________________________  

 Show existing on-site structures and improvements on the site, such as buildings, wells, septic tanks, fences, 
driveways, etc., and note if they are to remain, removed, relocated or demolished.   

 Show existing structures and improvements adjacent to the site.   

 Show all proposed on-site improvements including buildings with entry and loading access location, parking lot 
layout, landscape areas, pedestrian access/pathways, trash/refuse enclosure, mailbox/postal unit, etc. per City 
Standards and Building Code requirements. Include vehicle/truck path of travel for drive thru aisles, loading areas 
and trash/refuse enclosure. ____________________________________________________________________ 

 Show location and proposed size of all City water and sanitary sewer services to serve the project per City 
Standards. City mains to be used for this project are located here: Water: ___” in ______________________; 
Sewer: _____” in ____________________. 

 Show proposed on-site fire hydrants per Fire Department requirements.   

 Show temporary fire and emergency access.   Provide all-weather fire and emergency access road. 

 Show proposed disposal of storm runoff:  On-site basin required per City Standards,  Surface drain to street, 
 Connect to City storm drain system: ___________________________________________________________. 

 Caltrans comments required prior to approval of project. 

 Written comments required from ditch company.   

 Additional comments:  

1. As discussed, construct 5’ sidewalk adjacent to the curb from the curb return at the NEC of Iona/19th 
intersection to the first drive approach; the remainder will be as shown.    

 

The following are required with permit application: 

 Submit on-site grading and improvement plans and off-site improvement plans detailing all proposed work. On-site 
and off-site improvement plans to be prepared and signed by registered civil engineer. Project architect may 
prepare and sign on-site improvement plans. 

 City encroachment permit required which shall include an approved traffic control plan. 

 Caltrans encroachment permit required. (May be required if entering State RW) 

213



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01  
 DESCRIPTION:   New Construction 5,950 sq. ft. Convenience Store, 

Fuel Station / RV Waste Disposal, Alcohol Sales and 
Drive Through Services (LLA, CUP, AUP, ZMA, GPA)  

 LOCATION:   4.130-acres: NEC Iona and 19th Avenues (Vacant Lot) 
 APN(S):   023-310-001 
 APPLICANT: TKC Projects, LLC 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Kevin King 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 2 of 3 

 Caltrans comments required prior to approval of project. 

 Written comments required from ditch company.   

 All public streets within project limits and across project frontage shall be improved to their full width, 
subject to available right-of-way, in accordance with City policies, standards and specifications. (Existing 
pavement along Iona Ave will need to be improved to handle proposed truck loads (T.I.=11.0 or other T.I.  
level approved by the City Engineer) 

 Dedicate 17 ft. additional right-of-way along Iona Avenue to provide 42’ min from CL. Right-of-way 
dedication required by grant deed. A title report is required for verification of ownership. 

 Install street striping as required by the City Engineer. 

 Install sidewalk:  5 ft. wide, with 5 ft. wide min. parkway on Iona Ave. Install 5 ft. wide adjacent to curb from 
the curb return at Iona/19th to first drive approach. 

 Show locations of all drive approaches and construct to City Standards. Use City Std. C-8A. 

 Install streetlights along Iona Avenue to City Standards ST-10B and ST-11. 

 Install fire hydrants along Iona Avenue per City Standard. Use City Std. W-6.  

 Cluster mailbox supports required (1 for 2 residential units) or use postal unit.  
 Landscape and irrigation improvement plans to be submitted for the entire project.  Landscape plans will need to 

comply with the City of Lemoore’s street tree ordinance and the State MWELO requirements.   

 Potable water and fire protection master plan for the entire development shall be submitted for approval prior 
to approval of any phase of the development.  The water system will need to be extended to the boundaries of 
the development where future connection and extension is anticipated.  The water system will need to be 
sized to serve any future developments that are anticipated to connect to the system. 

 Sanitary Sewer master plan for the entire development shall be submitted for approval prior to approval of 
any phase of the development.  The sewer system will need to be extended to the boundaries of the 
development where future connection and extension is anticipated.  The sewer system will need to be sized to 
serve any future developments that are anticipated to connect to the system.  

 Show location and proposed size of all City water and sanitary sewer services to serve the project per City 
Standards. City mains to be used for this project are located here: Water: 12” in Iona Ave.; Sewer: 8” in 19th St. 

 Grading and drainage plan required.  If the project is phased, then a master plan is required for the entire 
project area that shall include pipe network sizing and grades and street grades. 

 Prepared by a registered civil engineer or project architect.   
 All elevations shall be based on the City’s benchmark network.   

Storm run-off from the project shall be handled as follows: 
  Iona Ave. storm runoff shall be directed to the City’s existing storm drainage system; (Existing catch 

basin on Iona Ave.) 
  All On-Site storm runoff shall be directed to a permanent on-site basin per City Standards 

 Directed to a temporary on-site basin which is required until a connection with adequate capacity is 
available to the City’s storm drainage system.  On-site basin shall be constructed in accordance with City 
Standards. 

 Protect Oak trees during construction. 

214



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01  
 DESCRIPTION:   New Construction 5,950 sq. ft. Convenience Store, 

Fuel Station / RV Waste Disposal, Alcohol Sales and 
Drive Through Services (LLA, CUP, AUP, ZMA, GPA)  

 LOCATION:   4.130-acres: NEC Iona and 19th Avenues (Vacant Lot) 
 APN(S):   023-310-001 
 APPLICANT: TKC Projects, LLC 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Kevin King 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 3 of 3 

 Show adjacent property grade elevations on improvement plans. A retaining wall will be required for grade 
differences greater than 0.5 feet at the property line. 

 Relocate existing utility poles and/or facilities. Along Iona Ave to facilitate street improvements 

 Underground all existing overhead utilities within the project limits. Existing overhead electrical lines 
over 50kV shall be exempt from undergrounding. 

 Provide R-value tests; minimum of 1 on Iona and 1 on-site. 

 Traffic indexes per City standards: On-site refuse truck travel=5.5; Iona Ave.=11.0 

 Subject to existing reimbursement agreement to reimburse prior developer. 

 Construct City Std. Refuse Enclosure – M-6 or M-7 (M-7 with grease interceptor if kitchen facility or 
restaurant is included.) 

 Abandon existing wells per Code; a building permit is required. (If applicable) 

 Remove existing irrigation lines and dispose off-site. (If applicable.) 

 Remove existing leach fields and septic tanks. (If applicable.) 

 Fugitive dust will be controlled in accordance with the applicable rules of San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution 
Control District’s Regulation VIII. Copies of any required permits will be provided to the City of Lemoore. 

 The project it may be subject to the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District’s Rule 9510 Indirect 
Source Review per the rule’s applicability criteria. A copy of the approved AIA application will be provided 
to the City of Lemoore. 

 If the project meets the one acre of disturbance criteria of the State’s Storm Water Program, then coverage 
under General Permit Order 2009-0009-DWQ is required and a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) is needed.  A copy of the approved permit will be provided to the City of Lemoore. 

 
Additional comments:    A Lot Line Adjustment (LLA) or Parcel Map (PM) is required to create the property line 

shown on the site plan and must be processed prior to issuance of a building permit.; Construct all street frontage 
improvements (curb, gutter, sidewalk, drive approaches, accessible ramps, and pavement) as well as any extensions 
of City mains (sewer, water or storm drain) and services (sewer laterals, water services) to City Standards.; 
Existing pavement on Iona Ave will need to be improved to handle proposed truck traffic use T.I.=11.0 or other 
T.I. approved by the City Engineer). 

 

 
                   4-14-23    
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Jeff Cowart, PE   City Engineer        
Printed name
 

215



Community Development Department
Lemoore, California 

March 31, 2023
Project Name: Maverik - Lemoore California 
Project Address: NE corner of 19th Ave. and Iona Ave. 

This letter is submitted in response to Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01 for the Maverik in 
Lemoore California, given March 14, 2023. The comments have been individually addressed as follows:

City Planner Comments 

Comment: Site Plan requires changes that are described in the Department comments, mark-ups, and/or 
checklists. The Site Plan does not need to be reviewed again by City staff. Make described changes and 
resubmit for: Planning Commission review of Site Plan, General Plan Amendment, Zone Change, AUP, 
and CUP.
Response: See Site Plan and Landscape Plan for changes made according to the Department comments, 
mark-ups, and checklists.

Comment: Entitlements Required: 
Major Site Plan Review 
Conditional Use Permit 
Lot Line Adjustment 
Zone Change,
General Plan Amendment
Administrative Use Permit  

Response: All the above applications have been submitted except for the Lot Line Adjustment. The Lot 
Line Adjustment application will be submitted immediately after Right of Way dedication is approved. 

Comment: CEQA document required (This is a preliminary determination that will be finalized when the 
project application is fully submitted and deemed complete.): 

Negative Declaration or Mitigated Negative Declaration. 
Response: Mitigated Negative Declaration is being done by Quad Knopf and is being coordinated 
through the City of Lemoore. 

City Engineer Review
JSC
4/14/23

216



Comment: Environmental Technical Documents required to back up CEQA document (This is a 
preliminary determination that will be finalized when the project application is fully submitted and 
deemed complete.): 

Air impact analysis, 
Biological report, 
Cultural records search, 
Traffic impact assessment. 

Response: Environmental Technical Documents are being prepared by Quad Knopf. 

Comment: General requirements from zoning ordinance that apply to the project: 
Meet all noise, odor, and vibration performance standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 
9-5B-2. 
Make all required property and utility improvements described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-
3. 
Meet all outdoor lighting standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-4.
Meet all applicable fence and wall standards described in Zoning Ordinance 9-5B-5.
Meet all MWELO requirements for landscape and irrigation plans.
Street trees shall be selected from the approved Street Tree list in Table 9-5D-5-A1.
Landscape and irrigation plans required at building permit submittal. Landscape plans will be 
checked for compliance with MWELO, including but not limited to the following conditions:

o Plan shall include square footages of landscaped area shown, water use calculations, 
and the material to be utilized.

o Water use classifications shall be based on WUCOLS IV.
o All required landscape areas shall be included in the Plan. 
o Landscaping shall meet all other applicable requirements of Title 9, Article D1 of the 

Zoning Ordinance.
Response: Noted, the submitted site plan conforms to the zoning ordinances above. 

Comment: A 15-foot landscape buffer is required along arterial and collector streets in addition to 
minimum building setback. This would apply to the West and South sides of the site adjacent to 19th

Avenue and Iona Avenue. These 2 standards are not cumulative and may overlap. The proposed 
landscaped area is less than 15 feet in some areas and much more than 15 feet in others. City staff can 
accept the proposed layout, as it more than meets a proposed average of 15 feet.
Response: Noted.

Comment: 9-5C-4-A1. If a separation is provided between the public street and building (e.g., for parking 
or a drive aisle), the area shall include significant pedestrian features to create a strong connection 
between the public sidewalk and primary building entry, such as:

A. Landscaped plaza;
B. Bicycle parking area;
C. Landscaped promenade;
D. Continuous trellis feature;
E. Other amenities.

To meet this requirement, provide enhanced landscaping and/or special paving in the red circled areas 
on the attached landscape plan. 
Response: The landscape plan now shows areas of enhanced landscaping in the areas noted above. 

217



Comment: Replace one parking space with 1 tree planter in the center of Southernmost set of parking 
spaces along Iona Avenue. Replace one parking space with 1 tree planter in the center of the 
Northernmost set of parking spaces. Landscape the tree planter with one tree and ground cover.  
Response: The Site Plan now shows the landscape islands referenced above. Refer to the Landscape 
Plan for tree and ground cover details. 

Comment: Adjacent to side or rear property lines: Parking areas for nonresidential uses shall provide a 
perimeter landscape strip at least eight feet (8’) wide (inside dimension) where the parking area adjoins 
a side or rear property line. Widen planter along Eastern edge of site to full 8’. 9-5D1-2. 
Response: The perimeter landscape strip on the East side of the property has been widened to 8.0’, see 
Site Plan and Landscape Plan. 

Comment: Trees in buffer areas shall be provided at the rate of one for each twenty-five (25) linear feet 
of landscaped area. In lieu of trees along the east property line where large trucks will be driving, the 
developer may provide 5 gal. plant material that will create a ‘hedge’. Plant material should be a species 
that will eventually grow to around 5’ in height. 9-5D1-2.
Response: The Landscape Plan now calls out a hedge along the eastern border of the site. 

Comment: SW corner marked #9 on the Landscape Plan shall be planted in accordance with code 
regulations. Suggested planting of three large shade trees from the City Planting List. Ground cover can 
be bark mulch, gravel mulch, ground cover plants or small shrubs.  
Response: Three large shade trees from the City Planting List along with ground cover has been added 
to the landscaping in the southwest corner of the site. 

Comment: We illustrated the above comments on the landscape plan but would like you to make the 
changes on the site plan and landscape plan so we can show them at the Planning Commission meeting. 
Please resubmit by March 31 at the very latest.  
Response: The aforementioned comments will be shown on the Landscape Plan and Site Plan.

City Engineer Comments 

Comment: Show all adjacent streets including existing and proposed improvements, such as curb, gutter, 
drive approaches, sidewalk, transit/bus stops etc.: 
Show sidewalk: 5 ft. wide, with 5 ft. wide parkway on Iona Ave.  
Response: Site Plan shows proposed sidewalk and parkway along Iona Ave. as well as existing 
improvements along 19th Ave and Iona Ave.

Comment: Submit on-site grading and improvement plans and off-site improvement plans detailing all 
proposed work. On-site and off-site improvement plans to be prepared and signed by registered Civil 
Engineer. Project architect may prepare and sign on-site improvement plans.  
Response: On-site grading and improvement plans as well as offsite improvement plans will be prepared 
and signed by Civil Engineer for civil permits.

Comment: City encroachment permit required which shall include an approved traffic control plan.
Response: Lemoore City encroachment permit with an approved traffic control plan will be obtained 
prior to any work in Lemoore City Right-of-way. 

Response: Site Plan shows proposed sidewalk and parkway along Iona Ave. as well as existing 
improvements along 199thh Ave and Iona Ave.

Response: On-site grading and improvement plans as well as offsite improvement plans will be prepared
and signed by Civil Engineer for civil permits.

Response: Lemoore City encroachment permit with an approved traffic control plan will be obtained 
prior to any work in Lemoore City Right-of-way. 

218



Comment: Caltrans encroachment permit required. (May be required if entering State RW)
Response: Per Caltrans Right-of-Way map, no encroachment permit is required for the proposed 
improvements.

Comment: All public streets within project limits and across project frontage shall be improved to their 
full width, subject to available right-of-way, in accordance with City policies, standards and 
specifications. (Existing pavement along Iona Ave will need to be improved to handle proposed truck 
loads (T.I.=11.0 or other T.I. level approved by the City Engineer)
Response: Iona Ave. will be improved along the Maverik project frontage per Lemoore City 
requirements. Iona Ave. asphalt paving will be designed with T.I. = 11.0.

Comment: Dedicate 17 ft. additional right-of-way along Iona Avenue to provide 42’ min from CL. Right-
of-way dedication required by grant deed. A title report is required for verification of ownership.
Response: A Right-of-Way dedication by Irrevocable Grant Deed is being prepared by the surveyor and 
is anticipated to be submitted to the City of Lemoore next week. 

Comment: Install street striping as required by the City Engineer.
Response: Per coordination with the Lemoore City Engineer, Iona will be striped per CA MUTCD 
standards for two (2) – 12’ lanes and one (1) – 6’ bike lane. 

Comment: Install sidewalk:  5 ft. wide, with 5 ft. wide min. parkway on Iona Ave.
Response: A 5’ wide sidewalk and a 5’ wide parkway are now shown along Iona Ave. See the Site Plan 
for location and dimensions. 

Comment: Show locations of all drive approaches and construct to City Standards. Use City Std. C-8A.  
Response: Per coordination with the City, drive approaches are now shown per detail C-8A with a 
detached sidewalk. A small portion of the sidewalk to the west of the driveway that is closest to the 
intersection of Iona Ave. and 19th Ave. will be attached to the curb in order to avoid a utility conflict. 

Comment: Install streetlights along Iona Avenue to City Standards ST-10B and ST-11.
Response: A new streetlight is now shown on the Site Plan approximately 260’ from the existing 
streetlight located at the Northeast corner of Iona Ave. and 19th Ave. Refer to the Site Plan for Lemoore 
City detail references (keynote 50). 

Comment: Install fire hydrants along Iona Avenue per City Standard. Use City Std. W-6.
Response: Fire Hydrants are now shown along Iona Ave. on the Site Plan, keynote 51 references 
Lemoore City Standard W-6.

Comment: Landscape and irrigation improvement plans to be submitted for the entire project.  
Landscape plans will need to comply with the City of Lemoore’s street tree ordinance and the State 
MWELO requirements.
Response: A landscape and irrigation plan shall be provided with civil plan submittal. The landscape plan 
shall comply with the City’s street tree ordinance and the MWELO requirements.

Response:p Per Caltrans Right-of-Way map, no encroachment permit is required for the proposedg y p p q p p
improvements.

Response: Iona Ave. will be improved along the Maverik project frontage per Lemoore City 
requirements. Iona Ave. asphalt paving will be designed with T.I. = 11.0..

Response: A Right-of-Way dedication by Irrevocable Grant Deed is being prepared by the surveyor and 
is anticipated to be submitted to the City of Lemoore next week. 

Response: Per coordination with the Lemoore City Engineer, Iona will be striped per CA MUTCD 
standards for two (2) – 12’ lanes and one (1) – 6’ bike lane. This is the ultimate layout. City will work with

Maverik to determine interim striping.

Response: A 5’ wide sidewalk and a 5’ wide parkway are now shown along Iona Ave. See the Site Plan 
for location and dimensions. Install 5' sidewalk adjacent to curb from NEC

Iona/19th to first drive approach.

Response: Per coordination with the City, drive approaches are now shown per detail C-8A with a
detached sidewalk. A small portion of the sidewalk to the west of the driveway that is closest to the
intersection of Iona Ave. and 199thh Ave. will be attached to the curb in order to avoid a utility conflict. 

Response: A new streetlight is now shown on the Site Plan approximately 260’ from the existing 
streetlight located at the Northeast corner of Iona Ave. and 199thh Ave. Refer to the Site Plan for Lemoore 
City detail references (keynote 50). 

Response: Fire Hydrants are now shown along Iona Ave. on the Site Plan, keynote 51 references
Lemoore City Standard W-6.

Response: A landscape and irrigation plan shall be provided with civil plan submittal. The landscape plan 
shall comply with the City’s street tree ordinance and the MWELO requirements.

219



Comment: Show location and proposed size of all City water and sanitary sewer services to serve the 
project per City Standards. City mains to be used for this project are located here: Water: 12” in Iona 
Ave.; Sewer: 8” in 19th St.
Response: A full set of civil drawings will be submitted for approval for onsite and offsite permits. 
Drawings will show connections to Lemoore City utilities referenced above. Coordination is ongoing with 
the city to determine the invert elevation of the 8” sewer lateral located near the intersection of Iona 
and 19th Ave.

Comment: Grading and drainage plan required.  If the project is phased, then a master plan is required 
for the entire project area that shall include pipe network sizing and grades and street grades.

Prepared by a registered civil engineer or project architect.
All elevations shall be based on the City’s benchmark network.  
Storm run-off from the project shall be handled as follows:
Iona Ave. storm runoff shall be directed to the City’s existing storm drainage system; (Existing 
catch 
basin on Iona Ave.)
All On-Site storm runoff shall be directed to a permanent on-site basin per City Standards

Response: A Grading and Drainage Plan prepared by a licensed Engineer will be submitted with onsite 
civil drawings. Onsite stormwater will be fully retained partially onsite and partially on the neighboring 
parcel. An easement will accompany the offsite retention basin allowing Maverik to store and convey 
stormwater. A conversion will be provided on the civil plans that bases the surveyed elevations on the 
City’s benchmark network. A discrepancy in the City’s benchmark list has been brought to the City’s 
attention. 

Comment: Show adjacent property grade elevations on improvement plans. A retaining wall will be 
required for grade differences greater than 0.5 feet at the property line.
Response: Existing grade elevations will be shown on Improvement Plans. A retaining wall is not 
anticipated. A grading plan will portray how onsite grading ties into the adjacent properties. 

Comment: Relocate existing utility poles and/or facilities. Along Iona Ave to facilitate street 
improvements
Response: All existing utility poles, facilities, signage, etc. will be replaced or relocated and depicted on 
civil plans. 

Comment: Provide R-value tests; minimum of 1 on Iona and 2 on-site.
Response: R-value test location and results have been sent to Lemoore City for to determine if more 
testing is required. 

Comment: Traffic indexes per City standards: On-site refuse truck travel=5.5; Iona Ave.=11.0
Response: Onsite pavement design for Heavy Duty uses T.I. = 9, Standard Duty uses T.I. = 5.5.

Response: A full set of civil drawings will be submitted for approval for onsite and offsite permits. 
Drawings will show connections to Lemoore City utilities referenced above. Coordination is ongoing with 
the city to determine the invert elevation of the 8” sewer lateral located near the intersection of Iona 
and 199thh Ave.

Response: A Grading and Drainage Plan prepared by a licensed Engineer will be submitted with onsite
civil drawings. Onsite stormwater will be fully retained partially onsite and partially on the neighboring 
parcel. An easement will accompany the offsite retention basin allowing Maverik to store and convey 
stormwater. A conversion will be provided on the civil plans that bases the surveyed elevations on the 
City’s benchmark network. A discrepancy in the City’s benchmark list has been brought to the City’s
attention. 

Response: Existing grade elevations will be shown on Improvement Plans. A retaining wall is not
anticipated. A grading plan will portray how onsite grading ties into the adjacent properties. 

Response: All existing utility poles, facilities, signage, etc. will be replaced or relocated and depicted on 
civil plans. 

Response: R-value test location and results have been sent to Lemoore City for to determine if more
testing is required. 

Response: Onsite pavement design for Heavy Duty uses T.I. = 9, Standard Duty uses T.I. = 5.5.

220



Comment: Construct City Std. Refuse Enclosure – M-6 or M-7 (M-7 with grease interceptor if kitchen 
facility or restaurant is included.)
Response: Per coordination with Lemoore City, the standard Maverik dumpster enclosure will be 
constructed with the Maverik. A sewer line for the QSR will be stubbed at the time the Maverik is 
constructed to a future dumpster enclosure (per detail M-7).  The Maverik convenience store does not 
cook with grease nor store any grease onsite. Therefore, a grease line to the dumpster enclosure is not 
necessary until the QSR is constructed. 

Comment: Abandon existing wells per Code; a building permit is required. (If applicable)
Response: No known wells within project limits. 

Comment: Remove existing irrigation lines and dispose of off-site. (If applicable.)
Response: No known Irrigation lines within project limits. 

Comment: Remove existing leach fields and septic tanks. (If applicable.)
Response: No known leach fields or septic tanks within project limits.

Comment: Fugitive dust will be controlled in accordance with the applicable rules of San Joaquin Valley 
Air Pollution Control District’s Regulation VIII. Copies of any required permits will be provided to the City 
of Lemoore.
Response: A copy of the fugitive dust control permit along with any others required by San Joaquin 
Valley Air Pollution Control District will be provided to Lemoore City prior to permit issuance.

Comment: The project it may be subject to the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District’s Rule 
9510 Indirect Source Review per the rule’s applicability criteria. A copy of the approved AIA application 
will be provided to the City of Lemoore.
Response: A copy of the approved AIA application will be provided to the City of Lemoore prior to 
permit issuance.

Comment: If the project meets the one acre of disturbance criteria of the State’s Storm Water Program, 
then coverage under General Permit Order 2009-0009-DWQ is required and a Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) is needed.  A copy of the approved permit will be provided to the City of 
Lemoore.
Response: A SWPPP will be prepared with the project and a copy of approved permit will be provided to 
Lemoore City prior to permit issuance. 

Comment: A Lot Line Adjustment (LLA) or Parcel Map (PM) is required to create the property line 
shown on the site plan and must be processed prior to issuance of a building permit.; Construct all street 
frontage improvements (curb, gutter, sidewalk, drive approaches, accessible ramps, and pavement) as 
well as any extensions of City mains (sewer, water or storm drain) and services (sewer laterals, water 
services) to City Standards.; Existing pavement on Iona Ave will need to be improved to handle proposed 
truck traffic use T.I.=11.0 or other T.I. approved by the City Engineer).
Response: A Lot Line Adjustment application will be submitted immediately after Right of Way 
dedication along Iona Ave. is approved. The ROW dedication is anticipated to be submitted early next 
week. Street improvements will be constructed along the Maverik frontage for the full width of Iona. 
Pavement design will utilize T.I. = 11. Sewer, Water and Storm Drain will be extended to the eastern 
edge of the Maverik property line. 

Response:p Per coordination with Lemoore City, the standard Maverik dumpster enclosure will be y p
constructed with the Maverik. A sewer line for the QSR will be stubbed at the time the Maverik is
constructed to a future dumpster enclosure (per detail M-7).  The Maverik convenience store does not 
cook with grease nor store any grease onsite. Therefore, a grease line to the dumpster enclosure is not
necessary until the QSR is constructed. 

Response: No known wells within project limits. 

Response: No known Irrigation lines within project limits. 

Response: No known leach fields or septic tanks within project limits.

Response: A copy of the fugitive dust control permit along with any others required by San Joaquin 
Valley Air Pollution Control District will be provided to Lemoore City prior to permit issuance.

Response: A copy of the approved AIA application will be provided to the City of Lemoore prior to 
permit issuance.

Response: A SWPPP will be prepared with the project and a copy of approved permit will be provided to 
Lemoore City prior to permit issuance. 

Response: A Lot Line Adjustment application will be submitted immediately after Right of Way 
dedication along Iona Ave. is approved. The ROW dedication is anticipated to be submitted early next 
week. Street improvements will be constructed along the Maverik frontage for the full width of Iona. 
Pavement design will utilize T.I. = 11. Sewer, Water and Storm Drain will be extended to the eastern 
edge of the Maverik property line. 

221



Fire Department Comments 

Comment: There are 2 fire hydrants required for this project. One hydrant shall be installed every 300ft. 
(see marked plans for fire hydrant locations).
Response: Two Fire Hydrants are now shown along Iona Ave. refer to the Site Plan and keynote 51 that 
references Lemoore City Standard W-6.

Comment: An access road is required and shall be a minimum of 20 feet wide. The road shall be an all-
weather driving surface accessible prior to and during construction.
Response: A 20’ minimum all weather driving surface access road will be provided. 

California Department of Transportation Comments

Comment: According to the Kings County Association of Governments’ (KCAG) Regional Active 
Transportation Plan, Iona Avenue and 19th Avenue are proposed to as future bikeways (Page 128, Figure 
6.5.1) which will allow the project to be connected to the residential communities north of the project 
site.  These provide opportunities for the project proponents to implement multimodal strategies, such as 
active transportation facilities as well as transit-oriented development to help reduce project related 
trips.  It is recommended that the project proponents coordinate multimodal facilities with the City to 
connect to the future city-wide network.
Response: Iona Ave. roadway improvements along the Maverik frontage now show a 6’ bike lane that 
will connect to the future Lemoore City-wide network. Additionally, a bike rack will be constructed 
onsite to promote multi-modal strategies and reduce project-related automobile trips. 

Comment: Caltrans recommends the City consider creating a VMT Mitigation Impact Fee to help reduce 
potential impacts on the State Highway System.
Response: AWA will Coordinate with the City on any impact fees.

Comment: Alternative transportation policies should be applied to the development.  An assessment of 
multimodal facilities should be conducted to develop an integrated multimodal transportation system to 
serve and help alleviate traffic congestion resulting from the project and related development in the area 
of the City.  The assessment should include the following:

a. Pedestrian walkways should not only be limited to the project’s internal connectivity but be 
connected to existing walkways and transit facilities outside the project area.

b. The project should consider coordinating connections to local and regional bicycle pathways to 
encourage the use of bicycles for commuter and recreational purposes.

c. If transit is not available within 1/4-mile of the project area, transit should be extended to 
provide services to high activity centers of the project.

Response: 
 a. On-site pedestrian walkways are connected to offsite sidewalk. 
 b. Bike Lane striping is now shown on the Site Plan.
 c. Maverik will coordinate with Lemoore City on transit availability and access. 

Response: Iona Ave. roadway improvements along the Maverik frontage now show a 6’ bike lane that 
will connect to the future Lemoore City-wide network. Additionally, a bike rack will be constructed 
onsite to promote multi-modal strategies and reduce project-related automobile trips. 

Response: AWA will Coordinate with the City on any impact fees.

Response: 
 a. On-site pedestrian walkways are connected to offsite sidewalk. 
 b. Bike Lane striping is now shown on the Site Plan.
 c. Maverik will coordinate with Lemoore City on transit availability and access. 

222



Comment: As part of the statewide effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, Caltrans recommends the 
project proponents consider the installation of public Level 2 Electric Vehicle (EV) and DC Fast charging 
EV charging stations.
Response: AWA will coordinate with the City on any EV requirements, and conform to California Green 
Code requirements. 

Santa Rosa Rancheria Tachi-Yokut Tribe Comments

Comment: SLF search and to have the results sent to us
Response: A letter to California Native American Heritage Commission has been sent by Quad Knopf. 
The letter asked California Native American Heritage Commission to search their Sacred Land file and 
send results to Quad Knopf. At the time of this letter, no response from the Tribe has been received.

Comment: Archaeological record search and to the have results sent to us
Response: This has been done as part of the CEQA process with no discoveries for this site. Quad Knopf 
will send results when the CEQA document is circulated publicly. 

Comment: A tribal monitor on site for all ground disturbance related to the project to be retained for a 
Cultural Presentation for all construction staff
Response: Coordination with the tribe is ongoing to provide a tribal monitor. 

Comment: A Burial Treatment Plan to be put in place
Response: Ongoing coordination with the tribe is underway. A burial treatment plan will be put in place 
prior to any grading taking place. 

Comment: A Curation Agreement to be put in place
Response: A curation agreement will be in place prior to any grading. 

Comment: archaeological survey be completed and to have the results sent to us.
Response: Per coordination with Quad Knopf, an archeological survey has been added to the CEQA 
scope of work and will be performed before the CEQA document is ready to be released publicly. 

Site Plan Comments (C1.0-C1.2)

Comment: A LLA is required to create the proposed property line shown; process LLA as part of this 
development
Response: The Lot Line Adjustment application will be submitted immediately after Right of Way 
dedication is approved. ROW documents are anticipated to be submitted early next week.

Comment: Provide reciprocal storm drain easement if Maverik will be using this basin also (Proposed 
retention basin in remainder parcel). 
Response: An easement will accompany the offsite retention basin allowing Maverik to store and 
convey stormwater.

Response: AWA will coordinate with the City on any EV requirements, and conform to California Green 
Code requirements. 

223



Comment: On-site retention of storm water required per City standards
Response: The project retention basins will be constructed per City standards.

Comment: Construct trash enclosure per City Standard M-6 or M-7 (M-7 with grease interceptor if 
kitchen facilities are included in project)
Response: Per coordination with Lemoore City, the standard Maverik dumpster enclosure will be 
constructed with the Maverik. A sewer line for the QSR will be stubbed at the time the Maverik is 
constructed to a future dumpster enclosure (per detail M-7).  The Maverik convenience store does not 
cook with grease nor store any grease onsite. Therefore, a grease line to the dumpster enclosure is not 
necessary until the QSR is constructed.

Comment: Connect Water to 12”W line on Iona Ave.
Response: A full set of Civil drawings will be submitted for approval for onsite and offsite permits. 
Drawings will show connections to Lemoore City utilities referenced above.

Comment: Connect to 8”SS on 19th Ave.
Response: The onsite sewer system will connect to the 8” sewer lateral in 19th Ave. Coordination with 
the City is ongoing to determine the invert elevation of our connection point. 

Comment: Provide 5’ sidewalk with 5’ parkway pattern.
Response: A 5’ wide sidewalk and a 5’ wide parkway are now shown along Iona Ave. See the Site Plan 
for location and dimensions. 

Comment: Complete all frontage improvements per City Stds (curb, gutter, sidewalk, pavement). 
Response: Frontage improvements are shown on the Site Plan with detail references to the City 
standards for curb, gutter, and sidewalk. Pavement will be designed with a T.I. of 11.

Comment: Maintain street runoff in City SD system; not on-site basin
Response: Street runoff will be captured by the existing drop inlet on Iona Ave close to the intersection 
of 19th Ave. No offsite stormwater will be stored in the on-site basin.

Comment: Install streetlights along Iona Ave per City Stds ST-10B & ST-11 at 260’-300’ spacing
Response: A streetlight is now shown on the Site Plan approximately 260’ from the existing streetlight at 
the Northeast corner of Iona Ave. and 19th Ave. Refer to Site Plan for Lemoore City detail reference 
(keynote 50).

Comment: Install fire hydrants along Iona Ave frontage ROW per City Std W-6
Response: Fire Hydrants are now shown along Iona Ave. on the Site Plan. Keynote 51 references 
Lemoore City Standard W-6.

Comment: 42’ roadway dedication required
Response: A Right-of-Way dedication by Irrevocable Grant Deed is being prepared by the surveyor and 
is anticipated to be submitted to the City of Lemoore next week. 

Comment: Pavement on Iona Ave will need to be improved.
Response: Iona Ave. will be improved along project frontage per Lemoore City requirements. Iona Ave. 
asphalt paving will be designed with a T.I. = 11.0.

224



Comment: Correct scale at top of sheet
Response: Corrected.

Comment: Modify all three drive approaches per City Std no. C-8A.
Response: Per coordination with Lemoore City, drive approaches are now shown per detail C-8A with a 
detached sidewalk.

Landscape Plan Comments (L1.1)

Comment: Replace one parking space with 1 tree planter in the center of Southernmost set of parking 
spaces along Iona Avenue.
Response: One parking stall was eliminated and 1 tree planter added with understory shrubs.

Comment: Replace one parking space with 1 tree planter in the center of the Northernmost set of 
parking spaces.
Response: One parking stall was eliminated and 1 tree planter added with understory shrubs.

Comment: Enhance landscape planting and/or provide special paving in red circled areas (planters on S 
end of building and ends of South Planter.  
Response: Enhanced landscape plantings were added where indicated on city redline plan. Enhanced 
landscape plantings consist of a tree with thick understory shrubbery.

Comment: Add trees to South West corner or property.
Response: Three shade trees were added at the southwest corner of the site. Shade trees were selected 
from the City’s street tree list.

Comment: Add trees to North East Property line.
Response: Five trees were added at the northeast property line in the buffer at a spacing of 25’. The 
remainder of the buffer shall consist of a shrub hedge that will get a minimum of 5’ high at maturity.

Comment: 8’ minimum spacing between curb and fence on East side of property. 
Response: Shrub planter was widened to 8’ between the curb and property line on the east side in the 
buffer.

Comment: Hedge is okay instead of trees on East property line.
Response: A hedge was added where indicated on plan in the buffer. Plant material shall grow to a 
minimum height of 5’ at maturity and be 5 gallon in size at planting.

225



M
av

er
ikk

 A
re

a

R
em

ai
nd

err
 P

ar
ce

ll A
re

a

R
oa

dd 
D

ed
ic

at
io

nn 
A

re
a

C
ity

 E
ng

in
ee

r R
ev

ie
w

Se
e 

w
rit

te
n 

co
m

m
en

ts
 a

ls
o

JS
C

4/
14

/2
3

Lo
t L

in
e 

Ad
ju

st
m

en
t o

r P
ar

ce
l

M
ap

 re
qu

ire
d 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 th

is 
PL

226



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

22

C
ity

 E
ng

in
ee

r R
ev

ie
w

Se
e 

w
rit

te
n 

co
m

m
en

ts
 a

ls
o

JS
C

4/
14

/2
3

227



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's

R

W:\22-199 Maverik - Lemoore\dwgs\22-199 LS.dwg, 3/31/2023 8:17:31 AM, 1:1

228



INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION

MMAVERIK GAS STATION AND
INDUSTRIALL PARKK PROJECT

Prepared for:

229



  

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND INTENT TO ADOPT A MITIGATED NEGATIVE 
DECLARATION 

Project Name 

Project Location 

Project Description 

230



  

 231



  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project  April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

232



  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project  April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page ii 

 

 

 
 

 

List of Figures 

 
 
 
 
 

List of Tables 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

List of Appendices 

233



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 1 

MMITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

Project Name 

Project Location 

Project Description 

234



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 2 

EEntitlements 

Mailing Address and Phone Number of Contact Person 

 

Findings 

Mitigation Measures Included in the Project to Avoid Potentially Significant 
Effects 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

235



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3 

236



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 4 

k.

237



  MMitigated Neggative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 5 

238



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 6 

239



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 7 

240



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 8 

241



  MMitigated Negative Declaratioon  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 9 

242



  IIntroduction  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 1-1 

SSECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION  

1.1 - Overview 

1.2 - CEQA Requirements 

1.3 - Impact Terminology 

243



  IIntroduction  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 1-2 

11.4 - Document Organization and Contents 

1.5 - Incorporated by Reference 

244



  PProject Description  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 2-1 

SSECTION 2 - PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

2.1 - Project Location 

2.2 - Surrounding Land Uses 

2.3 - Project Environment 

2.4 - Proposed Project 

245



  PProject Description  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 2-2 

246



 PProjectt Description 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 2-3

247



 PProjectt Description 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 2-4

248



 PProjectt Description 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 2-5

249



 PProjectt Description 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 2-6

250



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-1 

SSECTION 3 - EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

3.1 - Environmental Checklist and Discussion 

251



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-2 

252



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-3 

3.2 - Environmental Factors Potentially Affected: 

3.3 - Determination 

253



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-4 

 Nathan Olson                     April 7, 2023 

  
 

254



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-5 

33.4 - Evaluation of Environmental Impacts 

255



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-6 

256



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-7 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

3.4.1 - AESTHETICS 

257



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-8 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

258



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-9 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

CONSTRUCTION 

OPERATION 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

259



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-10 

DDiscussion  

3.4.2 - AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY RESOURCES 

260



  EEvaluation oof Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-11 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

261



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-12 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

262



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-13 

DDiscussion 

3.4.3 - AIR QUALITY 

263



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-14 

264



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-15 

265



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-16 

o

o

266



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-17 

o

o

267



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impactts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-18 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

268



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-19 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

269



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-20 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

270



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-21 

3.4.4 - BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 

 

Discussion 

271



  EEvaluationn of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-22 

GGeneral Site Conditions 

272



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-23 

Impact Analysis 

273



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-24 

SSpecial-Status Species 

SPECIAL-STATUS PLANT SPECIES 

SENSITIVE WILDLIFE SPECIES 

274



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-25 

275



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-26 

CONCLUSION 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

276



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-27 

277



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-28 

k.

278



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impaacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-29 

279



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-30 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

280



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-31 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

281



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-32 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

282



  EEvaluatiion of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-33 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

283



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-34 

3.4.5 - CULTURAL RESOURCES 

Discussion 

284



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-35 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

285



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-36 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

286



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-37 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

287



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-38 

DDiscussion 

3.4.6 - ENERGY 

288



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-39 

289



  EEvaluation of Environmental Immpacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-40 

290



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-41 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

291



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-42 

3.4.7 - GEOLOGY AND SOILS 

292



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-43 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

293



  EEvaluaation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-44 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

294



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-45 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

295



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-46 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

296



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-47 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

297



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-48 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

298



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-49 

3.4.8 - GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 

Discussion 

299



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-50 

300



  EEvaluation of Environmental  IImpacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-51 

MITIGATION MEASURES

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

301



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-52 

MITIGATION MEASURES

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

302



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-53 

3.4.9 - HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS 
MATERIALS 

303



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-54 

DDiscussion 

Construction 

304



  EEvalluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-55 

OOperation 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  

305



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-56 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

306



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-57 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

307



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-58 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

308



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-59 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

309



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-60 

3.4.10 - HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY 

310



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-61 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

311



  EEvaluation of Environmentaal Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-62 

312



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-63 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

313



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-64 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

314



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-65 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

315



  EEvvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-66 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

316



 EEvaluationn off Environmentall Impacts 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 3-67

317



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-68 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

3.4.11 - LAND USE AND PLANNING 

318



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-69 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

319



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-70 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

3.4.12 - MINERAL RESOURCES 

320



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-71 

MITIGATION MEASURES 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  

321



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-72 

DDiscussion 

3.4.13 - NOISE 

322



  EEvaluation of Environmenntal Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-73 

323



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-74 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE 

324



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-75 

325



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-76 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  

326



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-77 

MITIGATION MEASURES 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  

327



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-78 

3.4.14 - POPULATION AND HOUSING 

Discussion  

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

328



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-79 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

329



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-80 

3.4.15 - PUBLIC SERVICES 

DDiscussion 

330



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-81 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

331



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-82 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

332



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-83 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

333



  EEvaluation of Environmmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-84 

3.4.16 - RECREATION 

Discussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

334



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-85 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

335



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-86 

DDiscussion 

Transit 

3.4.17 - TRANSPORTATION AND TRAFFIC 

336



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-87 

BBike 

Roadways 

337



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-88 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

338



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-89 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

339



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-90 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

340



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-91 

3.4.18 - TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES 

Discussion 

341



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-92 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

342



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-93 

3.4.19 - UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS    

Discussion: 

343



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-94 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

344



  EEvaluation of Enviroonmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-95 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

345



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-96 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

346



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-97 

3.4.20 - WILDFIRE 

Discussion: 

347



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-98 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

348



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-99 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

349



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-100 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

350



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-101 

DDiscussion: 

3.4.21 - MANDATORY FINDINGS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE 

351



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-102 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

352



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-103 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

353



  RReferences  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 4-1 

SSECTION 4 - REFERENCES 

354



  RReferences  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 4-2 

355



  RReferences  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 4-3 

356



  LList of Preparers  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 5-1 

SSECTION 5 - LIST OF PREPARERS 

5.1 - Lead Agency 

5.2 - Technical Assistance 

 

357



  MMitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 6-2 

SSECTION 6 - MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM 

 

358



  

 

APPENDIX A 

AIR QUALITY IMPACT ANALYSIS  

359



  

 

APPENDIX B 

CULTURAL RESOURCE RECORDS SEARCH 

 

360



  

 

APPENDIX C 

PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT 

361



  

 

APPENDIX D 

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 

 

362



363



364



365



      
City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report
                 

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Marisa Avalos, City Clerk
Date: May 8, 2023 Meeting Date: May 16, 2023 
Subject: Activity Update
Strategic 
Initiative:

Safe & Vibrant Community
Fiscally Sound Government  
Community & Neighborhood       

L   Livability

Growing & Dynamic Economy
Operational Excellence
Not Applicable 

Reports

Warrant Register – FY 22/23 May 5, 2023

366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



378



379



380



381



382



383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397



398



399


